
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 15 July 2014 at 11.00 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Ms. J. Bailey (Tel. 0116 305 6225) 

Email: jenny.bailey@leics.gov.uk 

 
 

Membership 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 
 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC 

Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC 
Mr. P. C. Osborne CC 

Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
 

Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
Mrs. P. Posnett CC 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mr. E. F. White CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leics.gov.uk/webcast 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 17 June 2014  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 16) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Report of the Scrutiny Review Panel on the 
Referral Pathway for Older People with Anxiety 
or Depression.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 17 - 42) 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

5.  
  

Mainstream Home to School Transport Policy.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport, Director 
of Children and 
Family Services 
and County 
Solicitor 
 

(Pages 43 - 116) 

6.  
  

Better Care Together - Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland Five Year Health 
and Social Care Strategic Plan 2014 - 2019.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 117 - 
136) 

7.  
  

Development of a Section 75 Pooled Budget 
Agreement with NHS East Leicestershire and 
Rutland and NHS West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups for the Better Care 
Fund.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 137 - 
140) 

8.  
  

Developing Extra Care Housing in 
Leicestershire.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Adults and 
Communities 
 

(Pages 141 - 
150) 

9.  
  

Broadband - Superfast Extension Programme.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 151 - 
160) 
 

10.  
  

Provision and Refocusing of Grants to 
Community Groups - Shire Participatory 
Community Grants Scheme.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 161 - 
180) 

11.  
  

The Carbon Reduction Strategy for 
Leicestershire 2014 - 2020 and Implementation 
Plan 2014 - 2017.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 181 - 
226) 

12.  
  

Property Energy Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 227 - 
280) 

13.  
  

Coalville, Cropston Drive and Abbotts Oak 
Drive Proposed Walking and Cycling 
Improvement Scheme.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 281 - 
318) 

14.  
  

Zouch Bridge Replacement - Compulsory 
Purchase Order for Land Required for 
Replacement Bridge.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 319 - 
322) 

15.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

16.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

17.  
  

Exclusion of the press and public.  
 

 
 

 

 The public are likely to be excluded during the following item of 
business in accordance with Section 100(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972:- 
 

 

18.  
  

King Edward VII Sports and Leisure Centre, 
Melton Mowbray.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 323 - 
328) 

 (Exempt under paragraphs 3, 5 and 10 of Schedule 12A) 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 17 June 
2014.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC 
Mr. P. C. Osborne CC 
 

Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
Mrs. P. Posnett CC 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mr. E. F. White CC 
 

 
Apologies 
 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
 
In attendance 
 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC, Mr. S. L. Bray CC, Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC, Mr. S. J. Galton CC, 
Mr. G. A. Hart CC, Mr. Max Hunt CC, Mr. P. G. Lewis CC, Mrs. R. Page CC and 
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC 
 

150. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 May 2014 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

151. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

152. Declarations of Interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC declared personal interests on item no. 11 on the agenda (East 
Midlands Airport Sustainable Development Plan - Consultation) and item no. 18 on the 
agenda (Revision of Developer Contribution Agreement, Birstall). 
 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC also declared a personal interest which might lead to bias on item 
no. 12 on the agenda (Pre – Application Consultation on Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project – East Midlands Gateway Strategic Railfreight Interchange - North 
West Leicestershire) and undertook to leave the meeting whilst that item was considered 
(minute 161 below refers). 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 15



 
 

 

 

153. Communities Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning proposals to consult 
on the Council’s draft Communities Strategy and cease the County Council’s support for 
Community Forums. A copy of the report, marked ‘4’ is filed with these minutes.   
 
Mrs Posnett CC said that the draft strategy identified a new way of working for 
Leicestershire County Council, voluntary organisations and residents. As part of the 
consultation, officers would be meeting stakeholder groups to discuss the strategy, 
including an event with Parish Councils on the 7 July.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That a consultation exercise on the draft Communities Strategy be undertaken as set 

out in paragraph 35 of the report; 
 

b) That County Council support for Community Forums in their current form cease with 
immediate effect, and that local residents and in particular the Chairmen of the 
Community Forums, past and present, be thanked for their time and commitment in 
supporting the Forums over the last six years; 

 
c) That it be noted that the consultation exercise will include consideration of the most 

effective ways for the Council to engage with communities in the future; 
 

d) That it be noted that a further report on the outcome of the consultation will be 
considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 14 October 2014. 
 

(KEY DECISION) 
 

REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The consultation exercise will help the Council to develop the final Strategy and refine the 
outline delivery plan. In light of the reduced funding available to the County Council, 
continued support to the Community Forums in their current form is not considered to be 
the best use of available resources.  
 

154. 'In the Right Place' - Draft Strategy for the Provision of School and Other Learning Places 
in Leicestershire 2014/18.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning proposals to consult on a draft County Council strategy for the provision of 
school and other educational places in Leicestershire for 2014/18. A copy of the report, 
marked ‘5’ is filed with these minutes. 
  
The Director advised the Cabinet that the County Council had a statutory duty to ensure 
that sufficient school places were available within its area for every child of school age.  
 
In his absence, it was reported that the Lead Member for Children and Family Services, 
Mr Ould, supported the recommendations set out in the report. 
 
 
 
 

6



 
 

 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the work undertaken to date to develop the draft Strategy be noted; 

 
b) That the eight key priorities for the development of school and other educational 

places in Leicestershire, as set out in paragraph 22 of the report, be supported; 
 

c) That approval be given to the commencement of consultation on the draft Strategy, 
with a wide group of stakeholders, with effect from the beginning of September 2014. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
Developing a strategy for the provision of school and other educational places is in 
keeping with the statutory duty placed on the Local Authority, and will help make clear to 
schools, academies and other education providers what the County Council’s priorities 
for 2014/18 will be, and its expected capital investment to achieve these. 

 
Undertaking consultation on the draft Strategy is in keeping with the Council’s corporate 
standards to ensure that all stakeholders are made aware of the Local Authority’s 
priorities and given the opportunity to make comment upon these at an early stage. 
 

155. Proposals to Develop a new Primary School for the Braunstone Catchment Area.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update on the demand for primary school places in the Braunstone 
catchment area and proposals to consult on a new academy or free school. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘6’ is filed with these minutes. Comments received from Mrs J. Fox CC, 
the local member for Braunstone Town, were noted and a copy is also filed with these 
minutes.   
  
The Director advised the Cabinet that a recent pupil forecast had identified a significant 
increase in school spaces being required in the Braunstone catchment. This would result 
in the schools maximum pupil capacity being exceeded.  
 
In his absence, it was reported that the Lead Member for Children and Family Services, 
Mr Ould, supported the recommendations and had regularly briefed the Cabinet 
regarding demographics for required pupil places in the County and that this was the first 
concrete proposal to deal with overcrowding in a catchment area.  
  
Mr Blunt reported that the uncertainty concerning the former site of Holmfield Primary 
School had caused concern amongst local residents and welcomed the proposals to 
consult on the development of a new school. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the current position regarding the increased demand for primary school 
places in the Braunstone catchment area be noted; 

 
b) That the preferred option to develop the school on the site of the former Holmfield 

Primary School be noted;  
 

7



 
 

 

 

c) That the commencement of consultation on a proposal to establish a new 210 
place primary school in readiness for September 2016 admissions as set out in 
paragraph 30 of the report be approved; 

 
d) That it be noted that a further report will be submitted to the Cabinet in the autumn 

regarding the outcome of the consultation exercise. 
 

(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR THE DECISION: 
 
The Education Act 1996 places a statutory duty on the Local Authority (LA) to ensure a 
sufficient supply of school places.  More recently the Education Act 2011 re-enforced the 
role of the LA as champion for parents, families and vulnerable pupils, requiring it to 
promote educational excellence by ensuring a good supply of high quality school places 
and coordinating fair admissions.  
 
Analysis of pupil forecasts for the Braunstone catchment area indicates a significant 
increase in demand for school places, which is beginning to exceed the available 
capacity of the three local primary schools. 
 
Undertaking consultation on the proposals to establish a new primary school is in keeping 
with the Council’s corporate standards and the requirements of the Education Act 2011 
(Section 37 and Schedule 11) which defines the process to be followed.  
 
OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED: 
 
a) Extending a school/s in the Braunstone Catchment area to  
           provide an additional  210 places; 
 
b) Extending a school/s in the surrounding areas, for example in Enderby; 
 

156. Leicestershire County Council Planning Obligations Policy Consultation Draft.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning progress on the 
review of the revised County Council planning guidance policy for developer contributions 
and proposals to commence a consultation exercise on the draft policy document.  A 
copy of the report, marked ‘7’ is filed with these minutes.  
  
Mr Blunt welcomed the consultation which would allow people and organisations who 
were likely to be affected by future developments to have their say. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the draft Leicestershire Planning Obligations Policy document attached as an 
Appendix to the report be approved for consultation, subject to the Chief Executive 
being authorised to amend the draft prior to the consultation as he considers 
necessary arising from further comments which have since been received from the 
Children and Young People's Service and any comments of the Cabinet;  
 

b) That it be noted that the consultation will take place between June and August 
2014 and that a further report will be submitted to the Cabinet on 12 September 
2014.    

8



 
 

 

 

 
(KEY DECISION) 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 

 
It is essential that the impacts of new developments are mitigated through the provision 
of appropriate and necessary infrastructure, services and community facilities and they 
are secured from appropriate developer contributions.  

 
The County Council adopted its current developer contributions policy ‘The Statement of 
Requirements for Developer Contributions in Leicestershire’ (SRDCL) in December 2006 
(with an interim review undertaken in December 2007).   The current policy requires an 
update and refresh in light of the changes to the planning system, experience in 
operating the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) legal compliance tests and other 
changes. 
 

157. Legal Action Relating to Development at New Lubbesthorpe.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the County Solicitor which advised that the 
application by the Police and Crime Commissioner by way of Judicial Review to quash 
planning permission granted by Blaby District Council in respect of development at New 
Lubbesthorpe had been dismissed by the High Court. A copy of the report, marked ‘8’ is 
filed with these minutes.  
 
An extract from the minutes of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and 
Crime Panel meeting on 9 June were circulated separately and a copy is also filed with 
these minutes.   
  
The County Solicitor advised the Cabinet that expenditure which the County Council had 
incurred as legal costs had now been recovered. It was confirmed that the Police and 
Crime Commissioner would not be appealing the judgment.   
  
Mr Orson expressed his disappointment in the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
decision to seek a Judicial Review which had cost Leicestershire Police force a 
considerable amount of money. He also raised concern as to the damage the Police and 
Crime Commissioner’s actions had had on partnership working and had discussed with 
the Commissioner the desire to improve relations between the police and local 
authorities. 
 
With the agreement of the Chairman, Mr White spoke as Leader of Blaby District Council. 
He thanked the County Council and the Police and Crime Panel for the support provided 
to Blaby District Council during this matter and encouraged the Commissioner to 
acknowledge and learn from the findings of the Panel.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the comments of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime 
Panel be noted; 

 
b) That the report be noted.  

 
 
 

9



 
 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION: 
 

The Legal action by way of Judicial Review was previously reported to the Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel on 9 June 2014 and the comments of 
that Panel were reported to the Cabinet in order to update it on the latest position.  
 

158. 2013/14 Provisional Revenue and Capital Outturn.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the 
provisional revenue and capital outturn for 2013/14 and the proposal for repayment of 
debt, additional commitments and carry forwards.  A copy of the report, marked ‘9’ is filed 
with these minutes.  
  
Mr Rhodes welcomed the fact that the underspend had allowed the County Council to 
repay existing debt and allocate resources to unforeseen projects which had required 
investment.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the 2013/14 provisional revenue and capital outturn be noted; 
 

b) That the repayment of debt set out in Appendix A to the report and the carry 
forward requests from departments, as detailed in Appendix B, be approved; 

 
c) That the prudential indicators for 2013/14 as shown in Appendix G to the report be 

noted. 
 

(KEY DECISION) 
 

REASON FOR DECISION: 
 

The repayment of debt will achieve ongoing revenue savings. By setting aside funding, 
additional commitments can be met and carry forwards achieved in later years.  
 

159. Leicester Cathedral - Reinterment Of King Richard III.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning approval for the 
County Council to underwrite in part the early stages of the internal reordering of 
Leicester Cathedral in preparation for the reinterment of Richard III in spring 2015. A 
copy of the report, marked ‘10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the support offered by the County Council which would allow 
the Cathedral to begin the reordering of works prior to its fundraising campaign, meaning 
the planned reinterment date of spring 2015 could remain on schedule. He added that it 
was important to recognise that the Diocese and the Cathedral serve the County as well 
as the City. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the County Council provides funding of £250,000 to assist with the 
underwriting of costs to be incurred by Leicester Cathedral in commissioning the 
first stages of the internal reordering of the Cathedral in preparation for the 
reinterment of King Richard III; 

10



 
 

 

 

  
b) That it be noted that the Leicester City Mayor has indicated that the City Council 

will be making a similar contribution to the underwriting and that the Cathedral’s 
major fund-raising in regard to the reordering of the Cathedral will be launched 
later in June 2014. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 

 
Leicester Cathedral has already raised a significant sum to assist with the underwriting 
but that sum is not sufficient to allow for the early commissioning of contracts for the 
reordering and therefore the City and County Councils have been asked if they could 
assist in the underwriting. 
 

160. East Midlands Airport Sustainable Development Plan - Consultation.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning the consultation by 
East Midlands Airport on its Sustainable Development Plan.  A copy of the report, marked 
‘11’ is filed with these minutes. Comments from Mr Max Hunt CC were circulated 
separately and a copy is also filed with these minutes.   
  
Mr Blunt explained that whilst the development would almost certainly provide economic 
benefits to the County, the impact the expansion would have on the environment was still 
a concern and thus was addressed within the County Council’s observations submitted to 
East Midlands Airport 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments set out in paragraphs 33 to 37 in Part B of the report and Appendix C 
to the report be approved and forwarded to East Midlands Airport as the County Council’s 
observations on its Sustainable Development Plan.  
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To ensure that the County Council makes an appropriate input to the East Midlands 
Airport’s Sustainable Development Plan so that issues of importance for the County 
Council are clearly expressed and influence the shape and content of the final 
Sustainable Development Plan. 
 

161. Pre-Application Consultation on Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project - East 
Midlands Gateway Strategic Railfreight Interchange.  
 
(Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC, having declared a personal interest which may lead to bias in the 
matter, left the meeting whilst this item was considered.)  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive concerning the pre application 
consultation on the East Midlands Gateway Strategic Interchange.  A copy of the report, 
marked ‘12’ is filed with these minutes. An extract from the minutes of the Development 
Control and Regulatory Board meeting on 12 June were circulated separately and a copy 
is also filed with these minutes.   
  
Mr Blunt welcomed the report and encouraged the County Council to maintain a dialogue 
with the developer in order for the interchange to turn out as it should. He added that the 

11



 
 

 

 

project would have a significant economic impact for the District, County, Region and 
Country alongside complex transport implications. 
 
It was noted that the developers had so far shown an excellent approach to engaging 
with the public and it was hoped this would continue, especially when considering the 
landscape and visual impact concerns of local residents. 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That a response to the section 42 consultation be made which  
 

b) acknowledges the economic benefits of the development for Leicestershire and 
the region beyond but also that the outstanding issues to be resolved and 
identified in paragraphs 105 to 138 of the report be brought to the attention of the 
Developer; 

 
c) That officers of the County Council continue working closely with the Developer’s 

consultants to resolve the outstanding matters before submission of the 
application; 

 
d) That delegated authority be given –  

 
(i) to the County Solicitor to agree a Local Impact Report to be prepared 

jointly with North West Leicestershire District Council, 
 
(ii) to individual Chief Officers in respect of their service areas to agree and 

sign Statements of Common Ground with the Developer, and 
 

(iii) to individual Chief Officers in respect of their service areas to make written 
representations, respond to questions by the Examining Authority (PINs), 
and make written comment on other interested parties’ submissions to the 
Examination. 

 
e) That, although not directly related to the functions of the County Council, the 

Authority would wish to be assured that the applicant has considered fully the 
implications of the proposal for other agencies’ requirements such as the Police, 
Fire and Rescue, and Health, and for local communities. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To comply with Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2000 and to ensure 
that appropriate consideration is given to issues such as highways, rights of way, 
landscape, ecology, the historic environment, and economic benefits. It is essential to 
meet the timetable for the examination and determination by the Secretary of State which 
will require the prompt submission of representations and comments. 
 
(Mr J. B. Rhodes CC then returned to the meeting). 
 

162. LTP3: Hinckley Area Project, Zone 1 - Proposed Transport Improvements.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning 
the implementation of the LTP3 Hinckley Area Project, Zone 1 transport improvements 
and the forthcoming consultation on Zone 2 and 3.  A copy of the report, marked ‘13’ is 

12



 
 

 

 

filed with these minutes. An extract from the minutes of the Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 5 June were circulated separately and a 
copy is also filed with these minutes.   
  
With the agreement of the Chairman, Mr. D. C. Bill CC and Mr S. L. Bray CC, local 
members for the Hinckley and Burbage Castle Divisions respectively, addressed the 
Cabinet. Mr Bill welcomed the report and thanked officers for the sensitive approach 
taken and the positive engagement between residents, members and the authority. He 
recommended the project be used as an example case study for any future transport 
consultations.    
  
Mr Bray also welcomed the report and thanked officers for developing a focused and 
detailed plan. Whilst he was supportive of the plan, he did have some remaining 
concerns with regards to the traffic calming measures on Brandon and Northfield Road 
which he would raise with the Director for discussion as part of the projects 
implementation.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee be noted; 

 
b) That the Hinckley Area Project Zone 1 transport improvements, as set out in Part B 

of the report, be approved for implementation. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
Analysis of the County Council’s third Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 (LTP3) evidence 
base identified the LTP3 Hinckley Area as a key area of focus for investment, where the 
Council needs to stimulate economic growth, minimise congestion levels and reduce 
carbon emissions. 
 
The evidence base, which was taken from various sources including the Census, the 
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council (H&BBC)  Core Strategy and the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Economic Assessment, indicates that the Hinckley priority area: 
 
a) needs to develop further economically and attract even more inward investment; 
 
b) would benefit from wider travel choice (the H&BBC Core Strategy (2009) states that 

real travel choice in the area by public transport, cycling and walking is limited); 
 

c) experiences transport problems, as a result of congestion on the local road network 
and incidents on the A5; 

 
d) will be accommodating future growth e.g through Sustainable Urban Extensions at 

Barwell and Earl Shilton and significant employment   development at MIRA). 
 
In response, Zone 1 will be the first phase of a four-year programme to improve the 
transport network in Hinckley. 
 

13



 
 

 

 

The transport improvements will also provide the physical infrastructure that will 
complement the County Council’s second Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF2) bid, 
which was submitted to the Department for Transport (DfT) at the end of March 2014. 
 

163. Transfer of Children's 0-5 Public Health Commissioning to Leicestershire County Council.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Public Health and Director of 
Children and Family Services concerning the transfer of children’s 0-5 year’s public 
health services from NHS England Area Team to Leicestershire County Council from 1 
October 2015.  A copy of the report, marked ‘14’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the progress towards the transfer of commissioning responsibilities for children’s 0-5 
public health services be noted. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The Government has agreed to complete the transfer of responsibility from NHS England 
to local authorities for the commissioning of children’s 0-5 public health services by 
October 2015. 
 
The Health Visiting Assurance Board for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) is 
now being utilised as a formal Transition Board to oversee the transfer of the 0-5 Healthy 
Child Programme from NHS England to the local authorities. 
 

164. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from Overview and Scrutiny. 
 

165. Exclusion of the press and public.  
 
The public were excluded during the following item of business in accordance with 
Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

166. Revision of Developer Contribution Agreement, Birstall.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Children and Family Services and 
the County Solicitor concerning the revision of the developer contribution agreement in 
Birstall. A copy of the report, marked ‘18’ is filed with these minutes. Comments from the 
Liberal Democrat Group were circulated separately and a copy is also filed with these 
minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the discussions to date with the developer for the Hallam Fields housing 
development, to identify an acceptable solution for primary school places be 
noted; 

 
b) That in the light of the changes which have taken place in the availability of 

primary school places in the area, the County Council accepts a revised 
contribution for such places; 

 

14



 
 

 

 

c) That the Chief Executive be authorised to take appropriate steps to secure 
agreement in accordance with (b) above. 
 

REASON FOR DECISION: 
 

1) The Education Act 1996 places a statutory duty on the Local Authority (LA) to 
ensure a sufficient supply of school places.  The Education Act 2011 requires the 
Authority to promote educational excellence by ensuring a good supply of high 
quality school places and coordinating fair admissions.  

 
2) Since 2003, the number of surplus places in schools in the vicinity of Hallam Fields 

has increased to such an extent that it is no longer appropriate to require the 
provision of additional school places in the form of a new 180 place primary 
school. Analysis of pupil numbers and forecasts for the Birstall area now indicates 
that there is a steadily increasing demand for school places, which is expected to 
surpass the available capacity in the two local primary schools by September 2015 
admissions. 

 
3) The revised contribution proposed by Jelson’s will allow further primary provision 

to be developed when needed. An assessment of future demand for primary 
school places in Birstall will be considered as part of capital planning for the 
Children and Young People's Service (CYPS) Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) review process. 

 
4) Negotiations with Jelsons are currently on-going and details of the final 

agreement, when reached, will be made publicly available. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.00  - 3.07 pm CHAIRMAN 
17 June 2014 

 

15



16

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 
 

REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL ON THE 
REFERRAL PATHWAY FOR OLDER PEOPLE WITH ANXIETY 

OR DEPRESSION 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the key findings and 

recommendations of the Scrutiny Review Panel investigation into the 
referral pathway for older people with anxiety or depression. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

(a) accept the report and recommendations of the Scrutiny Review 
Panel; 

 
(b) request the Chief Executive ensure that the recommendations of 

the Review are acted upon.  
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. The Panel has made a number of recommendations to help improve 

outcomes for older people with anxiety or depressions.  Some of these 
recommendations are made to the Health Service and therefore this 
report is also being submitted to the governing bodies of the County 
Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
4. The Review Panel was established in winter 2013.  The Scrutiny 

Commissioners, when appointing the Panel, considered that scrutiny 
activity in this area was timely as it would address the recommendation 
in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment which identified the need for 
people over the age of 65 to have better access to mental health 
services..  The findings of the Panel will also be fed into the Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland Strategic Mental Health Group which 
oversees the delivery of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Priority of 
improving mental health and wellbeing. 

 

Agenda Item 417



Background 
 
Scope of the Panel 
 
7. The following outcomes for the Review were identified by the Scrutiny 

Commissioners:- 
 

(i) To understand the referral pathways for older people with anxiety 
and depression and identify any areas where access or service 
provision could be improved; 

 
(ii) To understand the quality of services provided to older people and 

the outcomes for users regarding anxiety and depression; 
 

(iii) To examine the partnership arrangements currently in place and 
make recommendations for improved integration in the light of 
examples of best practice; 

 
(iv) To identify ways of increasing the potential for older people 

suffering from more than one medical condition to access 
appropriate support for anxiety and depression. 

 
Membership of the Panel 
 
8. The following members were appointed to serve on the Panel: 

Mrs R Camamile CC Dr T Eynon CC 
Mr J Kaufman CC Mr D Jennings CC 
Mr W Liquorish CC 

 
Report of the Panel 
 
9.   The Panel’s Final Report, including conclusions and recommendations, 

is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
Consideration by the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 11 
June 2014 
 
10. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 11 June agreed the 

following:- 
 

a) That the report of the Scrutiny Review Panel on the Referral Pathway 
for Older People with Anxiety or Depression be supported and that the 
recommendations therein be referred to the Cabinet and County 
Clinical Commissioning Groups for consideration; 

 
b) That recommendation (b) of the report be amended to include 

reference to Day Centres; 
 

18



c) That the Chairman of the Panel be requested to liaise with the 
appropriate Cabinet Lead Member, Chief Officer, and partners with a 
view to monitoring progress made against the recommendations. 

 
Background Papers 
 
11. File containing the reports submitted to the Scrutiny Review Panel on the 

Referral Pathway for Older People with Anxiety or Depression and 
minutes of the meetings of the Panel. 

 
Resources Implications 
 
12. None specifically arising from this report. 
 
Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
13. In the course of its investigation the Panel had focused particularly on 

the needs of socially excluded groups, including those identified as 
protected in the Equalities Act 2010. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
14. None. 
 
Appendix 
 
Final Report Scrutiny Review Panel on the Referral Pathway for Older People 
with Anxiety or Depression 
 
 
Officer to contact 
 
Rosemary Palmer 
Principal Committee Officer 
Chief Executive’s Department 
 

Tel: 0116 305 6098 
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

19



20

This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 11 JUNE 
2014 

 
FINAL REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL ON THE 
REFERRAL PATHWAY FOR OLDER PEOPLE WITH ANXIETY 

AND DEPRESSION 
 

Introduction 
 
1. This report sets out the conclusions and recommendations arising from the 

Scrutiny Review Panel investigation into the referral pathway for older 
people with anxiety and depression. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. The recommendations of the Panel are located within the body of the 

report.  For ease of reference, they are also set out below:- 
 

(a) The Panel welcomes the arrangements already put in place to prevent 
older people from developing common mental health disorders and 
suggests that consideration be given to the following:- 

• Screening of people in residential care for common mental health 
problems and the development of a residential care based 
initiative to respond to any identified need; 

• Joining up community based initiatives with primary care services 
including the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT) service; 

• Identifying a GP practice in Leicestershire to pilot the ‘community 
services desk’ in conjunction with VAL. 
 

(b) Recognising the barriers that exist, the Panel recommends that an 
awareness-raising campaign be undertaken using the following 
channels:- 

• Books on Prescription; 

• First Contact; 

• Libraries; 

• GP Surgeries; 

• Day Centres; 
and that the success of this be measured through increased access to 
books on prescription and other community wellbeing services. 

 

 

21



  

(c) That Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) be asked to undertake an 
audit of the accessibility of services provided by their GP surgery to 
older people with mental health problems and to support the surgery to 
act upon the findings of the audit accordingly. 

 
(d) That Clinical Commissioning Groups be encouraged to work with the 

voluntary sector to identify community transport opportunities which 
would enable services to be more accessible and that wherever 
possible services are provided in accessible, local venues. 

 
(e) The Panel recognises that the majority of common mental health 

disorders should be addressed in primary care and in order for this to 
happen on a successful and consistent basis, recommends the 
following:- 

• That the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Group be asked to consider ways of 
strengthening the role of  primary care in treating mental health 
conditions and positioning primary care as the initial point of 
contact, early management  and onward referral of patients as 
appropriate; 

• That all organisations coming into contact with older people, in 
particular social workers, be encouraged to ask questions about 
their mental health and wellbeing and where appropriate refer 
them to their GP or the IAPT service; 

• That voluntary sector organisations be encouraged to use 
outcome measures for wellbeing so that GPs can be confident in 
referring patients to them; 

• That the use of online self-management programme for anxiety 
and depression be increased; 

• That consideration be given to training volunteers to act as 
therapeutic friends and supplement the delivery of the IAPT 
service; 

• That primary care practitioners be encouraged to consider social 
prescribing when treating older people suffering from anxiety or 
depression where appropriate; 

• That GPs and IAPT therapists be asked to consider the aftercare 
of patients, specifically with regard to helping service users plan 
for the future and signposting them to community based services. 

 
(f) That organisations providing specialist care for long term conditions be 

encouraged to take into account the potential mental health needs of 
patients and to ensure that there are appropriate links between their 
services and those provided in primary care. 

 
(g) That all health and social care programmes intending to address 

mental health issues adopt an agreed set of patient-reported outcome 
measures. 

22



  

 
Scope of the Review 
 
3. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) identified that depression is 

the most common mental health problem in older people and is associated 
with social isolation, long term physical health problems, caring roles and 
living in residential care.  The JSNA found that access to relevant services 
for people aged over 65 was an issue which would merit further exploration.  
The Scrutiny Commissioners, when appointing the Panel, considered that 
scrutiny activity in this area was timely as it would address the JSNA 
recommendation and feed into the development of the delivery plan for the 
JHWS priority of improving mental health and wellbeing. 

 
4. The following outcomes for the Review were identified by the Scrutiny 

Commissioners:- 
 

(i) To understand the referral pathways for older people with anxiety and 
depression and identify any areas where access or service provision 
could be improved; 
 

(ii) To understand the quality of services provided to older people and the 
outcomes for users regarding anxiety and depression; 
 

(iii) To examine the partnership arrangements currently in place and make 
recommendations for improved integration in the light of examples of 
best practice; 
 

(iv) To identify ways of increasing the potential for older people suffering 
from more than one medical condition to access appropriate support 
for anxiety and depression. 
 

Membership of the Panel 
 
5. The following members were appointed to serve on the Panel. 

 
Mrs R Camamile CC Dr T Eynon CC 
Mr J Kaufman CC Mr D Jennings CC 
Mr W Liquorish CC 
 

Mrs R Camamile CC was appointed Chairman of the Panel. 
 
Conduct of the Review 
 
6. The Panel met on four occasions between 13 January and 6 March and 

over that period:- 
 

(i) Received detailed information on the findings of the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, recommendations in the Joint Health and 

23



  

Wellbeing and other appropriate evidence relating to anxiety and 
depression in older people; 

 
(ii) Considered the pathways currently in place for older people suffering 

from anxiety and depression, including the Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service; 

 
(iii) Considered case studies setting out the patient experience of the 

identification and diagnosis of anxiety and depression and the 
associated referral pathways; 

 
(iv) Received details of the scope of current partnership arrangements. 

 
7. The Panel was supported in its review by the following officers and is 

indebted to them for their contributions:- 
 

Lorraine Austen Head of Service, Leicestershire Partnership NHS 
Trust (LPT) 

Dr Dave Briggs Managing Director, East Leicestershire and 
Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

Jim Bosworth Associate Director of Contracting, West 
Leicestershire CCG 

Peter Caunt Service Director, Good Thinking Therapy 
Dr Samantha Hamer Clinician, LPT 
Ivan Liburd Policy Officer, Healthwatch Leicestershire 
Dr Mike McHugh Medical Consultant in Public Health 
Dr Noel O’Kelly Clinical Director, LPT 
Ian Redfern Head of Service, Adult Mental Health, 

Leicestershire County Council 
Ben Smith Health Policy Officer, Voluntary Action 

LeicesterShire (VAL) 
Jude Smith Deputy Clinical Director, LPT 
Dr Erik Van Diepen Consultant Psychologist, LPT 

 
8. The Panel is particularly grateful to VAL and Healthwatch Leicestershire for 

their investigation into service user experience.  A copy of the report setting 
out their findings is appended to this report. 

 
Background 
 
9. Good mental health and emotional wellbeing are as important in older age 

as in any other time of life.  Many people fear growing older, and assume 
that old age is depressing and distressing, characterised by loss and 
disability, offering little to look forward to.  But the reality is that older people 
are as capable as younger people of enjoying life, taking on challenges and 
coping with life’s difficulties. 

 

24



  

10. The chief difference between older people and other age groups is that 
older people are more likely to have experienced events associated with 
poorer mental health, such as having to deal with a decline in physical 
health or bereavement.  The term 'resilience' is often used to describe our 
ability to recover from difficult or stressful situations and it has been 
suggested that our resilience is also likely to influence our wellbeing in later 
life. 

 
11. Although the majority of older people remain in good mental health, mental 

health problems in older adults are common; present in approximately 40% 
of GP attendees, 50% of general hospital patients and 60% of care home 
residents.  

 
Definition of common mental health disorder 
 
12. The term ‘common mental health disorder’ Includes depression, generalised 

anxiety disorder (GAD), panic disorder, phobias, social anxiety disorder, 
obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) and post-traumatic stress disorder 
(PTSD). 

 
13. Depression is characterised by low mood, emotional, cognitive, physical 

and behavioural symptoms.  Symptoms typically include poor sleep, 
reduced appetite, tearfulness, irritability and social withdrawal.  Marked 
anxiety can frequently co-exist with depression.  

 
14. Generalised anxiety disorder (GAD) features excessive anxiety and worry, 

often accompanied by restlessness, fatigue, difficulty concentrating, 
irritability, muscle tension and disturbed sleep.  GAD often occurs 
simultaneously with depression and this can make accurate diagnosis 
problematic. 

 
15. Panic disorder results in either intermittent apprehension, and panic attacks 

in relation to particular situations or spontaneous panic attacks with no 
apparent cause.  Patients often take action to avoid being in particular 
situations in order to prevent those feelings, which may develop into 
conditions such as agoraphobia which is anxiety about being in places or 
situations from which escape might be difficult.  

 
16. Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) involves the presence of either 

obsessions or compulsions, but commonly both fear of contamination from 
dirt, germs, viruses, body fluids etc., fear of harm, obsessions with religious, 
sacrilegious or blasphemous thoughts, sexual thoughts and repetitive 
behaviours or mental acts that the person feels driven to perform e.g. 
checking (for example, gas taps). 

 
17. Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) develops in response to one or more 

traumatic events e.g. acts of interpersonal violence, severe accidents, 
disasters or military action.  The most characteristic symptoms of PTSD are 

25



  

re-experiencing symptoms including flashbacks in which the person acts or 
feels as if the event is recurring. 

 
18. Social anxiety disorder also referred to as social phobia, is characterised by 

an intense fear in social situations that results in considerable distress and 
in turn impacts on a person’s ability to function effectively in aspects of their 
daily life. 

 
 Prevention 
 
19. In order to prevent people from developing a common mental health 

disorder, such as anxiety or depression, they need to be supported to 
become more resilient.  For older people, some particular risk factors have 
been identified which can make people more vulnerable to developing 
depression.  These are as follows:- 

• Limited mobility, chronic pain, frailty or other mental/physical problems 
leading to loss of independence; 

• Physical illness; 

• Bereavement; 

• Social isolation; 

• Loneliness. 
 
20.  Another group of people at significant risk of developing anxiety or 

depression is older people who move into residential care.  This is due to 
the scale of change in lifestyle.  Although they are living with other people, it 
will not necessarily be a group of their choosing.  They can also have 
difficulty coming to terms with the loss of their own home and 
independence. 

 
21. There are a number of initiatives already in place in Leicestershire aimed at 

mitigating the risk factors and preventing older people from developing 
anxiety or depression.  Organisations such as the County Council provide 
pre-retirement courses which advise people to keep active and form part of 
social groups to prevent feelings of social isolation and depression. 

 
22. The Five Ways to Wellbeing are promoted across Leicestershire by the 

Culture, Health and Wellbeing Partnership; a partnership led by 
Leicestershire County Council and is supported by Leicester City Council 
and the Districts and Boroughs of Leicestershire County.  The Five Ways to 
Wellbeing is a set of evidence-based public mental health messages aimed 
at improving the mental health and wellbeing of the whole population. They 
were developed by nef (the new economics foundation) in 2008 and are as 
follows:- 

• Connect with people around you; 

• Be active; 

• Take notice of your surroundings, people etc; 

• Keep learning; 

26



  

• Give e.g. as a volunteer, share your knowledge and experiences etc. 
 
23. A range of social activities aimed at promoting positive mental health are 

organised by libraries; these can help to reduce feelings of social isolation 
and depression.  Libraries can also support people to self-manage their 
mental health, for example through the books on prescription service, which 
makes available cognitive behavioural therapy self-help books.  These can 
provide very effective help and treatment for a range of common emotional 
and mental health problems.  The main libraries in Leicestershire have 
wellbeing collections which include specific, evidence-based books.   

 
24. The Panel feels that it is important that community-based initiatives, such as 

those in libraries, are linked to primary care services.  The Panel was 
pleased to hear that Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL) is currently 
piloting a ‘community services desk’ at a GP surgery in Leicester.  This has 
been developed with the Patient Participation Group and will be managed 
by volunteers who will be able to provide advice and guidance and direct 
people to the appropriate voluntary sector group for support.  Further detail 
is included in the appended report which sets out the findings of 
Healthwatch and VAL’s investigation into patient experience. 

 
25. More recently, the Better Care Fund Plan, a pooled budget aimed at 

improving the integration of health and social care in Leicestershire, has 
been developed.  One of the workstreams in the Plan is the Unified 
Prevention Offer which will include specific work to raise awareness of 
mental health and target the most vulnerable.  The Plan will also consider 
how to join up data systems to enable all health and social care services 
involved in the care of a patient to access the same records. 

 
26. Within residential care homes, consideration is being given to whether 

residential homes should target known needs or whether there is a benefit 
to a general screening programme for services in residential care.  Both 
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups have a care home project 
which aims to capture both the physical and mental health needs of 
patients.  The Panel suggests that any screening activity would need to be 
linked to an effective intervention, such as providing basic Cognitive 
Behavioural Therapy training for some staff in residential care so that they 
were able to respond to identified need.   

 
Recommendation 
 
(a) The Panel welcomes the arrangements already put in place to prevent older 

people from developing common mental health disorders and suggests that 
consideration be given to the following:- 

• Screening of people in residential care for common mental health 
problems and the development of a residential care based initiative to 
respond to any identified need; 

27



  

• Joining up community based initiatives with primary care services 
including the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
service; 

• Identifying a GP practice in Leicestershire to pilot the ‘community 
services desk’ in conjunction with VAL. 

 
Access to Services 
 
27. A number of barriers have been identified which can prevent older people 

suffering with anxiety or depression from accessing services.  These can be 
summarised as follows:- 

 
Patient factors: 

• feelings of shame 

• stigma and fear 

• distrust of healthcare services 

• masking and normalising of symptoms (especially mental health 
symptoms) 

• lack of knowledge about mental health symptoms or services 

• lack of support or encouragement to access healthcare services from 
families and community 

• a belief in spirituality and self-reliance as a means of overcoming 
healthcare problem 

• somatisation (when mental and emotional problems present as 
physical ill-health) 

• limited language and communication proficiency, resulting in 
communication problems (including hearing and speech problems) 

• cultural factors, such as the lower levels of awareness of problems 
such as depression in black and minority ethnic communities 

 
Practitioner-level factors: 

• poor communication with patients and the wider community 

• poor attitude to patients 

• stereotyping of individuals by practitioners 

• minimisation or poor recognition of mental health symptoms. 

• have time constraints in their surgeries that prevent them from 
diagnosing mental health problems effectively 

• consider that depression is an inevitable consequence of ageing and 
fail to see the value of treating it;  

• recognise symptoms of depression or anxiety but fail to recognise that 
they can be treated with psychological therapies;  

• attribute mental health problems to someone’s reactions to physical 
health problems, such as diabetes, Parkinson’s disease, arthritic pain, 
stroke, cardiac or thyroid disorders etc., and so do not consider them 
suitable for treatment;  

28



  

• believe that treating physical health problems is a higher priority than 
treating mental health problems, and consequently do not refer 
patients to psychological therapy services;  

• mistakenly believe that psychological therapies do not work for older 
people;  

• prioritise referring younger people with depression and anxiety to 
services providing psychological therapies; and/or  

• not have the skills to identify and manage mental health problems in 
older people.  

• inadequate assessments arising from limited information about a 
range of issues (for example, cultural background) 

 
System and service-level factors: 

• poor allocation of services and poor quality of services 

• poor communication between services 

• lack of flexibility in healthcare systems and practices to take into 
account individuals’ cultural beliefs 

• use of standard procedures and practices that are unfamiliar or 
unexplained to vulnerable individuals 

• transportation issues 

• poor appointment systems 
 
28. The stigma around mental health problems might create a barrier for some 

older people, particularly those in close-knit rural communities.  These 
people are less likely to talk to other people about how they are feeling.  In 
addition, older people may not have the words to enable them to identify 
their symptoms as the language of psychology is not familiar for most 
people. 

 
Recommendation 
 
(b) Recognising the barriers that exist, the Panel recommends that an 

awareness-raising campaign be undertaken using the following channels:- 

• Books on Prescription; 

• First Contact; 

• Libraries; 

• GP Surgeries; 

• Day Centres; 
and that the success of this be measured through increased access to 
books on prescription and other community wellbeing services. 

 
(c) That Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) be asked to undertake an audit of 

the accessibility of services provided by their GP surgery to older people 
with mental health problems and to support the surgery to act upon the 
findings of the audit accordingly. 

 

29



  

(d) That Clinical Commissioning Groups be encouraged to work with the 
voluntary sector to identify community transport opportunities which would 
enable services to be more accessible and that wherever possible services 
are provided in accessible, local venues. 

 
Strengthening the Role of Primary Care 
 
29. The majority of common mental health disorders should be treated in 

primary care.  GPs can make an initial assessment of a mental health 
condition, provide good advice and initial support, arrange referrals to other 
treatments and services, such as psychological therapies and counselling 
and, if necessary, prescribe medication such as anti-depressants where 
appropriate.  However, the Panel noted that there is some lack of 
consistency in the service offered by GPs.  Those with a special interest in 
mental health were generally confident in identifying and diagnosing 
common mental health conditions.  Where mental illness manifested itself 
through physical symptoms it was more difficult for a GP to make a correct 
diagnosis. 

 
30. The correct diagnosis of mental health conditions is a particular issue for 

older people with long term conditions, who are more likely to suffer from 
anxiety and depression, but less likely to identify their symptoms correctly.   

 
31. The GP appraisal process does not provide a way of ensuring consistency 

in the treatment of mental health conditions across primary care.  It does 
not assess whether GPs are confident in dealing with mental health 
conditions unless the GP has been identified by the practice as a mental 
health lead.  Under appraisal and revalidation requirements there are no 
specific requirements for GPs to attend training courses specifically for 
mental illness.  The requirement is that they show evidence of keeping up to 
date in relation to their role as doctors.  If they have a lead role, or identify 
mental health training as a learning need, this can be added to their 
personal development plan but it is not a requirement under any legislation. 

 
32. The Panel is pleased to note the creation of a new Leicester, Leicestershire 

and Rutland Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy Group.  This group 
would have a significant part to play in strengthening the role of GPs in 
dealing with common mental health conditions through training and through 
facilitating development of clear pathways of care with the primary care 
team as the hub.  However, it is not just GPs in primary care who should be 
able to help older people with anxiety or depression, help should be 
available from across the whole range of primary care services.  In 
particular, practice nurses supporting patients with other chronic conditions 
ought to be checking their mental health regularly as well. 

 
33. The Panel is pleased to note that East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 

Commissioning Group has developed a holistic care template which 
includes trigger questions that will result in a care co-ordinator referring 

30



  

patients to their GP for treatment of anxiety or depression.  However, this 
was only in place for patients with specific long term conditions. 

 
34. Self-management is an important aspect of treatment of anxiety and 

depression.  This can be improved by access to online education sources, 
similar to the DESMOND (Diabetes Education and Self-Management for 
On-going and Newly Diagnosed) programme which supports people with 
type 2 diabetes to manage their own condition.  Voluntary Sector 
organisations also have a key role to play, for example through forming 
partnerships with GP surgeries.  It might be useful to develop a quality mark 
for voluntary sector groups so GPs feel confident when referring patients to 
them. 

 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Service 
 
35. The IAPT service provides psychological therapies for patients over the age 

of 16 years with depression and anxiety in a range of community venues, 
including GP surgeries.  The service follows the recommendations set by 
the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) providing 
evidence based psychological therapies.  There are two types of 
practitioners:- 

• Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners (PWPs), offering assessments, 
guided self-help and psycho-educational groups; 

• High intensity therapists offering a range of psychological therapies 
including Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, Interpersonal Psychological 
Therapy, Dynamic Interpersonal Therapy and Counselling. 

The service was provided by Good Thinking Therapy until 31 March 2014, 
from 1 April 2014 Nottingham Healthcare NHS Trust are providing the 
service. 

 
36. Many older people express a preference for talking therapies and there is a 

considerable body of research evidence that indicates that talking 
treatments are just as effective in addressing anxiety and depression in 
older people as other age groups.  NICE guidance on the treatment of 
anxiety and depression makes no variation in its recommendations relating 
to age.  The national data for IAPT indicates that there is no difference in 
recovery rates for those aged over 64 years and locally recovery rates for 
older people are better than average.  There is also a trend towards older 
people being more likely to complete a full course of treatment than other 
age groups. 

 
37. Despite IAPT services being open to all adults there is considerable under 

representation of older people amongst the population accessing IAPT.  
The following are nationally recognised barriers for older people accessing 
the IAPT service:- 

• Historically the IAPT service was primarily for working age adults which 
may  lead  care professionals to forget that IAPT is an all age service; 

31



  

• Perception that talking therapies are not relevant for older persons; 

• Physical barriers such as mobility or sensory impairment; 

• Poor understanding of the issues relating to the treatment of the older 
person. 
 

38. Locally, the following initiatives have been put in place to help older people 
access the service:- 

• All PWPs have been trained in the treatment of Long Term Conditions 
and Older Persons Feb to April 2013; 

• High Intensity Therapists are trained by experienced Older Persons 
Psychologists who are involved in adaptations to therapy to make 
therapy more accessible; 

• An Older Persons Champion has been appointed; 

• Cognitive Behaviour Therapy training across the county includes 
components addressing Long Term Conditions. 

 
39. From mid-April 2014 ‘Mindfulness’ will also be available in Leicestershire.  

‘Mindfulness’ is a way of paying attention to the present moment, using 
techniques like mediation, breathing and yoga.  It helps people become 
more aware of their thoughts and feelings so they can manage them rather 
than being overwhelmed by them.  GP surgeries not providing ‘Mindfulness’ 
will need to have arrangements in place to signpost service users to patient 
transport schemes.  It was also felt that volunteers could be trained as 
‘therapeutic friends’ to support ‘Mindfulness’ by working with the service 
user and helping them to think of things other than their illness, a type of 
distraction therapy. 

 
40. Another area that needs developing is aftercare.  There is a lack of 

structured aftercare for service users whose IAPT sessions had been 
completed.  There was a role for therapists and GPs in helping the service 
user to plan for the future and signpost them to other services, such as 
those provided by the voluntary sector. 

 
Recommendations 
 
(e) The Panel recognises that the majority of common mental health disorders 

should be addressed in primary care and in order for this to happen on a 
successful and consistent basis, recommends the following:- 

• That the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Group be asked to consider ways of strengthening 
the role of  primary care in treating mental health conditions and 
positioning primary care as the initial point of contact, early 
management  and onward referral of patients as appropriate; 

• That all organisations coming into contact with older people, in 
particular social workers, be encouraged to ask questions about their 
mental health and wellbeing and where appropriate refer them to their 
GP or the IAPT service; 

32



  

• That voluntary sector organisations be encouraged to use outcome 
measures for wellbeing so that GPs can be confident in referring 
patients to them; 

• That the use of online self-management programme for anxiety and 
depression be increased; 

• That consideration be given to training volunteers to act as therapeutic 
friends and supplement the delivery of the IAPT service; 

• That primary care practitioners be encouraged to consider social 
prescribing when treating older people suffering from anxiety or 
depression where appropriate; 

• That GPs and IAPT therapists be asked to consider the aftercare of 
patients, specifically with regard to helping service users plan for the 
future and signposting them to community based services. 

 
Secondary Care 
 
41. Common mental health disorders should not be treated in secondary care 

except in rare circumstances.  The Panel is pleased to note that, as with all 
age groups, only a very small proportion of older people suffering with 
anxiety or depression have a condition sufficiently serious to require 
secondary care intervention.  Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT) 
provides services for older people with severe anxiety or depression which 
cannot be treated elsewhere.  It specialises in providing support for service 
users with complex conditions, such as having two or more chronic medical 
conditions. 

 
42. LPT provide a stepped model of care in which the patients’ needs are met 

by the service that provides the most appropriate intensity of care at that 
time.  Patients can step up or step down into services as their needs 
change.  The Panel emphasises the importance of ensuring patients are 
treated at the right level according to their needs, including being 
discharged to primary care when appropriate.  Services are provided 
through outpatient clinics which patients are referred to by their GP.  More 
serious conditions are referred to the Community Mental Health Team 
(CMHT) which provides on-going care through multi-disciplinary teams.  
The CHMT has a community intensive service which is between community 
services and hospitals, and a care home in-reach team.  There is also an 
urgent service which can support patients for up to 72 hours whilst a care 
pathway is developed and a liaison service with UHL for patients with both 
physical and mental needs.  The stepped model of care is illustrated as 
follows:- 

 

33



  

 
 

43. One area where involvement is appropriate is in the rehabilitation 
programme for people with long term conditions.  LPT has designed a 
pulmonary rehabilitation programme which focuses on education and 
exercise and also includes a session on recognising anxiety and 
depression.  A heart failure rehabilitation programme is due to start soon 
using the same model. 
 

44. The Panel supports LPT’s intention to further develop the services it 
provides in the following ways:- 

 

• increased access to physical health care in all clinical settings; 

• increased integration of physical and mental health services for frail 
older people. 

 
Recommendation 
 
(f) That organisations providing specialist care for long term conditions be 

encouraged to take into account the potential mental health needs of 
patients and to ensure that there are appropriate links between their 
services and those provided in primary care. 
 

(g) That all health and social care programmes intending to address mental 
health issues adopt an agreed set of patient-reported outcome measures. 

 
Resources Implications 
 
45. None specifically arising from this report. 
 
 

34



  

Equal Opportunities 
 
46. In the course of its investigation the Panel had focused particularly on the 

needs of socially excluded groups, including those identified as protected in 
the Equalities Act 2010. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alerts Procedure 
 
47. None. 
 
Background Papers 
 
48. File containing the reports submitted to the Scrutiny Review Panel on the 

Referral Pathway for Older People with Anxiety or Depression.  
 
Recommendations 
 
49. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to 

support the findings of the Panel and refer the conclusions to the 
Cabinet for its consideration; 
 

 

 

 

Mrs R Camamile CC 
Chairman of the Panel 

 

35



36

This page is intentionally left blank



37



38



39



40



41



42



 

2  
      

 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 
 

MAINSTREAM HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND 
TRANSPORT, THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES AND THE 

COUNTY SOLICITOR 
 

PART A 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet to implement a new 

Mainstream Home to School Transport Policy, following the conclusion of two public 
consultations. 
 

Recommendation 
 

2. The Cabinet is recommended to agree that: 
 

a) the responses to the two public consultations on proposed changes to the 
mainstream Home to School Transport Policy and the Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment be noted; 

 
b) the proposals set out in the revised consultation (attached as Appendix E to the 

report) be approved, namely: 
 

• for pupils of compulsory  school age i.e. those aged between 5 and 16 years to  
provide free transport where the distance between the pupils home address and  
the nearest appropriate school (or educational placement) with available spaces 
exceeds the statutory walking distances of  2 miles for primary age children  and 
3 miles for secondary age children. A school will not be seen as appropriate if it 
does not offer a transfer entry point that is compatible with the current school 
attended by the pupil. 

 
and in addition: 
 
• to provide an alternative offer of free transport to the nearest appropriate 

Leicestershire school over the statutory walking distances with places available. 
A school will not be seen as appropriate if it does not offer a transfer entry point 
that is compatible with the current school attended by the pupil. 

 
but 

Agenda Item 543



 
• where there have been no changes to admission catchment areas  or age 

ranges for admission  since May 2012 to continue to  offer free transport to the 
catchment  area school in those areas 

 
and that the County Council’s mainstream Home to School Transport Policy be 
amended accordingly. 

 

c) the proposals made in the consultation for Post 16 transport for an annual 
contribution (charge) for transport assistance be approved. 
 

d) the transitional arrangements suggested in the consultation and detailed in 
paragraphs 57 - 58 of the report below, be approved i.e. that existing transport 
arrangements are honoured for students part way through their education until they 
leave and that the new policy to apply to new pupils or those transferring from a 
primary to a secondary school or between high and upper secondary schools from 
September 2015. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. The first consultation which ran between January and March 2014 resulted in a 

considerable negative response from both the public and schools (88% disagreed) to 
the proposals to move to a ‘nearest school only’ policy. The key concerns raised in the 
initial consultation were: 

 
• the educational impact of transfer at aged 10+ (year 6) from some primary schools 

and the potential educational impact of transfer at 14 (year 9) to an 11-16 or 11-19 
school; 
 

• the desire to retain existing school links and the expectation that as a taxpayer in 
Leicestershire the County Council should provide transport to a Leicestershire 
school.  

  
4. In considering the first consultation outcomes, the Cabinet on 1st April 2014 resolved 

to consult further on a wider range of options between April and June 2014. 
 
5. The consultations arose from the need to address potential future budget pressures 

and the impact of schools moving to academy status and/or changing their age ranges 
or admission catchment areas and together with  the EHRIA inform  the 
recommendations to  cabinet . 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. Any new policy must be published by 12th September 2014 so that parents can make 

informed choices about expressing a preference for their child’s school placement for 
the September 2015 pupil intake/transfer cycle. 
 

7. The Scrutiny Commission has discussed the previous policy proposals in relation to 
Home to School Transport at its meetings on 26th February and 26th March 2014. This 
report will be considered by the Scrutiny Commission on 11th July 2014 and its 
comments will be reported to the Cabinet. 
 

44



 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
8. The Cabinet agreed to a consultation on Home to School Transport proposals on 20th 

November 2013 and for the second consultation on 1st April 2014. 
 

9. There is a statutory duty on the County Council to provide free transport to schools for 
eligible children. Historically in Leicestershire this has been based on the former 
admission catchment areas for schools and was confirmed by a statement to County 
Council in September 2012 which crystallised the transport arrangements based on the 
age range and admission catchment area applicable to individual schools at that point.  
The Cabinet revised the policy on the non-statutory elements of Home to School 
Transport at its meeting on 9th July 2013. 

 

Resources Implications 
 

10. The implementation of any new policy will require an additional 1.0 FTE Grade 8 
position within the Sustainable Travel Group for 1 year commencing September 2014 
to support the transition from the old to new policy. This will be managed from within 
the Sustainable Travel Group’s staffing budget, where some posts are being held 
vacant in lieu of future savings built into the MTFS There will also be a requirement for 
ICT support. 

 
11. Consideration will also be given to developing an ICT solution that will require families 

to pro-actively apply for statutory home to school transport for the 2016/17 academic 
year with a view to achieving efficiency savings rather than be provided transport 
automatically as part of the admissions process. 
 

12. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the contents of this report. 
 
 

Comments of the County Solicitor 
 

13. The statutory provisions of the Education Act 1996 create a list of 'eligible children' for 

whom transport (free of charge) must be provided.  Eligible children include:- 

• Children who cannot walk to school because of their SEN or disability; 
• Children who cannot walk because of the route availability; 
• Children who live beyond the statutory walking distances.  These children are 

eligible if no suitable arrangements are made by the Local Authority to enable the 
child to attend a school nearer to his or her home.  Statutory walking distance is 
defined as two miles for children aged under 8 years and three miles for children 
aged 8 years or over. 

 

There are further eligibility criteria for children from low income families.   

 General public law principles require the Council to operate a transport policy that 

meets public law requirements. This in essence requires a policy to:- 

• be rational and reasonable; 
• be fair and equitable; 

45



• be transparent and sufficiently clear so that parents and other users can easily 
understand it; 

• be neutral in application i.e. not creating  advantage for one group of parents or 
one school over another; 

• be reviewed at regular intervals to ensure it continues to be fit for purpose but not 
changed so regularly as to be unworkable or confusing to users; 

• take into account all relevant matters (including, for example, school admission 
arrangements); 

• take account of the Public Sector Equality duty; 
• be developed following proper consultation processes; 
• take into account any statutory guidance issued. 

 

14. The policy proposed provides more than the minimum requirements of the Education 
Act 1996. The County Council can formulate polices which provide additional 
discretionary transport providing it has consulted widely on the proposals and they 
meet the public law principles outlined above. Whilst the risk of challenge cannot be 
wholly eliminated, the County Solicitor is satisfied that the proposed policy meets the 
statutory and public law requirements referred to above.     
 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  

 

A copy of this report has been sent to all Members of the Council under the Members’ 
News in Brief service. 

 

Officers to Contact 
 
Phil Crossland, Director of Environment and Transport 
Telephone:  0116 305 7000 
Email:   Phil.Crossland@leics.gov.uk 
 
Lesley Hagger, Director of Children and Families 
Tel:   0116 305 6340 
E-mail:  Lesley.Hagger@leics.gov.uk 
 
David Morgan, County Solicitor 
Tel:   0116 305 6007 
E-mail:  David.Morgan@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tony Kirk, Sustainable Travel Group Manager 
Telephone: 0116 305 6270 
Email:  Tony.Kirk@leics.gov.uk 

46



PART B 
 

Background 
 
15. The Education Act 1996 places a duty on Local Authorities to provide free transport to 

school for eligible children. In brief the statutory framework defines eligible children as: 
 

• Those who are unable to walk to school because of their Special Educational 
Needs, disability or mobility problems. 

• Those who are unable to walk to school in reasonable safety because of the nature 
of the route. 

• Those who live beyond the statutory walking distance of two miles for children aged 
under 8 and 3 miles for children aged 8 or over which are the distances which 
children or young people are deemed to be able to walk to school accompanied as 
necessary by an adult, provided a suitable walking route is available. 

• Those whose parents are in receipt of certain specified benefits. 
 

16. Whilst schools were predominantly maintained and under the control of the County 
Council, admission catchment areas were defined by the Council (as the Admissions’ 
Authority) to balance numbers and provide continuity of education within communities. 
Transport was provided for all eligible pupils who attended the admission catchment 
area school for their home address (or other nearer school). 
 

17. When a school attains Academy status, the County Council no longer has any role in 
setting either the catchment area or the age range of pupils admitted to the school and 
whilst the County Council is entitled to be consulted on changes proposed by 
Academies, the decision to approve such changes is vested in the Education Funding 
Agency on behalf of the Secretary of State. Academies have effectively become 
businesses competing in the market place for students and catchment areas will be set 
by the Academy to suit its needs, with no requirement to have reference to the impact 
on the traditional pattern of transport provision. 

 
18. The first consultation exercise was held on the proposal to only provide statutory free 

transport to the nearest school with available spaces. This consultation ended on 12th 
March 2014. The key concerns emerging during the consultation were: 
 
• the educational impact of transfer at aged 10+ (year 6) from some primary schools 

and the potential educational impact of transfer at 14 (year 9) to an 11-16 or 11-19 
school; 

• the desire to retain existing school links; and 
• the expectation that as a taxpayer in the county the Council should provide 

transport to a Leicestershire school.   
 

19. There were a number of other concerns in terms of siblings, parental preference 
(choice), cost, not attending the long standing traditional catchment school and 
breaking links between groups of schools. The second consultation offered alternative 
proposals seeking to address these key concerns. 
 

Developing a New Policy 
 

20. The context for developing a new policy is that schools which were once under the 
control of the County Council have already,  or are considering  as Academies, 

47



changing their  age ranges and admission catchment areas. Government policy also 
encourages the formation of new schools, such as free schools and studio schools, 
which will set their own admission catchment areas. 

 
21. Under the previous regime, admission catchment areas did not overlap and therefore, 

there was no ambiguity about the school for which a pupil would receive statutory free 
transport. In practice, there were instances where the catchment area school was 
further from the child’s home than another school and the Leicestershire policy for 
transport provision was to the catchment school or nearer school. In certain instances, 
the nearer school is outside of the County administrative boundary. The new proposals 
will address public concerns that the children of Leicestershire taxpayers should 
always have the option of attending a Leicestershire school. 
 

22. Overlap of admission catchment areas creates dual or multiple-eligibility for free home 
to school transport, if all admission catchment areas are deemed valid for transport 
entitlement purposes. These catchment areas are likely to change year on year and 
result in a complex and confusing policy on Home to School Transport which will be 
more expensive to deliver. The new proposals will provide continuity to schools where 
catchments/age ranges have not changed and will protect the County Council’s 
position into the future as well as providing clarity to both parents and education 
providers.  
 

23. Reference has already been made to the Academies being competing businesses.. 
Academy Trusts are not required to take into account existing catchment areas nor 
respect administrative boundaries when determining their own admission catchment 
areas. 
 

Consultation Responses 
 
24.  A report on the further consultation response is attached at appendix B to this report 

 
Home to School Transport Policy for students aged 11-16 
 
25. Respondents were asked about the proposals for Home to School Transport for 

students aged 11 ‐ 16 years and if they agreed or disagreed with the Council's 
proposed policy for the provision of transport to schools and academies. The key 
responses gave the following: 

 
• Nearly three quarters of respondents disagreed with the new proposals (73.3%), 

compared with 87.7% in the first consultation 
• Nearly a quarter agreed (22.4%) with the new proposals compared to 9.7% previously. 
 
26. The respondents were particularly clustered in certain areas as follows: 

 
27. The highest concentration of respondents to the second consultation live in LE3 which 

includes Leicester Forest East, Braunstone and Glenfield, LE7 which borders the north 
east edge of Leicester City and includes towns and villages such as Thurnby, 
Houghton on the Hill, Scraptoft and Anstey and LE17 which covers Lutterworth Town 
and surrounding villages. 
 

28. Of these, LE7 shows a marked reduction in the percentage of respondents who 
disagreed with the new proposals (94.9% down to 66.7%), whereas LE3 and LE17 

48



remained consistently high in the proportion of respondents who disagreed with the 
new proposals. 

 
29. Comments that were particular to LE3 made reference to South Charnwood High 

School and Martin High School. Both sets of respondents were, in the main, concerned 
about the loss of school bus transport to their traditional catchment school. 
 

30. Comments emanating from LE7 mentioned Gartree High School and Beauchamp 
College and tended to express a high level of uncertainly about the potential impact of 
the proposals in their particular circumstances. 

 
31. Respondents were asked an open ended question: ‘Please use the space below to let 

us know any other comments on our proposed policy for the provision of transport to 
schools and academies.’  
 

32. The above question received 194 (48.7%) responses. Comments made included three 
main points of view: 

 
• Those that generally agreed with the new proposals and saw them as a positive 

change, incorporating the concerns expressed in the previous consultation; 
• Those that disagreed with the new proposals as they believed these extra concessions 

should not have been made, instead saying the original proposals should have been 
implemented as they were; 

• Those that disagreed with the new proposals as they believed they did not restrict 
school transport provision far enough, stating if some parents were now to be charged 
then all parents should be charged. 

 
33. The rest of the respondents  disagreed with the new proposals suggesting that they are  

too restrictive for at least one of the following reasons: 
 
• Traditional catchments should be maintained to ensure continuity for pupils and to 

capitalise on the proven working relationships between feeder schools and high 
schools. 

• The impact on faith schools 
• Society should invest in school transport now so that pupils could maximise their 

potential and so benefit society later. 
• Parental choice would be curtailed. Parents expressed a desire to send their child to 

the best not the nearest school without incurring a cost to do so. 
• The impact on the road network and environment of parents having to transport their 

own children. 
• The safety of the child. Some high schools were within the three mile cut off but were 

not accessible by public footpaths or were only accessible along busy main roads. 
• The new proposals were seen as unfair because they did not offer the same level of 

provision to all pupils/ families. 
• The new proposals were deemed unclear. Some parents remained uncertain as to 

whether pupils would be able to choose their nearest Leicestershire School now and/or 
would be able to do so in the future. 

 
 
 
 
 

49



Age 16+ Transport 
 
34.  Respondents were also asked about 16+ transport arrangements and whether they 

agreed or disagreed with the Council's proposal to remove the subsidy from post‐16 

transport to colleges. The key responses gave the following: 

• Nearly two‐thirds of respondents disagreed with the new proposals (64.1) compared to 

85.7% of respondents in the first consultation 

•  One in five agreed (22.0%) with the new proposals compared to 7.0% previously. 

35. The respondents were particularly clustered in certain areas as follows: 

36. The highest concentration of respondents who answered the question about the post 
16 transport proposal in the second consultation live in LE3 which includes Leicester 
Forest East, Braunstone and Glenfield, LE7 which borders the north east edge of 
Leicester City and includes towns and villages such as Thurnby, Houghton on the Hill, 
Scraptoft and Anstey and LE17 which covers Lutterworth Town and surrounding 
villages. 
 

37. Of these, LE7 shows a marked reduction in the percentage of respondents that 
disagreed with the new proposals (93.2% down to 23.0%), whereas LE3 and LE17 
remained consistently high in the proportion of respondents that disagreed with the 
new proposals. 
 

38. Respondents were asked an open ended question to enable them to provide 
comments on the proposals for 16+ transport. Comments were mainly from those who  
disagreed with the new proposals suggesting that it is  too restrictive for at least one of 
the following reasons: 
 

• Students now have to continue in some form of education or training until they are 18 
years old therefore the government should also legislate so that post 16 transport 
provision matches that of secondary schools. 

• The proposal will impact on a student’s choice of career as not all courses are offered 
at all colleges. 

• Students in full‐time education receive no benefits and do not work and therefore they 
cannot afford to pay for transport. 

• The policy remains ambiguous. 
• If students wish to continue in the 6th form of the same school they already attend they 

should not have to pay. To change school would be detrimental to their progress and 
impact on attainment levels. 

 
The proposed transitional arrangements 

 
39. Respondents were also asked about the proposed transitional arrangements and 

whether they agreed or disagreed with the Council's proposals .The key responses 

were as follows:: 

• Three‐fifths of respondents disagreed with the new proposals (57.0%) which is similar 

to the results from the first consultation (59.9%). 

50



• Just over a quarter of respondents agreed with the second proposal (28.2% compared 

to 26%) 

40. There was an opportunity to make alternative suggestions to the policy proposals. 
Comments were made around nearest, county and catchment areas for schools. 
 

41. The following table provides a summary of the number of responses that mentioned a 
specific secondary school within one of the open ended questions in the second or the 
first consultation. Primary schools were also mentioned but usually in context of a 
transition to a secondary school. 
 

Named Secondary School/College 
 

Secondary School     Second consultation First consultation 
Gartree High/Beauchamp College  22     141 
Martin High      11     17 
South Charnwood High/Winstanley  9     15 
Lutterworth High /College   3    66 
The Market Bosworth School  3     5 
Brockington High & Community College  3    3 
Belvoir High     0    18 
Kibworth High    0    14 
Newbridge Academy   0    4 
Humphrey Perkins    0    2 
 
42. The table gives an indication of which secondary schools the proposed change to 

home to school transport policy are most likely to affect. It shows that the frequency of 
reference to Gartree High School, Beauchamp College, Lutterworth High School and 
Lutterworth College (areas that generated relatively high response rates last time) has 
greatly reduced whereas the frequency of reference to Martin High School, South 
Charnwood High School and Winstanley College remain comparably high across both 
consultations. 
 

Petition presented by Lynton Yates CC to Scrutiny Commission on 30th April 2014 
 
43. A petition submitted signed by 1385 people was presented to the Scrutiny Commission 

by Mr. L. Yates CC, the local County Councillor for Glenfield, requesting that children 
be allowed to continue their education at their local County catchment secondary 
school with transport costs provided where this fell outside the 3 mile distance. 
 

44. An extract from the minutes of the meeting are as follows: 
 

• With the consent of the Chairman, Mr. Yates addressed the Commission and asked 
whether Central Government was likely to change primary legislation or provide 
additional funds to local authorities for school transport. Mr. Yates noted that, since 
compiling the petition, the Council had agreed to consult further on a policy which 
would include provision of free school transport to the nearest suitable 
Leicestershire School and he welcomed this change. This consultation process 
started on 28 April and was due to finish on 15 June (Minute 97 also refers). 

 
• The Director reported that there were no indications that Central Government 

intended to change the primary legislation on school transport, nor was there any 

51



indication that additional funding would be provided. He reminded members that 
there were no reductions to Home to School Transport funding in the Council’s 
current Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 
It was resolved by the Scrutiny Commission: 

 
a) That the petition be considered as part of the new consultation process on 

Home to School Transport Policy; 
 

b) That the Director be asked to have regard to the petition in his report on the 
outcome of the consultation process, which was due to be submitted to the 
Commission at a meeting in July. 

 
45. The further consultation on the Home to School Transport Policy addresses concerns 

about a failure to provide transport to the nearest Leicestershire County Catchment 
School in that it is proposed to provide transport over the relevant statutory distances 
to the nearest Leicestershire school, or admission catchment area school where there 
have been no changes to the admission catchment area or age range since 31st 
May2012. 
 

46. In the case of Martin High School, Anstey, free transport is currently provided to the 
school for Glenfield residents even below the statutory walking distance as there is 
currently no available walking route between Glenfield and Anstey and as this has 
been the traditional catchment school for Glenfield. The Martin High School has 
changed its age range from an 11-14 school to an 11-16 through school which means 
that pupils aged 15 and 16 years (in years 10 and 11) have dual transport eligibility to 
both Martin High School and Longslade Community College and a number of nearer 
schools under the current Home to School Transport Policy. 
 

47.  The adoption of the new policy proposals would mean that there may be (dependant 
on the location  of the pupils home) nearer Leicestershire schools in both Groby and 
Braunstone which  are  less than 3 miles walk and any new pupils starting at Martin 
High School in September 2015 are unlikely to be eligible for free transport. Pupils may 
be eligible if both nearer Leicestershire schools are full at the point of admission 
decisions being made in spring 2015. 
 

48. Transitional arrangements would be in place from September 2015 for any children 
already at Martin High School until the end of their attendance at the school and free 
transport would be provided whilst there is no available walking route. 
 

49. At some point in the future, given recent planning approvals for a housing development 
on Gynsill Lane, it is likely that an available walking route from Glenfield will be created 
by the upgrading to a hard surfaced footpath between that development and Anstey 
village. 

 
 
Proposed Amendment to Policy and its Implications 
 
50. In order to provide clarity and consistency for the policy on Home to School Transport 

and to protect the budget, multiple-eligibility for transport needs to be avoided.  
 

52



51. The addition of entitlement to the nearest Leicestershire school would allow parents to 
express a preference for a school within Leicestershire during the normal admission 
round and attract free home to school transport if the school was the nearest 
Leicestershire school over the statutory walking distance of 2 miles for primary school 
aged children and 3 miles for secondary school aged children. This is a discretionary 
addition to the legal minimum requirement in the original consultation proposal. This 
addition is not expected to incur additional costs to the council.   
 

52. The proposals contained in this report will also accommodate age appropriate transfer 
arrangements and the ‘nearest Leicestershire School’ added to ‘nearest school with 
available spaces’ will address concerns raised about the suitability of transport 
arrangements to schools where the transfer of pupils takes place at points outside of 
the ‘usual’ transfer point at age 11 years (year 7), and where local education provision 
is made via remaining high and upper schools in secondary education. This proposal 
would provide for transport links at appropriate age range transfers over the statutory 
walking distance of 2 and 3 miles. This proposal is not expected to incur additional 
costs to the Council.  

 
The proposed policy will continue to recognise traditional and long -standing 
arrangements where these are still applicable i.e. where there has been no admission 
catchment area or age range changes since 31st May 2012. 
 

53. A similar policy will apply to post-16 transport to 6th form and Further Education 
Colleges in respect of giving the Leicestershire educational establishment options and 
recognising ‘frozen’ school areas. 

 
54. It should also be noted that whilst the new policy is robust, eligibility of children is likely 

to change in future if academies in ‘protected’ areas (where no changes have been 
made since May 2012) make changes, or other academies do so and/or free schools 
open. In these situations it is proposed that the policy will revert to the nearest 
school/nearest Leicestershire school criteria. This is also likely to require transitional 
arrangements to be put in place for children already in a phase of education at affected 
schools. If and when such changes occur then transitional arrangements in paragraph 
58 will apply. 

 
Implications of the Consultation Proposals 
 
55. There can be no doubt that the change proposed represented a radical shift from the 

current arrangements. Certain factors will need to be accounted for, namely: 
 

• Traditional admission catchment areas no longer apply for many schools; 
• Feeder primary school arrangements can and will be broken; 
• The opening of studio or free schools may change transport eligibility patterns from 

one year to the next; 
• There will be a need to decide on continuity of eligibility and any transitional 

arrangements; 
• Detailed procedures and rules will be required and these will be contained in a new 

Home to School Transport Policy if these proposals are agreed. 
• Future age range and admission catchment area changes within the current ‘frozen’ 

areas will lead to changes in entitlement in line with the proposed policy. 
 
 

53



Next steps 
 

56. If agreed by the Cabinet, the amended policy will need to be published no later than 
12th September 2014 if it is to become effective from September 2015. Parents/pupils 
would be advised of school place and transport eligibility decisions from March/April 
2015 for secondary transfers and May 2015 for first time admissions. 
 

57. There will be a need to design appropriate phasing and transitional arrangements. This 
would be to guarantee existing transport arrangements for pupils already part way 
through their educational career path in their current school. Therefore any policy 
change from September 2015 will only affect new intake pupils or pupils transferring to 
a different school. 
 

58. New application processes will need to be designed to deliver transparent transport 
eligibility application and decisions linked to available space in the nearest school for 
the age range of the pupil for whom transport is being applied for. 
 

 

Equal Opportunities Implications 

 
59. The County Council is required to have due regard to the Public Sector Equality duty in 

the exercise of its school transport functions. This requires the Council to have regard 
to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between those who share one of the nine protected characteristics and those 
who do not.  An Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment has been completed 
and is attached as Appendix A to this report. These proposals make significant 
changes to the way in which transport has been provided but do not adversely impact 
on one protected group over another. Transition arrangements are proposed to ensure 
that continuing education is provided at the same school for those wishing to do so. 
 

60. The County Council’s Special Educational Needs Transport Policy provides 
arrangements for those children who fall outside the mainstream policy covered by this 
report and remains unaffected by these proposals. 

 
61. These proposals change the arrangements for home to school transport where schools 

have changed admission catchment areas or age ranges but the County Council has a 
statutory responsibility to provide transport to the nearest school over the relevant 
distances. 
 

62. Post 16 transport proposals are less generous but transport will be provided to the 
nearest 6th form and FE college and nearest Leicestershire 6th form and FE college. A 
low income exemption from the charge is introduced from September 2014 for students 
from qualifying families. 
 

63. Those students under age 16 years from low income families are protected by the 
statutory arrangements which provide enhanced entitlement in relation to free 
transport. 
 

64. Although there will be a reduction from full choice of transport to any suitable college at 
Post 16,students will still have a choice of assisted transport to either an academic or 
vocational based learning opportunity. 
 

54



65. The County Council will provide professional support and advisory services to 
Academies and Colleges who seek to provide a wider range of transport services 
directly to students. 
 

66. The impact of these proposals are mitigated   by the provision of commercial student 
season tickets on commercially operated bus services in Leicestershire; and by some 
schools/colleges assisting with transport arrangements. 

 
Appendices 
 
A - Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment 
B - Consultation responses report 
C - Summary of consultation concerns received by e-mail and letter  
D - Summary of consultation concerns and officer responses 
E - Consultation proposals 
 
Background Papers 
 
Cabinet Report on Home to School Transport 9th July 2013 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003857/AI00035016/$5ResultsofConsultationonChangestoHometoSchoolTransportPolicyandCharging.docA.ps.pdf 

 
Cabinet Report 20th November 2013 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003636/AI00036272/$7hometoschooltransportpolicy.docA.ps.pdf 

 
Scrutiny Commission minute 26th February 2014 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000137/M00003933/$$$Minutes.doc.pdf 

 
Scrutiny Commission report 26th March 2014 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000137/M00003934/AI00037744/$ConsiderationofOptionsforHometoSchoolTransportPolicy.docxA.ps.pdf 

 
Cabinet Report 1st April 2014 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3989&Ver=4 

 
Home to School Travel and Transport Guidance – Department for Education and Skills 
(2007) 

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130401151715/https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/DFES-00373-2007.pdf 

 
Consultation on New home to school travel and transport guidance – Department for 
Education (March 2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/295189/Home_to_School_Transport_Consultation_Document.pdf 

 
Mainstream Home-School/College Transport Policy (July 2013 and May 2014) 
http://www.leics.gov.uk/index/highways/passenger_transport/school_college_transport/school_and_college_transport_entitlement_policy.htm 

 
Your guide to Primary Education in Leicestershire 2014/15 
http://www.leics.gov.uk/web_primary_guide_2014-15_first_section_6.pdf 

 
Your guide to Secondary Education in Leicestershire 2014/15 
http://www.leics.gov.uk/web_secondary_guide_2014-15_first_section_6-2.pdf 

 
Statutory Guidance on the Participation of Young People in Education, 
Employment or Training (March 2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/268972/participation_of_young_people_-_statutory_guidancev3.pdf 

 
Post-16 transport to education and training – Department for Education (February 2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/277016/Post-16_Transport_Guidance.pdf 

55



 

56



 

 

Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment  
– Home to School Transport 

 
Title of service being assessed:   Potential change to Home to School Transport 
policy and non-statutory provision. 
Name of Department:     Department of Environment & Transport 
Name and role of the officers completing this assessment:    
Phil Crossland –  Director  
Tony Kirk – Group Manager, Sustainable Travel 
 
Contact telephone Number:    0116 305 6270 (Tony Kirk) 
Date Assessment completed:   April 2014 
 
Summary of need for assessment update: 
 
The current policy on Mainstream Home to School Transport has not substantially 
changed since it was determined in 2006.  The policy was made subject to a rider with 
effect from 31st May 2012 in effect crystallising catchment areas, applicable age ranges 
and eligibility for free transport at that point (referred to as Transport Eligibility Areas – 
TEAs).  This position is no longer tenable and a new policy is required.  
 
The context for developing a new policy is that schools that were once under the control of 
the County Council, as academies, have already or are looking to change age ranges and 
admission catchment areas.  Government policy also encourages the formation of new 
schools, such as free schools and studio schools, which will set their own admission 
catchment areas. 
 
Under the previous regime, admission catchment areas did not overlap, therefore there 
was no ambiguity about which was the school to which a pupil would be entitled to be 
given statutory free transport.  In practice, there were instances where the catchment 
school was further from the child’s home than another school and the policy for transport 
was catchment or nearer school.  In certain instances, the nearer school was actually 
outside the county. 
 
Overlap of admission catchment areas creates dual or multiple eligibility for transport, if all 
admission catchment areas are deemed valid for transport entitlement purposes. Academy 
Trusts are not required to take into account existing catchment areas nor respect 
administrative boundaries when determining their own admission catchment areas. The 
proposed new policy will seek to make it clear which areas are eligible to transport 
assistance to which school and will allow Leicestershire residents to continue to have 
transport provided to Leicestershire schools when over qualifying distances. 
 
Defining the service: 
 
1.  What are the aims, objectives of purpose of the service?  Are these reflected in 
the relevant service plan? 
 
The purpose of the home to school transport service is to enable young people to benefit 
from free travel to and from school, if they live more than the distance specified by statute 
from their nearest or TEA school. Other discretionary concessions are currently available, 
including transport for students remaining at school beyond statutory school age, transport 
for students attending denominational schools and transport for non-entitled students at a 

Appendix A 
57



 

 

cost to the user. The potential changes to the scheme would involve discontinuing the 
concession that allows children of statutory school age to have free transport to their 
traditional catchment school when that school has become an academy and changed its 
admissions catchment area and/or age range.  
 
The proposal is that for  pupils aged between 5 and 16 years we will continue to provide 
free transport for pupils who live over the statutory walking distances (2 miles for primary 
age and 3 miles for secondary age) from home to the nearest school (or educational 
placement) with available spaces; but in addition we propose providing: 
 

• free transport to the nearest Leicestershire school, with places available.  A school 
will not be seen as appropriate for these purposes if it does not offer a transfer entry 
point that is compatible with the current school attended by the pupil 

but 
• where there have been no changes to the catchment area or age ranges of pupils 
attending the school since May 2012 we propose continuing free transport to the 
catchment area school in those areas 

 
Similar proposals are being made for Post 16 students – giving the choice of nearest 
school or Sixth Form/Further Education College or nearest Leicestershire school or Sixth 
Form/Further Education College; but where there have been no changes to catchment 
areas or age ranges since May 2012 to continue to provide free transport to the catchment 
school in those areas.  
 
 
2. What outcomes does the service want to achieve and for whom?  How have these 
been determined?  Please also list any relevant performance indicators. 
 
The legal framework (Education Act1996 (as amended) and statutory guidance) 
determines the requirements for the home to school transport service. The desired 
outcomes are that available school transport services fulfils the statutory duties and that 
those students entitled to free travel under the arrangements currently stipulated use the 
services provided. The potential changes to the scheme may provide some protection 
against the risk of additional transport costs in future. There are no specific performance 
indicators related to this provision, although the use of home to school transport by those 
entitled has a beneficial impact by reducing the numbers of car journeys made in the 
county of Leicestershire and in relieving congestion and improving safety around schools 
at opening and closing times. Providing this service also makes it easier for parents to 
ensure students’ attendance at school.   
 
During the 2012/13 academic year there were approximately 3,500 students taking up the 
existing subsidised 16+ transport scheme.   
 
3.  Who is responsible for delivering the service?  Are there any other organisations 
involved?  If other organisations are involved are they fully compliant with the 
Council’s Equality Policy? 
 
Leicestershire County Council is responsible for delivering the service.  The Sustainable 
Travel Group work in tandem with private bus service companies and taxi companies to 
deliver the service.  These external organisations are aware and supportive of the 
Council’s Equality Policy. 

58



 

 

4.  Consider the answers given questions 1, 2 and 3 and assess whether your service results, or could result in adverse 
impact on or discrimination against different groups of people.  If you consider that there is adverse impact or 
discrimination, or the potential for either, please outline below and state whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give your 
reasons for this. 
 
 

Target Equality 
Group 

Does it have a Positive 
Impact? 

Does it have a Negative 
Impact? 

 

If it has a negative impact, is 
the level of this impact high 

or low? 

Age 
 

Yes. The statutory requirement 
provides a service specifically to 
children of statutory school age. 

No in respect of children under 
16. There is a statutory 
requirement to provide transport 
to the nearest school only, with 
available spaces. This policy 
proposal still provides transport 
over and above that minimum 
requirement. Yes for Post 16 
students.  Reducing the range of 
the current discretionary 
provision may make it more 
difficult for 16 to 19 year olds to 
access further education.   
NB: it is noted that new 
legislation commenced in 
September 2013 that requires 
young people up to the age of 17 
to be in education or training 
(Raising Participation Age - 
RPA). There has been no 
corresponding change of 
legislation requiring LAs to 
provide transport for this. The 
RPA increases up to 18 years of 
age from September 2015.  

Low. 
 
Those students under age 16 
from low income families are 
protected by additional special 
statutory arrangements in 
respect of school choice with 
free transport.  
 
Post 16 students on low income 
are exempt from the charge for 
transport assistance and all 
Post 16 students will still retain 
an element of choice of 
educational establishments.   
 
Although there will be a 
reduction from full choice of any 
suitable college at Post 16; 
students will still have a choice 
of assisted transport to either an 
academic or vocational based 
learning opportunity. 
 
The Sustainable Transport 

5
9



 

 

Group will provide professional 
services to academies and 
Colleges seeking to provide a 
wider range of transport 
services directly to students. 
 
The impact is lessened by the 
provision of commercial student 
season tickets on commercially 
operated bus services in 
Leicestershire; and by some 
schools/colleges assisting with 
transport arrangements. 
 

Belief or faith 
 

No change proposed. The current 
discretionary policy provides a 
service specifically to students 
attending schools chosen for 
reasons of faith: similar provision is 
not generally available to other 
students falling outside the statutory 
requirements to provide school 
transport. 

No.   

Disability 
 

No. Transport for disabled students 
and those with special educational 
needs is provided under different 
policy and provisions.  

No. Transport for disabled 
students and those with special 
educational needs is provided 
under different policy and 
provisions.  

 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

No. An individual’s sexual 
orientation does not feature in the 
administration of school transport 
and is not relevant in respect of 
younger children. 

No. An individual’s sexual 
orientation does not feature in 
the administration of school 
transport and is not relevant in 
respect of younger children.   

 

Gender No. An individual’s gender does not No. An individual’s gender does  

6
0



 

 

 feature in the administration of 
school transport. 

not feature in the administration 
of school transport.   

Race 
 

Yes. Documents are available in 
alternative languages. 
 

No. An individual’s race does not 
feature in the administration of 
school transport. 

 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

No. An individual’s marital status 
does not feature in the 
administration of school transport. 

No. An individual’s marital status 
does not feature in the 
administration of school 
transport. 

 

Gender 
reassignment 

No. An individual’s gender 
reassignment does not feature in the 
administration of school transport. 

No. An individual’s gender 
reassignment does not feature in 
the administration of school 
transport. 

 

Pregnancy or 
maternity 

No. An individual’s pregnancy or 
maternity does not feature in the 
administration of school transport. 

No. An individual’s pregnancy or 
maternity does not feature in the 
administration of school 
transport. 

 

 

6
1



 

 

 
 
Other relevant factors to the assessment are as follows:  
 

• Providing free travel to the nearest school to a child’s home address that is over the 
statutory walking distance is a legal requirement. However, providing free travel to 
the TEA school when it is not the nearest school is discretionary. Current policy is 
therefore inequitable since as a result some children are entitled to free travel to a 
school that is not the nearest school as well as free travel to a nearer school, while 
other families are denied free travel to any other school than their nearest school. 

• The current discretionary arrangement incurs additional costs for the council. In the 
current economic and funding climate the County Council may not feel it is able to 
fund non-statutory services. 

• Consultations are being conducted to seek interested persons views and opinions 
on whether to continue funding non-statutory services. It is noted that the residents’ 
response to the Council’s recent public consultation on its Medium Term Financial 
Strategy was to list “Travel to Schools” as the targeted service that most warranted 
a budget reduction.  

• In many cases, students will be able to find alternative means of transport, albeit at 
a generally higher cost. 

• There is no requirement to offer discretionary home to school transport services and 
an increasing number of other Local Authorities have already ceased providing 
these services or are considering opting not to do so for budgetary reasons. 

• Notwithstanding the above, the Authority has responded to previous consultation 
responses by recognising the request to continue to provide transport to the 
traditional catchment school only when that school has not changed either its 
admissions catchment area or age range. It will also additionally offer transport to 
the nearest Leicestershire school if this is not the nearest school. 

 
5.  Are the human rights of individuals potentially affected by this proposal? Could 
there be an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
 

Explain why you consider that any particular article in the Human Rights Act may 
apply to your policy/ practice/ function or procedure and how the human rights of 
individuals are likely to be affected below: [NB. Include positive and negative 
impacts as well as barriers in benefiting from the above proposal] 
 

  Yes No Comments 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms  
 

Article 2: Right to life   ����  

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 ����  

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 ����  

62



 

 

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 ����  

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  ����  Any new policy will reflect the 
requirement to have an internal 

appeals process in place.  Revised 
procedures to determine the level 
of service provision, the letting of 

contracts and the awarding of 
contracts will need to be fair and 

transparent.     

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 ����  

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

����  Any new transport picking 
up/dropping off points arising from 

the proposed change in 
arrangements should be chosen to 

minimise disruption to or 
interference with adjoining or 

nearby private properties.  

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion  

 ���� Discretionary provision to help 
children attending faith schools is 
not affected by these proposals. 

Article 10: Right to freedom 
of expression 

 ����  

Article 11: Right to freedom 
of assembly and association  

 ����  

Article 12: Right to marry  ����  

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 ���� Although the proposed policy 
includes positive discrimination 

duties to help low income families, 
this is required by law and does 

not arise out of a protected ground. 
There is no discrimination in 

relation to any other convention 
rights.   

 
Part 2: The First Protocol  
 

Article 1: Protection of 
property/ peaceful 
enjoyment  

 ����  

Article 2: Right to education  
  

 ����  

Article 3: Right to free 
elections  
 

 ����  

Is there evidence or any other reason to 
suggest that: 

Yes 
 

No 
 

Unknown 

63



 

 

 
a) this policy could have a different 

affect or adverse impact on any 
section of the community; 
 

b) any section of the community may 
face barriers in benefiting from the 
proposal 

 
 
 

 
���� 
 

 

  
 
���� 

 

Based on the answers to the questions above, what is the likely impact of this 
policy?   
 

 
No Impact  

 
Positive Impact 

 
Neutral Impact 

 
Negative Impact or 
Impact Unknown 

 
 
 

Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
particular Articles in the Human Rights Act are likely apply to your policy. Are the 
human rights of any individuals or community groups affected by this proposal? Is 
there an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
 

 Comments 
 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms 
  

Article 2: Right to life  
 

 

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  
 

As at present, there may be disputes about 
eligibility for assistance under the proposed 
criteria, and about the letting and awarding of 
transport contracts. Human rights can be 
protected by implementing fair and 
transparent procedures and a robust appeals 
system overseen by senior council officers. 
The Council operates such a system. 

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 

  ����  

64



 

 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion 

The council does not have a statutory 
obligation to provide assisted transport to 
faith schools but will continue to provide 
transport assistance on a discretionary basis 
to help children attend such schools. This 
provision will be reduced in future years and 
has been assessed by a separate 
consultation. 

Article 10: Right to freedom of 
expression 

 

Article 11: Right to freedom of 
assembly and association  

 

Article 12: Right to marry 
 

 

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

The proposed policy includes positive 
discrimination to help low income families, as 
required by law. 

 
Part 2: The First Protocol 
 

Article 1: Protection of property/ 
peaceful enjoyment  
 

 

Article 2: Right to education 
   
 

 

Article 3: Right to free elections  
 

 

 
 
 
6.  If you have identified adverse impact of discrimination that is justifiable or 
legitimate, you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect 
on those groups of people.  This arises out of the duty to promote good relations 
between people of different groups and is in keeping with the Council’s approach to 
social cohesion. 
 

List process and criteria Essential? Barriers identified and groups 
affected 

Public consultation Yes All affected groups (largely 
parents and 
schools/academies/colleges) are 
invited to comment on the 
proposals. The consultation 
documentation is available by 
web, post and large print on 
request. 

 
 
7. Consider what barriers you can remove, and what reasonable adjustment may be 
necessary to ensure the service is accessible (this could include providing the 

65



 

 

service elsewhere).  Consider what actions you will need to take to address any 
unmet needs that you have identified.   
 
Barriers and reasonable adjustments: 
 
Literature about the scheme must be accessible and so must be clear, simple and concise 
avoiding jargon where possible. Some language barriers may still exist, but the use of the 
County Council’s corporately procured interpreting service may mitigate most of these.  
Application forms signpost the availability of versions in alternative languages.   
 
Reasonable adjustments include ensuring that all literature should be available in other 
formats upon request and available through schools and colleges, as well as directly to 
students, parents and guardians via the County Council website.   
 
   
 
8(a).  What does analysis of the data tell you about how well your service is meeting 
the needs of the various equality groups?  How up to date is the information. 
 
The statutory home to school transport service is used by a large majority of students who 
qualify for transport assistance. If the proposed new policy is adopted, it is likely to lead to 
a reduction in the need for Council services but it is accepted that there are alternatives for 
some users (public transport; commercial school services; school-subsidised services).   
 
There is currently some resistance to use of the discretionary services for students beyond 
statutory school age and those travelling to faith schools. The reasons are cost of the 
service compared to alternatives; the duration of some home-to-school journeys and the 
inconvenience for 16 to 18 year old students of not being able to vary their daily start and 
finish times if using the services. These reasons apply across all equality strands within 
the eligible groups. 
 
 
(b)  Which groups of people are you hearing from?  Are there groups of people that 
you are not hearing from?  What can you do to ensure that people are able to 
provide feedback on the service?  Is there information on service user needs held 
by other services that would be appropriate for your services? 
 

Data Type Source (s) Analysis of the data and/or 
gaps in information 

When last 
gathered 

Compliments, 
complaints and 
comments 

Feedback 
through drivers, 
bus companies, 
school staff and 
the County 
Council’s 
Customer 
Services Centre 
and website. 

Verbal and written comments, 
including compliments and 
complaints 

Ongoing 

66



 

 

Consultation 
responses 

Widely circulated 
consultation 
document about 
potential changes 
to the scheme 

Responses by web, phone 
and hard copy 

Feb/March 
2014 

Individual 
appeals against 
refusal of 
eligibility to 
transport 
assistance 

Written appeals. Appeals processed by a 2 
Stage system. Can highlight 
areas of concern. 

Ongoing 

Post 16 
Transport Forum 

Quarterly 
meetings 
attended by all 
regional Post 16 
FE 
establishments 

Provides conduit for student 
voice at Post 16 

Regular 

 
 
9. Social cohesion is a priority for Councils. Review all the actions and targets that 
you have identified as a result of this equality impact assessment as to what social 
cohesion issues could arise. 
 
The potential changes to home-to-school transport may very marginally reduce social 
cohesion due to preventing a minority of students of non-statutory school age from 
pursuing further education, although an exemption to the charge for those students from 
qualifying low income backgrounds will provide some mitigation. It is also thought that the 
potential for a reduction in social cohesion would not be any different in Leicestershire to 
places elsewhere where the discretionary home-to-school transport service is not 
provided. 
 
 

67



 

 

10. Action Plan 
 

Objective Actions Targets Responsible Officer By when 

Explain service 
changes to all 
groups 

Publicise via County Council website, through 
schools and in published guidelines leaflets for 
students, parents, school staff, Post 16 Forum 
and transport contractors.  Make information in 
alternative languages and formats available.   

Ensure information is 
clear, concise and 
available to all. 

Group Manager In sufficient time both to 
allow parents and 
students to assess 
choices on future 
education. Also to allow 
time to complete 
relevant application 
forms and to allow LCC 
staff to make transport 
arrangements for 
students. Long lead time 
– changes will not take 
place until September 
2015. 

 
 

NOTE: this document remains in draft format as Leicestershire County Council will continue to review and update it as the 
consultation progresses and any new issues emerge. 

 

6
8



1 

Proposed Changes to School Transport 
Results From The Second Consultation 

Home to school transport policy for students aged 11-14 

Home to school transport policy for students aged 16+ 

The proposed transition arrangements 

July 2014 

Research and Insight Team 

Leicestershire County Council 

6
9



2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sharon Pye           Divya Patel 

Research Manager         Research Officer 

Research & Insight Team        Research & Insight Team        

Strategy, Partnerships & Communities      Strategy, Partnerships & Communities 

Leicestershire County Council       Leicestershire County Council 

County Hall, Glenfield         County Hall, Glenfield 

Leicester LE3 8RB         Leicester LE3 8RB 
 

Tel  0116 305 7413        Tel  0116 305 7257 

Email  Sharon.Pye@leics.gov.uk       Email  Divya.Patel@leics.gov.uk   

 

 

Produced by the Research and Insight Team at Leicestershire County Council. 
 

With support from: 

Environment and Transport, Leicestershire County Council 

Communications Team, Leicestershire County Council 

 

 

 

 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this report, Leicestershire County Council 

cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating to the data contained within the report. 

 

7
0



1 

 

Contents 
 

Introduction 

Background 

Methodology 

Report Overview 

Headline Findings 

Detailed Findings 

Respondent profile 

Appendix One - Questionnaire (web) 

Appendix Two - Questionnaire (paper) 

 

Introduction 
 

During February and March 2014 Leicestershire County Council ran a 

consultation on proposed changes to its home to school transport 

policy. Just over 2,000 responses were received along with a number 

of alternative policy suggestions.  It was clear from these responses 

that there were a number of concerns about the proposals.  

 

The main concerns voiced were: 

 the ability to express preference for a traditional catchment 

school rather than a nearer school that could be in a 

neighbouring local authority 

that appropriate transport should be provided when pupils 

change school, taking into account the different ages at which  

pupils transfer into secondary education (either at 10 or 11 

years old) 

 

These concerns and suggestions were listened to and where possible 

the proposals were adjusted to accommodate them. A second 

consultation was then run.   

This report sets out the findings from the second consultation on 

proposed changes to Leicestershire County Council’s transport 

policy which took place between 28th April and 16th June 2014 in 

context of the findings from the first consultation. 

 

The aim of this report is to understand different opinions on 

Leicestershire County Council’s revised proposals for changes to 

transport policy relating to home to school transport for mainstream 

schools. 

 

As before, the results from this consultation will be used to inform 

the recommendations of the Cabinet Report and the subsequent 

redrafting of the transport policy. 

 

Background 

 
The current policy: 

Schools in Leicestershire have two stages of secondary education 

(covering 11-16 years of age) up to GCSE level, with high schools for 

10/11-14 year olds and upper schools for 15-16 year olds. 

 

Transport and catchment areas have developed over time to take 

account of traditional boundaries and school capacity. This was to 

ensure that high and upper schools had enough students to fill the 

school. In practice, this meant that pupils were transported to 

schools with space and not necessarily their nearest school.  The 

current policy (http://www.leics.gov.uk/

school_and_college_transport_entitlement_policy) 

states that free transport is offered to: 

primary school pupils who attend the catchment area 

school for their home address (or other nearer school) 

and the distance is more than 2 miles and  

Page No. 
1 

1 

4 

4 

5 

5 

17 

20 

23 

7
1



2 

 

secondary school pupils who attend the catchment area 

school for their home address (or other nearer school) 

and the distance is more than 3 miles.   

 

 

Why the current policy needs to change: 

The impact of schools locally moving to academy status and coming 

out of council control means that Leicestershire County Council is 

having to consider a change in the current policy. The reasons being: 

Some academies have already changed their admission 

catchment areas – a decision made independently from 

the council. 

Some schools and academies have changed already, or 

are considering a change, to an 11-16 age range.  (This 

means that high schools currently taking 10 or 11 - 14 year 

olds will also take 15 - 16 year olds and upper schools 

taking 15-16 year olds will also take 11 - 14 year olds). 

These changes to age ranges mean the catchment area is 

also changed, resulting in a number of transport eligibility 

areas overlapping. 

 

The changes we are now proposing: 

To take into account the change to traditional catchment areas, we 

were proposing that free transport for pupils over the statutory 

walking distances (2 miles for primary age and 3 miles for secondary 

age) is given only to the nearest school (or educational placement) 

with available spaces  to the pupil’s home address. The nearest school 

is measured by the shortest road distance over these walking 

distances. 

 

To take into account key concerns raised in the previous consultation 

we are now proposing that the policy remains as above but in 

addition we will provide: 

free transport to the nearest Leicestershire school, with places 

available. A school will not be seen as appropriate if it doesn’t 

offer a transfer entry point that is compatible with the current 

school attended by the pupil 

But, 

where there have been no changes to catchments or age 

ranges since May 2012 to continue free transport to the 

catchment school in those areas 

 

 

These new proposals will exceed the legal duty we have to

provide transport over the statutory distance to the nearest school. 

This doesn’t prevent parents from choosing a different school for 

their child but it does mean that transport will not be free if the 

school chosen is not the nearest.   

 

The likely impact: 

The likely impact of our proposals is that free transport to primary 

schools will remain largely unchanged. But for areas where age 

range and/or catchment areas have changed since May 2012 then 

transport will be provided to the nearest school or nearest 

Leicestershire school. 

 

For those schools that have not changed admissions areas or age 

ranges, transport will continue to be provided from their traditional 

geographic catchment area school or to the nearest school until 

such time as a change occurs within these areas. This may be either 

by the school itself or by neighbouring schools at which point 

transport would be provided to the nearest school or nearest 

Leicestershire school. 

 

7
2



3 

 

In effect the policy recognises where change has occurred, maintains 

the same arrangements where change hasn’t happened but is clear 

what will happen if changes occur in the future. 

 

Under these proposals, primary children who attend a school without 

a year 6 (age 10+) will be provided with transport to the nearest 

appropriate secondary school with spaces, and with a year 6. In 

September 2014, secondary schools accepting children at year 6 are: 

Shepshed High School, Castle Donington Community College, Gartree 

High School, Manor High School, Bushloe High School and Abington 

Academy. 

 

There are extended rights for low income families.  

 

The current policy for 16+ transport: 

In addition, our current policy says that students who live more than 

three miles away from either the nearest school sixth form or nearest 

post 16 further education college are eligible for assisted transport. 

Currently, students can also get assisted transport if they attend a 

school or college which is further away if it is the nearest which offers 

their chosen course. 

 

The charge for 16+ transport for the 2014/15 academic year will be 

£425 and there is an exemption to this charge for students from a 

qualifying low income background. 

 

New government guidance has raised the age to which young people 

have a requirement to stay in education, employment or training. 

There has been no change in the legislation governing transport for 

those aged 16+ so this remains a discretionary service that we don’t 

have to provide.  

 

 

The changes to 16+ transport we are now proposing: 

We were proposing to continue to offer transport on a discretionary 

basis at a charge of £425 to either the nearest school or to the 

nearest post 16 Further Education college.  But to withdraw a 

“choice”. For example, the policy currently allows a student to travel 

to the school or college offering their chosen course. In future, we 

would not transport to a school/college that is further away because 

the course is not available at the nearest school/college. 

 

The new proposals are to provide transport over 3 miles from home 

as above but in addition to provide 

transport to the nearest Leicestershire Further Education 

college 

or 

transport to the nearest Leicestershire school sixth form but 

to continue providing transport to the catchment school with a 

sixth form in areas where there have been no changes to 

catchments or age range since May 2012 

 

There will still be a charge for those who are eligible to post 16 

transport assistance (unless they are from a low income family).  

 

The likely impact of changes to 16+ transport: 

Assisted transport for 16+ students would be more limited and these 

proposals wouldn’t allow for students to attend a school or college 

which is further away if it offers their chosen course. 

 

There will, however, be a commercial bus service alternative for 

most students. There will still be a charge for eligible students unless 

they are from a low income family. 

 

 

7
3



4 

 

Transitional arrangements: 

These proposals remain unchanged by the new proposals. During the 

transition phase from the old policy to the new, the council is 

proposing that any change to the policy will only affect pupils 

entering into primary education or transferring to a secondary school 

in September 2015. 

 

So a child who is already part way through their education and 

currently has transport will continue to receive transport until they 

reach a transfer point where they would have to leave or move to a 

new school because of their age. Eligibility for free transport would be 

reassessed at this point - as it is currently. 

 

For 16+ students who qualify for transport assistance under the old 

policy, the proposal is that they will remain eligible providing they 

stay on the same course. If they change course, start a new one or 

their personal circumstances change (move address for example) 

then they will be reassessed under the new policy. 

 

 

Methodology 
 

The questionnaire (see Appendix One for a web version and Appendix 

Two for a paper version) was made available on the County Council’s 

website and hard copies were available on request.  

 

As before awareness of the online consultation was raised through: a 

series of press releases which generated coverage in the local and 

national media; through the council's twitter feed; a banner which 

ran on the internet home page at periods throughout the 

consultation; direct notification to all Leicestershire schools, 

academies and colleges via Email and hardcopy letter (the same to 

the main out-of-County schools); direct letter to all neighbouring local 

authorities; through the county council staff intranet; and through 

the council's Members' Information Service. 

 

Report Overview 
 

This report provides a headline summary for the findings of the 

consultation.  The following sections are reviewed: 

 

1. Home to School Transport Policy for students aged 11 - 16 

2. Home to School Transport Policy for students aged 16+  

3. The proposed transitional arrangements 

 

The report also identifies the views of different demographic groups  

and which people are more likely to be concerned about specific 

policy proposals. 

 

In order to identify difference by demographic groups each of the 

demographic questions in the ‘About You’ section were cross-

tabulated against all the remaining questions in the consultation. 

Statistical tests
1
 were calculated to identify significant differences. 

Where significant relationships were found they were reported.   

 

The demographic questions included were: 

Gender 

Age 

Long standing illness or disability 

Ethnicity 

Parent or carer of a young person 

Use home to school transport provided by the County council 

Post 16 students use transport provided by the County Council 

County School employee 

School governor 

Religion 

Number of cars or vans in the household 

1
 Standardized residuals were calculated as a test of significance along with Chi Square. 

7
4



5 

 

Respondents were also asked to include details of their home 

postcode and this was used to identify the district council and 

postcode district of respondent’s home address. 

 

Tag Clouds
2
 have also been provided to show the frequency of 

words captured in the open-ended questions. 

 

The full comments received during the consultation were passed 

onto the service for consideration.  
 

Headlines Findings 

 

The second ‘Consultation on Proposed Changes to Home to School 

Transport Policy’ survey received 398 responses compared to the 

2,027 responses received in the first consultation. This would 

suggest that the new proposals may have succeeded in allaying  a 

high proportion of the concerns raised by respondents in the first 

consultation.  

 

In summary: 

 

Home to School Transport Policy for students aged 11 - 16 

73% of respondents disagreed
3
 with the second proposed policy 

for the change to home to school transport for students aged 11 

- 16 compared to 88% of respondents who disagreed with the 

first proposed policy change. 

 

Home to School Transport Policy for students aged 16+  

64% of respondents disagreed with the second proposed policy 

for the change to home to school transport for students aged 

16+  compared to 86% of respondents who disagreed with the 

first proposed policy change. 
 

The proposed transitional arrangements 

57% of respondents disagreed with the proposed transitional 

arrangements in the second consultation and 60% of 

respondents disagreed with the same arrangements in the first 

consultation. 

 

Although the reduction in the number of respondents answering the 

second consultation suggest that the new proposals have addressed 

many of the concerns raised in the first consultation. The proportion 

of respondents who disagreed with the new proposals remain high. 

The following sections will help determine whether the profile of 

these respondents remain similar to the previous respondents and 

whether their concerns are similar or different to those raised 

before.   

 

Detailed Findings 
 

The following sections report the overall summary findings of the 

second consultation and highlight any significant differences by 

demographic group. Only where statistical significance was found by 

different demographic group is it reported. Where appropriate, these 

results are placed in context of the findings from the first 

consultation. 

 

 

2  
Tag Clouds show the most commonly reported words. 

3
 Throughout the report is  agreed is used as a collective term for those that either ‘Strongly Agree’ 

or ‘Agree’ and disagreed is used as a collective term for those that either ’Strongly Disagree’ or 

’Disagree’. 

7
5



6 

 

Home to School Transport Policy for students aged 11 - 16 
 

 
 

Headlines: 

Nearly three quarters of respondents disagreed with the new 

proposed policy change (73.3%), compared with 87.7% in the 

first consultation 

Nearly a quarter agreed (22.4%) with the new proposed policy 

change compared to 9.7% previously. 

 

 
 

Demographic differences: 

 
In the second consultation those living in Blaby were more 

likely than others to strongly disagree with the proposed policy 

change (90.4%). 

In the first consultation those living in Harborough (88.6%) and 

those whose nearest school was in the city (89.0%) were more 

likely than others to strongly disagree to the proposed policy 

change. 
 

 
In the second consultation no groups were more likely than 

others to disagree with the proposed policy change. 

Question: Do you agree or disagree with the Council's proposed  

policy for the provision of transport to schools and academies? 

% 

proposal 

Strongly 

Agree 

Agree Neither  Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Don't 

Know 

Second 10.1 12.3 2.5 7.8 66.5 0.8 

First 5.1 4.6 2.1 6.6 81.1 0.4 

Strongly Disagree … 

Disagree … 

In the first consultation those whose nearest school was in the 

county (9.8%) and those living in Charnwood Borough (18.5%) were 

more likely than others to disagree with the proposed policy 

change. 

 

 

In the second consultation those living in Harborough were more 

likely than others to strongly agree  (33.8%) to the proposed policy 

change. 

In the first consultation those who were not a parent or carer of a 

child (10.2%) and those living in North West Leicestershire (10.1%) 

were more likely than others to strongly agree with the proposed 

policy change. 
  

 

In the second consultation those living in North West Leicestershire 

(41.2%) and Harborough (33.8%) more likely than others to agree 

to the proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation those whose nearest school was in the 

county (7.4%) and those living in North West Leicestershire (11.1%) 

and Charnwood Borough (10.2%).were more likely than others to 

agree with the proposed policy change.  
 

 
In the second consultation no groups were more likely than others 

to agree nor disagree with the proposed policy change. 
 

 

In the second consultation no groups were more likely than others 

to don’t know to the proposed policy change. 

Strongly Agree … 

Agree … 

Neither Agree nor Disagree … 

Don’t Know … 

7
6



7 

 

The table below provides a count and percentage ‘disagreed’ for the 

second and first consultation by  postcode district. 

 

Count and Percentage Disagreed by Postcode District  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following set of maps give an indication the geographical location of 

respondents for the second and first consultation. 

  

Map of Number of respondents by Postcode District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map of Leicester and Leicestershire LE postcode districts (for reference) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1
 Percentage Disagreed  is based upon those respondents that provided a valid postcode 

therefore the figure may vary slightly from the overall figure 

April 2014 February 2014 

Postcode District 

Number of 

respondents 

Disagreed 

Apr(%) 

Disagreed 

Feb(%) Change 

le3 114 97.4% 89.7% p 

le7 62 66.7% 94.9% q 

le17 22 95.5% 93.6% p 

le67 12 0.0% 79.5% q 

cv13 9 55.6% 91.7% q 

le12 9 77.8% 78.3% q 

le14 9 55.6% 85.7% q 

le9 8 40.0% 78.1% q 

de12 5 40.0% 63.2% q 

le4 5 80.0% 73.5% p 

le8 5 19.4% 82.2% q 

cv9 3 66.7% 96.9% q 

de11 3 0.0% 77.8% q 

le10 3 33.3% 66.7% q 

le13 3 66.7% 73.3% q 

le16 3 100.0% 81.8% p 

le11 2 50.0% 83.3% q 

le19 2 50.0% 100.0% q 

le2 2 50.0% 85.9% q 

le5 2 0.0% 95.1% q 

ng32 2 100.0% 78.6% p 

de74 1 0.0% 66.7% q 

le93 1 62.5%   

ng12 1 100.0%    

le65 0 0.0% 14.3% q 

 288 68.1% 
1
87.6% q 

7
7



8 

 

Map of the percentage of respondents who ’disagreed’ by Postcode 

District 

This second set of maps show the percentage of respondents who 

disagreed with the proposed changes to the home to school policy for 

11-16 year olds for the second and first consultation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map of Leicester and Leicestershire LE postcode districts (for reference) 

 

 

The table and maps show the highest concentration  of respondents 

to the second consultation live in LE3 which includes Leicester 

Forest East, Braunstone and Glenfield, LE7 which borders the north 

east edge of Leicester City and includes towns and villages such as 

Thurnby, Houghton on the Hill, Scraptoft and Anstey and LE17 which 

covers Lutterworth Town and surrounding villages.  

 

Of these, LE7 shows a marked reduction in the percentage of 

respondents that disagreed with the new proposals (94.9% down to 

66.7%), whereas LE3 and LE17 remained consistently high in the 

proportion of respondents that disagreed with the new proposals. 

 

Comments that were particular to LE3 made reference to South 

Charnwood High School and Martin High School.  Both sets of 

respondents were in the main concerned about the loss of school 

bus transport to their traditional catchment school.  

 

Comments emanating from LE7 mentioned Gartree High School and 

Beauchamp College and tended to express a high level of 

uncertainly about what the new proposals would actually mean in 

their particular circumstances. 

February 2014 April 2014 

7
8



9 

 

desire to send their child to the best not the nearest school 

without incurring a cost to do so. 

The impact on the road network and environment of parents 

having to transport their own children. 

The safety of the child. Some high schools were within the three 

mile cut off but were not accessible by public footpaths or were 

only accessible along busy main roads. 

The new proposals were seen as unfair because they did not 

offer the same level of provision to all pupils/ families. 

The new proposals were deemed unclear. Some parents 

remained uncertain as to whether pupils would be able to choose 

their nearest Leicestershire School now and/or would be able to 

do so in the future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The above question received 194 (48.7%) responses.  

 

Comments made included three main points of view: 

 

Those that generally agreed with the new proposals and saw them 

as a positive change, incorporating the concerns expressed in the 

previous consultation. 

 

Those that disagreed with the new proposals as they believed these 

extra concessions should not have been made, instead saying the 

original proposals should have been implemented as they were. 

Also those that disagreed with the new proposals as they believed 

they did not restrict school transport provision far enough, stating if 

some parents were now to be charged than all parents should be 

charged. 

 

Those that disagreed with the new proposals for being too 

restrictive for at least one of the following reasons: 

Traditional catchments should be maintained to ensure 

continuity for pupils and to capitalise from the proven 

working relationships between feeder schools and high 

schools. 

The impact on faith schools 

Society should invest in school transport now so that pupils 

could maximise their potential and so benefit society later. 

Parental choice would be curtailed. Parents expressed a 

Open ended question: Please use the space below to let us know 

any other comments on our proposed policy for the provision of 

transport to schools and academies: 

7
9



10 

 

Age 16+ transport 
 

 
 

Headlines: 

Nearly two-thirds of respondents disagreed with the new proposed 

policy change (64.1) compared to 85.7% of respondents in the first 

consultation 

Two out of ten agreed (22.0%) with the new proposed policy change 

compared to 7.0% previously. 
 

 
 

Demographic differences: 

 
In the second consultation those living in Blaby (58.9%) were now 

more likely than others to strongly disagree with the proposed 

policy change. 

In the first consultation those whose nearest school was in the city 

(81.8%) and those living in Harborough (81.0%) were more likely 

than others to strongly disagree with the proposed policy change. 

 

 
In the second consultation no groups were more likely than others 

to disagree. 

In the first consultation those whose nearest school was in the 

county (14.2%), those that had the use of two or more cars or vans 

Question: Do you agree or disagree with the Council's proposal to 

remove the subsidy from post-16 transport to colleges? 

% Proposal Strongly 

Agree 

Agree Neither  Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Don't 

Know 

Second 10.5 11.5 9.2 9.7 54.4 4.6 

First 3.3 3.7 5.7 10.7 75.0 1.8 

Strongly Disagree … 

Disagree … 

(13.3%) and those living in Charnwood Borough and Melton 

Borough (25.5%, 17.6%) were more likely than others to disagree  

with the proposed policy change. 
 

 

In the second consultation those living in North West 

Leicestershire (33.8%) were again more likely than others to 

agree with the proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation those whose nearest school was outside 

of the county (10.1%) and those living in Hinckley and Bosworth 

District and North West Leicestershire (9.4%, 9.3%) were more 

likely than others to agree with the proposed policy change. 
  

 

In the second consultation those living in Harborough (33.8%) 

were now more likely than others to strongly agree with the 

proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation Males (4.8%), those aged 45-64 (4.6%), 

those who were not a parent or carer of a child (7.9%), those who 

did not use the transport to education (5.3%), those that were a 

governor (7.2%) and those living in North West Leicestershire 

(9.3%) were more likely than others to strongly agree with the 

proposed policy change.   

 
In the second consultation those aged 65 years or over (33.3%) 

were more likely than others to neither agree nor disagree to the 

second proposed policy change. 
  

 

In the second consultation those who did not use the transport to 

education (11.2%) were more likely than others to say don’t know 

with the proposed policy change. 
  

Agree … 

Strongly Agree … 

Neither Agree nor Disagree … 

Don’t Know … 

8
0



11 

 

The following table gives a count and percentage ‘disagreed’ for the 

second and first consultation by postcode district for those 

respondents who provided a valid postcode (69%). 

 

Count and Percentage Disagreed by Postcode District  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following set of maps give an indication the geographical location of 

respondents for the second and first consultation. 

  

Map of Number of respondents by Postcode District 

 

 

 

 

Map of Leicester and Leicestershire LE postcode districts (for reference) 

 

 

1
 Percentage Disagreed  is based upon those respondents that provided a valid postcode 

therefore the figure may vary slightly from the overall figure 

April 2014 February 2014 
Postcode District 

Number of 

respondents 

Disagreed 

Apr(%) 

Disagreed 

Feb(%) Change 

le3 111 71.2% 80.5% q 

le7 61 23.0% 93.2% q 

le17 22 72.7% 84.1% q 

le67 10 50.0% 73.6% q 

cv13 9 66.7% 66.7%  

le12 9 44.4% 81.8% q 

le14 9 55.6% 79.6% q 

le9 8 62.5% 79.7% q 

de12 5 60.0% 52.6% p 

le4 5 60.0% 89.8% q 

le8 5 60.0% 84.4% q 

cv9 3 66.7% 80.6% q 

de11 3 33.3% 77.8% q 

le10 3 66.7% 66.7%  

le13 3 66.7% 80.0% q 

le16 3 100.0% 63.6% p 

le19 2 50.0% 84.6% q 

le2 2 100.0% 85.0% p 

le5 2 0.0% 88.5% q 

ng32 2 50.0% 64.3% q 

de74 1 0.0% 100.0% q 

le11 1 100.0% 83.3% p 

le65 1 0.0% 42.9% q 

le93 1 100.0%    

ng12 1 100.0%    

  282 56.7% 
1
84.3% q 

8
1



12 

 

The table and maps again show the highest concentration  of 

respondents who answered the question about the post 16 

transport proposal in the second consultation live in LE3 which 

includes Leicester Forest East, Braunstone and Glenfield, LE7 which 

borders the north east edge of Leicester City and includes towns 

and villages such as Thurnby, Houghton on the Hill, Scraptoft and 

Anstey and LE17 which covers Lutterworth Town and surrounding 

villages.  

 

Of these, LE7 shows a marked reduction in the percentage of 

respondents that disagreed with the new proposals (93.2% down 

to 23.0%), whereas LE3 and LE17 remained consistently high in the 

proportion of respondents that disagreed with the new proposals. 

This second set of maps show the percentage of respondents who 

disagreed with the proposed changes to the home to school policy for 

post 16 transport. 

 

Map of the percentage of respondents who ’disagreed’ by Postcode 

District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map of Leicester and Leicestershire LE postcode districts (for 

reference) 

April 2014 February 2014 

8
2



13 

 

 
 

The above question received 128 (32.2%) responses.   

 

Comments were mainly from those that disagreed with the new 

proposals for being too restrictive for at least one of the following 

reasons: 

 

Students now have to continue in some form of education or 

training until they are 18 years old therefore the government 

should also legislate so that post 16 transport provision 

matches that of secondary schools. 

The proposal will impact a student’s choice of career as not all 

courses are offered at all colleges. 

Students in full-time education receive no benefits and do not 

work therefore they cannot afford to pay for transport. 

The policy remains ambiguous 

If students wish to continue in the 6
th

 form of the same school 

they already attend they should not have to pay. To change 

school would be detrimental to their progress and impact 

attainment levels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Open ended question: Please use the space below to let us know 

any other comments on our proposals for 16+ transport 

A ‘tag cloud’ showing the top 50 mentioned most often words  is 

shown below 
(words removed from data when generating tag cloud: ‘school’, ‘schools’, 

‘college’, ‘transport’, ‘policy’, ‘proposal’, ‘proposed’, ‘children, ‘child’, academy’, 

‘students’, ‘pupils’, ‘bus’, ‘buses’) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8
3



14 

 

The proposed transitional arrangements 
 

 
 
Headlines: 

Three-fifths disagreed with the new proposals (57.0%) similar to 

the results from the first consultation (59.9%). 

Just over a quarter of respondents agreed with the new 

proposals 28.2% compared to 26% in the first consultation. 

 

 
 

Demographic differences: 

 
In the second consultation men (56.0%), BME (70.7%) and those 

living in Blaby (51.3%) were more likely than others to strongly 

disagree with the proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation men (57.2%), ‘other’ religion (62.0%), 

those with either one car or no cars  (56.0%, 65.6%), those 

whose nearest school was in the city (59.1%) and those living in 

Harborough (60.4%) were more likely than others to strongly 

disagree with the proposed policy change.  

Question: Do you agree or disagree with the Council's proposals for  

transitional arrangements if this revised home to school transport 

policy is adopted? 

%

Proposal 

Strongly 

Agree 

Agree Neither  Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Don't 

Know 

Second 11.2 17.0 11.5 10.4 46.6 3.3 

First  10.2  15.8 11.3 7.8 52.1 2.9 

Strongly Disagree … 

 
In the second consultation no groups were more likely than 

others to disagree with the proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation those living in Charnwood Borough 

(14.2%) were more likely than others to disagree with the 

proposed policy change. 
 

 

In the second consultation those living in Hinckley and 

Bosworth Borough (44.4%) were more likely than others to 

agree with the proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation women (18.6%), those whose nearest 

school was in the county (23.8%), those who were not a parent 

or carer of a child (14.2%), those with two or more cars or vans 

(19.1%) and those living in North West Leicestershire, 

Charnwood Borough and Melton Borough (26.5%, 25.5%, 

24.6%) were more likely than others to agree with the 

proposed policy change. 
 

 

In the second consultation Those living in Harborough (30.8%) 

were more likely than others to strongly agree with the 

proposed policy change. 

In the first consultation those that were a governor (17.9%), 

and those living in Blaby District (16.3%) were more likely than 

others to strongly agree with the proposed policy change.  

 

 
In the second consultation no groups were more likely than 

others to neither agree nor disagree with the proposed policy 

change. 

Disagree … 

Agree … 

Strongly Agree … 

Neither Agree nor Disagree … 

8
4



15 

 

 

In the first consultation no groups were more likely than others 

to say don’t know to the proposed policy change. 

 

 

 
 

The above question received 100 (25.4%)responses.   

Don’t Know … 

Open ended question: Please use the space below to let us know 

any other comments on our proposals for transition arrange-

ments: 

A ‘tag cloud’ showing the top 50 mentioned most often words is 

shown below: 
(words removed from data when generating tag cloud: ‘school, ‘schools, ‘children’, 

‘child’, ‘students’, ‘pupils’, ‘proposed’, ‘proposal’, ‘policy’, ‘transport’, ‘bus’, ) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8
5



16 

 

 
 

The above question received 267 (67.1%) responses.   

 

A ‘tag cloud’ showing the top 50 mentioned most often words is 

shown below: 

 

(words removed from data when generating tag cloud: ‘school, ‘schools, ‘children’, 

‘child’, ‘students’, ‘academies’, ‘transport’, ‘bus’, ‘buses’) 

Open ended question: Do you have any alternative suggestions 

for a revised home to school transport policy? 

The following table provides a summary of the number of responses 

that mentioned a specific secondary school within one of the open 

ended questions in the second or the first consultation. Primary 

schools were also mentioned but usually in context of a transition to 

a higher school. 
 

 

Named Secondary School/College 

 
 

The table gives an indication of which secondary schools the 

proposed change to home to school transport policy was most likely 

to affect on either of the consultations. It shows that the frequency 

of mention of Gartree High and Beauchamp College, and Lutterworth 

High and Lutterworth College (areas that generated relatively high 

response rates last time) has greatly reduced. Whereas the frequency 

of mention of Martin High, and South Charnwood High and 

Winstanley remain a comparably high across both consultations. 

 

 

Secondary School Second       

consultation 

First             

consultation  

Gartree High/Beauchamp College 22 141 

Martin High 11 17 

South Charnwood High/Winstanley 9 15 

Lutterworth High /College 3 66 

The Market Bosworth School 3 5 

Brockington High & Community College 3 3 

Belvoir High 0 18 

Kibworth High 0 14 

Newbridge Academy 0 4 

Humphrey Perkins 0 2 

8
6



17 

 

Respondent profile 

 
The demographic profile of respondents shows that there is an over 

representation of responses to the second consultation from county 

residents who are: 

  

Living in Blaby and Harborough 

Female 

Those aged 25-64 

Those without a long standing illness or disability  

Those with two or more cars 

 

Further, there is a under-representation from county residents who 

are: 

 

Living in Charnwood, Melton, Hinckley & Bosworth and NWL  

Male 

Those aged under 25 and those aged 65 or over 

Those with a long standing illness or disability  

Those with no cars 

 

A breakdown of the respondents to the survey follows.  Each table 

reviews the demographic profile of respondents against that of the 

latest information (where available) and compares responses from 

the first consultation in February. 

 

There has been a an increase in respondents from parents/carers of 

a child or young person (7%) and parents whose children who use 

home to school transport (19%). There has been a dramatic increase 

in the number of respondents in Blaby (from 17.5% to 42%). There 

has been a decrease  in the number of respondents in Harborough 

and Melton. 

 

 

Gender 

 

 

Age 

 
 

 

Parent/Carer 

 
 

 

Mid-2012 population 

estimates (%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Male 49.4 32.3 31.3 

Female 50.6 67.7 68.7 

Age band Mid-2012 

population 

estimates 

(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14 (%) 

Under 25  29.7 6.0 2.6 

25-44 24.3 52.7 55.3 

45-64 27.4 39.2 40.1 

65+ 18.7 2.2 2.0 

Are you a parent/carer of a 

child or young person?  

Transport Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Yes 84.1 90.3 

No 15.9 9.7 

8
7



18 

 Employed by a school in Leicestershire 

 
 

 

School governor 

 
 

 

Children use Home to School Transport 

 
 

 

Post 16 students in household 

 
 

 

Are you employed by a school 

in Leicestershire 

Transport Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Yes 17.6 12.6 

No 82.4 87.4 

School governor Transport Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Yes 8.0 11.0 

No 92.0 89.0 

Do you or your children use Home 

to School transport provided by 

Leicestershire County Council 

Transport Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Yes 53.2 63.4 

No 46.8 36.6 

Are there any post 16 students in 

your household who currently use 

our transport to voluntary aided 

schools 

Transport Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Yes 13.8 13.4 

No 86.2 86.6 

 

Long standing 

illness, 

disability or 

infirmity  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ethnicity  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2011 Census 

(%) 
Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 2014 (%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

White 91.4 88.4 87.8 

Mixed 1.3 1.5 4.2 

Asian 6.3 7.5 6.3 

Black 0.6 1.2 0.9 

Other 0.4 1.4 0.9 

  

2011 Census 

(%) 
Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 2014 (%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Yes 16.2 6.8 6.6 

No 83.8 93.2 93.4 

8
8



19 

 

 

 

 

 

Religion  

 
 

 

 

Number of cars or vans in household 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2011 Census 

(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

No religion 27.1 33.5 35.7 

Christian (all denominations) 60.3 57.5 57.1 

Buddhist 0.2 0.4 0.3 

Hindu 2.8 3.2 3.3 

Jewish 0.1 0.2 0.3 

Muslim 1.4 1.2 0.3 

Sikh 1.2 2.3 1.8 

Any other religion or belief 0.4 1.7 1.2 

Number of cars or 

vans in household 
2011 Census (%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

None 15.3 6.6 5.8 

One 41.3 37.3 33.9 

Two or more 33.0 56.1 60.2 

 

 

 

 

 

Geography 

 
 

 

District Mid-2012 

estimates (%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Feb 14(%) 

Transport 

Consultation 

Apr 14(%) 

Blaby 14.4 17.5 42.0 

Charnwood 25.7 7.8 7.3 

Harborough 13.2 48.4 29.2 

Hinckley and Bosworth 16.1 6.2 6.6 

Melton 7.7 9.8 3.3 

North West Leicestershire 14.3 7.2 5.1 

Oadby and Wigston 8.5 3.0 6.6 

8
9



20 

 

Appendix One - Web version of the Questionnaire 

9
0



21 

 

9
1



22 

 

9
2



23 

 
Appendix Two - Paper version of the Questionnaire 

9
3



24 

 

9
4



25 

 

9
5



26 

 

9
6



27 

 

9
7



28 

 

9
8



Appendix C 

Home to School Transport Policy Consultation 
Responses and concerns received by letter or e-mail 
 

1. There were 398 responses to the survey questionnaire for the further 
consultation which ran between 28th April and 16th June 2014. 
 

2. The lower level of response suggests the key concerns on the first 
consultation were largely addressed but there are some areas of 
sensitivity: 
 

• The Martin High School and access from Glenfield – as part of the first 
consultation a 1,385 signature petition was presented by Lynton Yates CC 
on concerns mainly from Glenfield residents to the Scrutiny Commission 
on 30th April 2014. As part of the second consultation a further 101 
signature petition (including 22 City residents) was received plus a further 
20 generic letters and 10 emailed responses from Glenfield residents on 
having to pay for home to school transport. 

• Gartree High School in Oadby does not agree with the proposals as it 
limits their opportunity to change age ranges and admission catchments. 

• Concern by Brooksby Melton College over nearest FE college proposals 
for Post 16 transport and reference to Raising the Age of Participation 

• Bishop Ellis Catholic Primary School who suggest that as they have not 
changed their catchment that they should continue to have transport. 
Transport to denominational schools is being phased out from September 
2015 and full cost recovery of around £640 for remaining pupils will be 
implemented from the same date. A number of denominational schools are 
starting to arrange their own transport. 

• There are still concerns from Bosworth Academy at Desford, South 
Charnwood High School and The Market Bosworth School on pupil 
numbers. 

• Some Scraptoft area parents (School Transport Policy Group) have 
suggested that the further policy proposal is unclear.  

• Concern raised by a Tilton resident on how we measure nearest school. 
 

3. Three schools have written in support of the further proposals: 
 

• Beauchamp College in Oadby 

• Tugby C of E Primary School 

• Bottesford Belvoir School 
 

4. Enderby Brockington College has written in support of the nearest 
Leicestershire School proposal but was not in agreement with the 
exception made for schools that have not changed their catchment area or 
age range and will have transport agreed under the frozen policy. It was 
felt that a differentiation in policy was unfair. 

 

5. A number of consultation responses have mentioned the length of walking 
route of 3 miles as being unreasonable and also the charges for post 16 
transport. 

99



100

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Summary of consultation concerns submitted online, by e-mail or by letter. 
 
Respondents disagreed with the new proposals suggesting that they are too 
restrictive for at least one of the following reasons (officer responses are given to 
these comments): 
 

  

Consultation comment 
 

 

Officer response 

1. Traditional catchment areas should be 
maintained to ensure continuity for 
pupils and to capitalise on the proven 
working relationships between feeder 
schools and high schools. 
  

Traditional catchment areas no 
longer exist where academies 
have changed their admissions 
areas and/or age ranges. 

2. The impact on faith schools.  
 

These proposals do not directly 
affect transport provision to faith 
schools where a decision has 
previously been made by the 
Council to phase out the provision 
of this discretionary service. 
 

3. Society should invest in school 
transport now so that pupils could 
maximise their potential and so benefit 
society later. 
 

None 

4. Parental choice would be curtailed. 
Parents expressed a desire to send 
their child to the school that they 
perceived to  be the  best rather than  
the nearest school without incurring a 
cost to do so.  

Parental choice does not exist – 
parents can express a preference 
for a particular school but this 
does not guarantee a place at that 
school nor does legislation give an 
automatic right to free home to 
school transport based on that 
expressed preference. 
 

5. The impact on the road network and 
environment of parents having to 
transport their own children.  

Parents have other options for 
sustainable transport and many 
schools are already providing or 
considering additional school 
buses that are/will be provided 
outside Local Authority funding. 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix D 
 

101



 

6. The safety of the child. Some high 
schools were within the three mile 
statutory walking distance but were not 
accessible by public footpaths or were 
only accessible along busy main 
roads.  

Legislation requires the Council to 
have a policy of providing free 
home to school transport for 
children who do not have an 
available walking route to their 
nearest school when it is under 3 
miles. This will continue to be the 
case under the new proposals. 
 

7. The new proposals were seen as 
unfair because they did not offer the 
same level of provision to all pupils/ 
families.  

It is neither logical nor financially 
possible to offer free transport to 
all pupils. The new proposals offer 
the statutory legal minimum to all 
pupils who qualify. In addition, 
transport is offered above the 
minimum level in response to 
concerns received in the first 
consultation about some specific 
school arrangements and the offer 
of transport to the nearest 
Leicestershire school for 
Leicestershire residents. 
 

8. The new proposals were deemed 
unclear. Some parents remained 
uncertain as to whether pupils would 
be able to choose their nearest 
Leicestershire School now and/or 
would be able to do so in the future.  

The proposals are that any new 
policy approved would only take 
effect for pupils entering school for 
the first time or transferring their 
secondary schooling from 
September 2015. 
 
The new proposals provide for free 
transport, over the relevant 
distances, to the nearest school 
and in addition the nearest 
Leicestershire school (these may 
be the same school). 
 
Where schools have not changed 
their admission catchment or age 
range since May 2012 then the 
traditional transport arrangements 
in place at that time are frozen 
until there are changes to 
admission catchments or age 
ranges. 
 
If the proposals are approved, 

102



 

detailed work will be undertaken 
on developing the policy and 
associated guidance to ensure 
that it is comprehensible to users.  
 

9. Students now have to continue in 
some form of education or training until 
they are 18 years old therefore the 
government should also legislate so 
that post 16 transport provision 
matches that of secondary schools.  

This is required by statutory 
guidance issued by the 
Department for Education. At the 
current time there is no 
requirement to provide free 
transport and transport can be 
provided and a charge can be 
made for this transport. 
 

10. The proposal will impact on a student’s 
choice of career as not all courses are 
offered at all colleges.  

Students are free to apply to 
whichever college for whichever 
course they prefer, but assisted 
transport will only be granted to 
those attending their nearest 
school/college. There are a 
number of commercially available 
school buses and season tickets 
that offer good value transport 
options for many Post 16 students. 
 

11. Students in full‐time education receive 
no benefits and do not work therefore 
they cannot afford to pay for transport.  

Post 16 students from low income 
families are exempt from transport 
charges and/or can apply for 
bursary funding that can be used 
towards travel costs. 
 

12. The policy remains ambiguous  The policy proposals detail the 
rules of entitlement to free home to 
school transport and as stated 
above will be subject to detailed 
further guidance if approved. 
 

13. If students wish to continue in the 6th 
form of the same school they already 
attend they should not have to pay. To 
change school would be detrimental to 
their progress and impact attainment 
levels. 
 

The requirement to make savings 
due to lack of government funding 
means that the Council cannot 
afford to provide free transport for 
post 16 students and decided to 
recover the full cost of this 
provision from September 2014. 
 

 

103



104

This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire’s future 
The plan for change

Have your say on 
proposed changes to 
home to school transport

Public consultation: Submit your views by June 15 2014

Tell us how this might affect you

Online: www.leics.gov.uk/school_college_transport

For general enquiries or comments phone 0116 305 0002 
or email transportassessments@leics.gov.uk

105



Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p2

What are we consulting on?
We are asking for views on proposed changes to our home to school transport policy for mainstream 
schools – this covers schools and academies but not special schools. 

Why are we consulting again?
During February and March, we asked for your views on proposals to change the existing policy. Just 
over 2,000 responses were received along with a number of alternative policy suggestions. It was clear 
from these responses that there were concerns about appropriate transport being provided when pupils 
change schools. Another key concern was that Leicestershire residents wanted the ability to express 
a preference for their traditional catchment school, instead of the nearest school which could be in a 
neighbouring local authority.

We have responded to this feedback and are now proposing a new policy which aims to address many 
of the concerns raised by parents and schools.

Why does the policy need to change?
The Government has encouraged schools to become academies and these national changes have 
altered the education landscape significantly and mean that there are now a number of academies in 
Leicestershire.

Academies and free schools can choose to change their age ranges and their catchment areas, and 
a number have chosen to do this. This means that many catchment and transport eligibility areas 
overlap.

The council’s transport policy needs to reflect these changes where they have occurred and be clear on 
the transport arrangements should areas that haven’t changed, change in the future.

You may already be aware that we need to save over £110 million over the next five years. Although 
these latest proposals are not expected to save money now, they may reduce the risk of increasing costs 
in the future by avoiding multiple transport eligibility when academies have overlapping catchment 
areas.

Details of the previous consultation are available at: www.leics.gov.uk/school_college_transport

106



Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p3

What does the current policy say? 
Our current policy (http://www.leics.gov.uk/mainstream_policy_2014-15_final_april_2014_v1.0-2.doc) fits 
the more traditional high school (10/11-14 year-olds) and upper school (15-16 year olds) model. This 
policy was frozen to reflect admission and age range arrangements in place on 31st May 2012

Transport and catchment areas have developed over time to take account of traditional boundaries and 
school capacity. This was to ensure that high and upper schools had enough students to fill the school. 
In practice, this meant that pupils were transported to schools with space and not necessarily their 
nearest school.  

It says that free transport is offered to:

primary school pupils who attend the catchment area school (or other nearer school) and their home 
address is more than two miles away

secondary school pupils who attend the catchment area school (or other nearer school) and their 
home address is more than three miles away  

What are the changes we are now proposing? 
Following your feedback, we’ve changed our proposals.

For pupils aged between 5 and 16 we will still provide the legal minimum of free transport for pupils 
over the statutory walking distances, 2 miles for primary age and 3 miles for secondary age from home 
to the nearest school (or educational placement) with available spaces.

The new proposals are to provide transport as above but in addition to provide:

free transport to the nearest Leicestershire school, with places available  A school will not be seen 
as appropriate if it doesn’t offer a transfer entry point that is compatible with the current school 
attended by the pupil

but

where there have been no changes to catchments or age ranges since May 2012 to continue free 
transport to the catchment school in those areas 

107



What is the likely impact?
Free transport to primary schools is likely to be largely unchanged. 

The impact of this policy is that for areas where age range and/or catchment areas have changed since 
May 2012 then transport will be provided to the nearest school or nearest Leicestershire school.

For those schools that have not changed admissions areas or age ranges, transport will continue to be 
provided from their traditional geographic catchment area school or to the nearest school until such 
time as a change occurs within these areas. This may be either by the school itself or by neighbouring 
schools at which point transport would be provided to the nearest school or nearest Leicestershire 
school.

In effect the policy recognises where change has occurred, maintains the same arrangements where 
change hasn’t happened but is clear what will happen if changes occur in the future.

Under these proposals, primary children who attend a school without a year 6 (age 10+) will be 
provided with transport to the nearest appropriate secondary school with spaces, and with a year 6. In 
September 2014, secondary schools accepting children at year 6 are: Shepshed High School, Castle 
Donington Community College, Gartree High School, Manor High School, Bushloe High School and 
Abington Academy. 

There are extended rights for low income families – please see the frequently asked questions.

What about 16+ transport?
New guidance has raised the age to which young people have a duty to stay in education, employment 
or training. There has been no change in the legislation governing transport for those aged 16+ so this 
remains a discretionary service that we don’t have to provide. However, the new proposals below will 
still provide a limited choice of transport options for 16+ students.

What does the current policy say about 16+?
Our current policy says that students who live more than three miles away from either the nearest 
school sixth form or nearest post 16 further education college are eligible for assisted transport. 
Currently, students can also get assisted transport if they attend a school or college which is further 
away if it is the nearest which offers their chosen course.

The charge for 16+ transport for the 2014/15 academic year will be £425 and there is an exemption 
to this charge for students from a qualifying low income background.

What are the changes we’re proposing for 16+ 
transport?
To continue to provide assisted transport for those students living more than three miles away from 
either the nearest school sixth form or nearest post 16 Further Education college.

The new proposals are to provide transport over 3 miles from home as above but in addition to provide

transport to the nearest Leicestershire Further Education college

or

transport to the nearest Leicestershire school sixth form but to continue providing transport to the 
catchment school with a sixth form in areas where there have been no changes to catchments or age 
range since May 2012

Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p4

108



Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p5

What is the likely impact?
Assisted transport for 16+ students would be more limited and these proposals wouldn’t allow for 
students to attend a school or college which is further away if it offers their chosen course.

There will still be a charge for eligible students unless they are from a low income family – please see 
frequently asked questions.

Local bus company season tickets may offer better value and more flexible bus travel options.

When would the changes take place and are 
there any transitional arrangements?
We are proposing that any change to the policy will only affect pupils starting at primary school or 
transferring to a secondary school in September 2015. 

If a child is already part way through their education and they currently have transport, this will 
continue until they have to leave or move to a new school because of their age. Eligibility for free 
transport would be reassessed at this point, as it is currently.

For 16+ students who qualify for transport assistance under the old policy, the proposal is that they 
will remain eligible providing they stay on the same course. If they change course, start a new one or 
their personal circumstances change (move address for example) then they will be reassessed under 
the new policy. 

How do I respond to the consultation?
Your views are important and help us to understand what effect the proposed changes might have on 
you. Please send us your views by filling in our questionnaire by Sunday, 15th June 2014. This can be 
accessed:

Online

www.leics.gov.uk/school_college_transport

By post

Cut off the questionnaire attached to this leaflet and return to the following freepost address (no 
stamp required):

School Transport Policy Consultation (Room 700)
Leicestershire County Council
Have Your Say
FREEPOST NAT18685
Leicester
LE3 8XT

109



Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p6

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

How do we determine the nearest school?
For distances which are less than the statutory walking distances of two or three miles, we 
measure the shortest available walking route. Over these distances, we measure using the 
shortest available road route. This is because over three miles, a walking route may not exist. 

We would assess your nearest school at the same time as the normal school admissions 
application process and would take account of available space in schools. This means that if the 
nearest school was full, transport would then be provided to the next nearest school with space.

Please note that under the new proposals, the ‘nearest school’ and ‘nearest Leicestershire school’ 
may be the same – this is most likely for addresses in the central part of Leicestershire. In some 
cases, but not all, the school may also be the traditional catchment school. 

On the other hand, for families living close to the county border – near Leicester city or 
neighbouring counties - the nearest school may be in that other local authority area. In these 
cases, transport would be provided to either that nearest school or to the nearest Leicestershire 
school and this would be by parental preference. Again, the nearest Leicestershire school in some 
cases, but not all, may also be the traditional catchment school. 

How do we measure distance? 
We use a highly accurate software programme for measuring distances called MapInfo. 

Is this about saving money? 
During a recent consultation into our future spending plans, residents listed home to school 
transport as a service that could be reduced.

The proposals, however, are not expected to save money now, they are designed to reduce 
the risk of increasing costs in the future by preventing pupils becoming eligible for multiple 
transport options. This policy proposal is more generous than the statutory requirements and if 
implemented, it is expected that there will still be large numbers of children entitled to transport 
because they live over the statutory distance. 

Are there any alternatives to the proposed policy?
Yes. This consultation is important as it enables your views to help shape the changes. Your views 
count and have resulted in this fresh round of consultation. 

110



Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p7

How does it affect parental preference for school places - this 
restricts choice doesn’t it?
No - parental preference for admission to a particular school or academy is unaffected by these 
proposals. It has never been the case that eligibility to free transport is based on the parental 
choice of school. There has always been a policy setting out the criteria for eligibility to free 
transport and under the new proposals, this would generally focus on the distance between home 
and the nearest school or nearest Leicestershire school with places, rather than to the traditional 
catchment school.

What happens if the school my child attends changes its age 
range or admissions area in future?
This may affect a child’s eligibility to free school transport. If this happens, we would need to 
review transport in that area and apply the new policy. We would also consider what transition 
arrangements would be put in place.

What happens if a new school opens up in my area?
Similar to the above, this may affect a child’s eligibility to transport assistance. For example a 
new free school opening may become a nearer school than the one previously used to assess 
transport eligibility. If this happens, we would need to review transport in that area and apply the 
new proposed policy. We would also consider what transition arrangements the council would put 
in place.

What do the frozen policy and no change to admission 
catchment or age range refer to?
For schools where there has been no change in the admissions catchment area or age range we 
will continue to provide transport to the catchment school in line with the policy adopted by the 
county council in September 2012 i.e. using the Local Authority catchment areas as at 31st May 
2012; until such time as changes affecting catchment area or age ranges occur (whether by the 
school itself or surrounding school changes).

Are there any extra rights for low income families?
Yes, the current extended rights for low income families are not affected by this consultation and 
continue to be available as required by statutory guidance and law. Details are in paragraph 6.0 
of the current policy www.leics.gov.uk/mainstream_policy_2014-15_final_april_2014_v1.0-2.doc

What other transport is available?
Some schools have bus services organised by parents or the school itself, other schools have 
commercial ‘school specials’ and student season tickets are also available on most commercial 
bus services in Leicestershire.

The main commercial bus operators of Leicestershire also have student season tickets of various 
types that offer very flexible travel and, for post 16 students, can offer good value for money.

111



You can view the latest information in 
a number of ways

Visit us online www.leics.gov.uk/haveyoursay/school_college_transport

Our web pages will be kept up-to-date with the latest information and 
developments. You’ll also be able to access the survey here.

Send an email to transportassessments@leics.gov.uk to register for the latest 
news and updates.

Follow us @leicscountyhall for general updates from the council,  
including the developments on the budget.

Alternatively, you can telephone 0116 305 0965 to ask for  
information in printed or alternative formats including Easy Read.

p8

112



Leicestershire’s future Proposed changes to home to school transport

p9

In summary: proposed changes to mainstream 
home to school transport policy
For pupils aged between 5 and 16 we will still provide the legal minimum of free transport for pupils 
over the statutory walking distances (2 miles for primary age and 3 miles for secondary age) from home 
to the nearest school (or educational placement) with available spaces.

The new proposals are to provide transport as above but in addition to provide:

free transport to the nearest Leicestershire school, with places available  A school will not be seen 
as appropriate if it doesn’t offer a transfer entry point that is compatible with the current school 
attended by the pupil.

but

where there have been no changes to catchments or age ranges since May 2012 to continue free 
transport to the catchment school in those areas

Similar proposals are also being made for post 16 students.
To continue to provide assisted transport for those students living more than three miles away from 
either the nearest school sixth form or nearest post 16 Further Education college.

The new proposals are to provide transport over 3 miles from home as above but in addition to provide

transport to the nearest Leicestershire Further Education college

or

transport to the nearest Leicestershire school sixth form but to continue providing transport to the 
catchment school with a sixth form in areas where there have been no changes to catchments or 
age range since May 2012

Your views
We are now asking for your views about this revised proposal to make changes to home to school 

transport.

Following the consultation period, your views will be considered by the County Council. If 

you have any questions about this consultation please contact: 0116 305 0002 or email: 

transportassessments@leics.gov.uk

Return this consultation form to:  

School Transport Policy Consultation (Room 700), Leicestershire County Council,  

Have Your Say, FREEPOST NAT18685, Leicester, LE3 8XT.

Alternatively you can complete an online version at www.leics.gov.uk/school_college_transport

113



Q1: Do you agree or disagree with the council’s 

proposed policy for the provision of transport  

to schools and academies?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree Disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Don’t 
know

Any other comments on our proposed policy for the provision of transport to academies:

Q4: Do you have any alternative suggestions for a revised home to school transport policy?

Any other comments on our proposed policy for the provision of post 16 transport:

Q2: Do you agree or disagree with the council’s 

proposed policy for the provision of post 16 

transport to schools, academies and colleges?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree Disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Don’t 
know

Any other comments on our proposals for transition arrangements:

Q3: Do you agree or disagree with the council’s 

proposals for transitional arrangements if this 

revised home to school transport policy is adopted?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree Disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Don’t 
know

114



About You
Leicestershire County Council is committed to ensuring that its services, policies and practices are free from 

discrimination and prejudice and that they meet the needs of all sections of the community.

We would be grateful if you would answer the questions below. You are under no obligation to provide the information 

requested, but it would help us greatly if you did. Information will be used to inform service development to ensure 

that what we are providing is fair and effective.

Q5: Are you male or female?

 Male      Female  

Q6: What was your age on your last birthday?

Q7: Do you have any long-standing illness, disability or infirmity?

 Yes      No  

Q8: What is your ethnic group? (Please tick one box only)

 White      Mixed      Asian or Asian British      Black or Black British      Other ethnic group      

Q9: Are you a parent/carer of a child or young person?  

 Yes      No  

If yes, what are the ages of the children in your care? (Please tick all applicable)  

0-4      5-10      11-15      16-18      

Q10: Do you or your child(ren) make use of the home to  

school transport provided by Leicestershire County Council?

 Yes      No  

Q11: Are there any post 16 students in your household who currently use our transport to education?

 Yes      No  

Q12: Are you employed by a school in Leicestershire?

 Yes      No  

Q13: Are you a school governor?

 Yes      No  

Q14: What is your religion?

No religion      Christian (All denominations)      Buddhist      Hindu       

Jewish      Muslim      Sikh      Any other religion or belief      

Q15: What is your full postcode?

Q16: In total, how many cars or vans are owned or available for use by members of your household?  

None      One      Two      Three      Four or more      Don’t know        

Data Protection: Personal data supplied on this form will be held on computer and will be used in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. The 
information you provide will be used for statistical analysis, management, planning and the provision of services by the county council and its partners, 
Leicestershire County Council will not share any personal information collected as part of this survey with its partners. The information will be held in 
accordance with the council’s records management and retention policy.

N
0

0
9
7

115



116

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 
 

BETTER CARE TOGETHER 
 

LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND FIVE YEAR HEALTH 
AND SOCIAL CARE STRATEGIC PLAN 2014-2019 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet regarding progress with the 

development of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Five Year Health and 
Social Care Strategic Plan 2014-19, which has been published for discussion and 
review, and to advise on the further work that will take place before the final plan is 
approved in September 2014. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

a) Notes and supports the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Five Year 
Health and Social Care Strategic Plan 2014-19; 
 

b) Notes the further work which will be undertaken to develop the Plan during the 
discussion and review period as set out in this report; 

 
c) Receives a further report at its meeting in September regarding the proposed 

final Plan. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

3. Better Care Together (BCT) is the biggest ever review of health and social care in 
LLR.  The County Council is a key member of the partnership of NHS organisations 
and local authorities across the area.  All governing bodies of the partners are being 
asked to consider and approve the Plan. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. The Plan was published on 26 June 2014 for discussion and review.  It will be 

considered by the Health and Wellbeing (HWB) Board on 17 July 2014 and by the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees on 21 July and 1 September 2014.  

Agenda Item 6117



 
5. The final version of the Plan, incorporating feedback received during the discussion 

and review period, will be presented to the Cabinet on 12 September 2014 and to the 
HWB Board on the 16 September 2014. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. Health and social care integration is a priority for the Council and is seen as crucial to 

the success of the Transformation Programme.  It is also a national priority and is a 
requirement of the Better Care Fund (BCF).  The BCF Plan was supported by the 
Cabinet and approved by the HWB Board in April 2014. 

 
Resources Implications 
 
7. The Plan is essential to address a predicted financial gap, if no action is taken, of 

£398m by 2018-19 across the NHS organisations in LLR.  In addition to this, the Plan 
recognises the pressures on local authorities and the further work required to take 
these into account and be incorporated into the next iteration of the model. 
 

8. While at this stage there are no immediate resource implications, the Plan will entail 
the production of a series of business cases spanning several financial years, which 
the Cabinet will be involved in approving in due course. 

 
9. The ‘directional’ proposals in the plan will have implications for the pattern of 

expenditure across the health and social care economy.  Expenditure is likely to 
move from acute to community settings such as social care.  This will need to be 
modelled and resources allocated appropriately. 

 
10. The Director of Corporate Resources and the County Solicitor have been consulted 

on the contents of this report.  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mick Connell 
Director of Adults and Communities  
 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email:  mick.connell@leics.gov.uk 

118



PART B 
Background 
 
11. The BCT Five Year Health and Social Care Strategy 2014-19 is a directional plan for 

LLR.  It represents the outputs of ongoing collaborative working between health and 
social care partners across LLR and is the basis for more detailed planning through 
summer 2014.  As such, there will be further extensive engagement of LLR public, 
patients, service users, staff and other stakeholders.  In September, a revised 
version, with a more detailed implementation plan, will be published. 

 
12. The plan has been submitted to NHS England and the NHS Trust Development 

Authority by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) for West 
Leicestershire, East Leicestershire and Rutland, and Leicester City.  The contents 
have been prepared with the involvement of local authorities, NHS providers and 
local Healthwatch bodies.  A copy of the BCT summary is attached to this report in 
the Appendix.  The full version of the directional plan is available at 
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/information-library/better-care-together-plan-
2014/. 

 
13. There is a clear case for change in health and social care services across LLR:  
 

a) Integrated quality care is needed – most people already get good quality care, 
but there are areas which can be improved. People want to be fully engaged in 
making positive choices about their own health and lifestyles, and to participate 
in the shaping and development of health and care services. People expect 
access to transparent and accessible data and advice about health and 
services, and to be able to choose which health services they can use and how 
to access them. Performance needs to improve across a number of key 
operational indicators, such as waiting times. While health and social care 
outcome measures show a mixed picture, with good performance as well as 
areas to be improved, there is scope for a step change in quality and outcomes. 
 

b) Changes to the workforce are needed – addressing a future forecast shortfall 
in the local and national workforce, through different ways of working across 
settings of care. Capacity and capabilities need to be developed in our people 
and the technology that supports them.  

 
c) The changing needs of the LLR population need to be met – there is a rising 

demand for health and social care, with the LLR population forecast to grow by 
3% over 2014-19, with a changing age profile - 12% growth in the over-65 
population. More people are living with single and multiple long-term health 
conditions, and there are rising health inequalities. While county areas will see 
growth in older people, the city has a population where many die early from 
preventable illness.  

 
d) Value for money needs to be ensured - health and social care organisations 

need to achieve financial sustainability to support the improvements in 
outcomes sought, against a background of financial constraint. It is recognised 
that the local authorities in the LLR system face very significant financial 
pressures. There is a forecast financial gap of £398m in NHS services and a 
forecast savings requirement of £177m in local authority services by 2019 if the 
system does not change. Commissioners need to make phased savings to 

119



deliver investments in the models of care that will provide the highest quality 
and best outcomes for patients and citizens. 

 
e) Primary, community and voluntary sector care needs to be strengthened, to 

deliver integrated care, optimising the use of physical assets such as estates, 
ensuring care is provided in appropriate cost effective settings, reducing 
duplication and eliminating waste.  

 
14. The case for change creates a real opportunity for partners to redesign the way 

services are provided and to achieve a new vision for LLR:  
 

“…to maximise value for the citizens of LLR by improving the health and wellbeing 
outcomes that matter to them, their families and carers in a way that enhances the 
quality of care at the same time as reducing cost across the public sector to within 
allocated resources by restructuring the provision of safe, high quality services into 
the most efficient and effective settings.” 

 
15. The vision has been agreed by all partner organisations and reflects extensive 

engagement of citizens, patients, social care clients and staff.  The vision drives six 
strategic objectives:  

 

•  System Objective One - to deliver high quality, citizen centred, integrated care 
pathways, delivered in the appropriate place and at the appropriate time by the 
appropriate person, supported by staff/citizens, resulting in a reduction in the time 
spent avoidably in hospital.  

•  System Objective Two - to reduce inequalities in care (both physical and 
mental) across and within communities in LLR resulting in additional years of life 
for citizens with treatable mental and physical health conditions.  

•  System Objective Three - to increase the number of those citizens with mental 
and physical health and social care needs reporting a positive experience of care 
across all health and social care settings.  

•  System Objective Four - to optimise both the opportunities for integration and 
the use of physical assets across the health and social care economy, ensuring 
care is provided in appropriate cost effective settings, reducing duplication and 
eliminating waste in the system  

•  System Objective Five - all health and social care organisations in LLR to 
achieve financial sustainability, by adapting the resource profile where 
appropriate.  

•  System Objective Six - to improve the utilisation of the workforce and the 
development of new capacity and capabilities where appropriate, in people and 
the technology used.  

 
16. To realise the vision means changes in the settings of care, that is, a series of 

transformations in self-care, education and prevention, primary care, community 
and social care services, crisis response, reablement and discharge, and acute 
services both secondary and tertiary care. 

 

17. Threaded through the settings of care are eight overarching service models, each 
reflecting the current situation and desired outcomes in five years time, and setting 
out how change will be made. The service models are urgent care, frail and older 
people, long term conditions, planned care, maternity and new born services, 

120



children’s services, mental health, and learning disabilities.  Further work is planned 
for parallel developments in primary care and social care services.  

 
18. The service models align with and are partially enabled by the plans for the use of 

the BCF across LLR. In particular, they address common BCF themes:  
 

• Citizen participation and empowerment; 

• Prevention and early intervention/detection;  

• Integrated crisis response;  

• Improving hospital discharge and reablement; 

• Integrated, proactive care for people with long term conditions.  
 
19. All three CCGs have committed to supporting BCF for the five years covered by this 

plan, not just the two year period mandated nationally. The vision for sustainable 
care in this five year plan maps to the key quality improvement metrics set out in the 
BCFs, such as reduction in avoidable emergency admissions, delayed transfers of 
care and residential admissions, as well as improved effectiveness of rehabilitation 
after discharge and improved patient/service user experience. 

 
Primary and social care 
 
20. As a result of developing the case for change, the strategic aims, and the purposes 

and standards for each setting of care, it is recognised that the health and social 
care system needs to develop strategies for primary and social care provision, that 
are aligned to the case for change and transformation proposals. The Council will, 
within such a new system, respond to:  

 

• The differing profiles of existing services provided and requirements for future 
service provision for both urban and rural based communities. 

• The requirement for a strategic response to primary medical services, 
recognising alongside this the importance of developing the full range of primary 
care services, ie pharmacy, dentistry etc, to align with the proposed new models 
of community and secondary care. 

• The need for present and future requirements to include key areas, including 
future workforce requirements and service and site configuration. 

• The requirement for social care to build on the existing BCF two-year plans by 
identifying next steps, future service models and activity and capacity 
requirements. Within this review the future impact of the Care Act will be 
considered. 

• The opportunity to ensure ‘care closer to home’, ‘best practice’ and ‘external 
learning’ informs the review. 

 
21. It is proposed that this strategy development will build on the discussion from the 

June 2014 Local Medical Committee (LMC) primary care summits, and be scoped in 
July 2014 by the CCG chairs, supported by the BCT partners (managing 
directors/operations directors/local authority leads) and with representatives from the 
LMC and the Area Team. Wider partnership and public engagement on the proposed 
scope will be agreed by the end of August and a proposal approved for the reviews 
to commence in September. 

 
22. A series of enabling strategies underpin the initiatives, service models and changes 

in settings of care:  

121



 

•  Estates – the current portfolio of estates is costly and not aligned with the 
required models of care. Plans for estates reconfiguration across University 
Hospitals of Leicester and Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust will be 
developed and the use of premises across both health and social care 
rationalised, to help meet the financial pressures faced by local authority and 
NHS organisations. It is expected, for example, that a smaller, more specialist, 
acute estate will be developed. Estates implications will be included in the 
proposed review of primary care.  

•  Information management and technology will be developed as a means of 
supporting reconfigured and integrated models of care, and to improve the 
productivity and efficiency of the workforce.  

•  Communications and engagement of stakeholders across health and social 
care will ensure that plans are co-created and developed in ways that meet the 
needs and aspirations of the users of health and social care services. 

•  Procurement and contracting models will be changed to move away from a 
‘tariff based’ payment system to an ‘outcome based’ payment system 
developed around programmes of care across organisations boundaries.  

•  Workforce planning will be undertaken to develop new staffing models for 
integrated care across settings of care, training and development initiatives for 
new and existing staff, reducing use of premium cost agency staff.  

•  Working with the voluntary sector to ensure that their expertise in service 
design and patient/service user needs is properly leveraged.  

 
23. Governance of the five year strategy will be led by the BCT Programme Board, 

supported by groups for operational delivery, financial planning and programme 
management. Each workstream – for the service model changes – will report through 
and be held accountable by a pan-LLR structure.  

 
24. Within the governance structure, patient, service user and public involvement will 

be integral, with close working with local Healthwatch groups. Similarly, the 
programme will continue to formally link with, and reflect the views of, HWB Boards 
and a Clinical Reference Group. 

 
25. The HWB Boards have been and continue to be closely involved in the development 

of the clinical commissioning intentions and operating plans and as a result there is 
an integrated approach in the ongoing review and development of health and social 
care planning. This is achieved through a joint membership approach on respective 
and appropriate Boards and Committees. The BCT Board’s membership includes the 
Chairs of the HWB Boards and the health partners are also represented at Board 
level on the HWB Boards.  HWB Board members and their wider teams are also 
active participants across the governance structure in supporting the development 
and implementation of the LLR BCT programme. 

 
26. The HWB Boards have regular reviews on the development of the LLR Five Year 

Plan and attended the workshop and summit development sessions that have 
produced the draft LLR Five Year Plan. They are part of the formal review process 
for approval of the ‘review and discussion’ document. 

 
27. Implementation of the Plan will take place in three phases:  
 

122



•  Phase 1 – preparation and planning - the current phase of developing a 
directional plan for further discussion. 

•  Phase 2 – discussion and review, including refining proposed changes and 
developing business cases – by end September 2014. 

•  Phase 3 – implementation and consultation – from October 2014. 
 
28. Interventions relating to primary care and social care will be developed during the 

next phase of work.  
 
Consultations 
 
29. A significant amount of engagement work has already taken place in developing the 

Plan.  This will continue during the discussion and review period.  Once the final Plan 
is approved consultation will be required as implementation progresses, but this is 
not expected to be before late 2015. 

 
Background Papers 
 
BCT Five Year Health and Social Care Strategy 2014-19 
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/information-library/better-care-together-plan-2014/ 
 

Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 April 2014 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3989&Ver=4 
 

Minutes of the Heath and Wellbeing Board held on 1 April 2014 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=4131&Ver=4 

 
Appendix 
 
BCT Plan Public summary ‘A Blueprint for Health and Social Care in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland 2014-2019’ 

 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
30. Business cases, including impact assessments, will be developed when the final plan 

is approved and implementation commences, 
 

Equalities and Human Rights considerations 
 
31. The BCT programme is working with equality and diversity leads from member 

organisations, to agree a consistent, appropriate and proportionate approach to 
undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) of the directional five year strategic 
plan and, once developed, intervention business cases.  This approach will be 
articulated in an Equality and Diversity Strategy for the Programme.  The EIA will 
need to incorporate Human Rights considerations as is now the practice in the 
County Council. 

 
32. BCT will undertake an EIA of the directional five year strategic plan during the 

discussion and review period.  The plan submitted for approval by HWB Boards, 
CCG governing Bodies, Member Boards and others in September 2014, and by the 
Programme Board, will be accompanied by an EIA.  The EIA will consider how the 
draft strategic plan addresses the needs of LLR’s diverse communities, and assess 
the impact of the plan on individuals and communities.  It will use the evidence base 

123



provided in the three Joint Strategic Needs Assessments plus, as appropriate other 
resources of evidence for the plans actual or potential impact.  The accompanying 
EIA will document the engagement undertaken, and how the strategic plan has been 
amended in response. 

 
33. An EIA will be undertaken for the business case developed for each intervention.  

The BCT partners will engage with the appropriate section(s) of the community, as 
relevant and proportionate to the proposed pathway changes.   Due regards to 
equality will be taken in the development of each business case.  Commissioning and 
provider partners engaged in service redesign as part of the implementation of the 
strategic plan, once approved by members and the Programme Board, will be 
expected to ensure that the needs of communities are addressed in commissioned 
changes. 

 
Partnership working and associated issues 
 
34. BCT is a partnership of NHS organisations and local authorities in LLR working with 

local Healthwatch. 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
35. Effective risk management is recognised as key to ensuring effective and safe 

outcomes within agreed timescales.  The approach to establishing a risk 
management strategy is being established around the Office of Government 
Commerce Best Practice – Gateway to success principles.  The risk register has 
been established with the major programme risks to be identified and mitigated 
during the programme brief development stage, July to September 2014. 

 

124



1 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Blueprint for Health 

and Social Care in  

Leicester,  

Leicestershire 

and Rutland 

2014-2019 

 

 BETTER CARE TOGETHER 

For discussion  

and review 

125



2 

 

Introduction  

Better Care Together is the biggest ever review of health and social care in Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). 

 

The programme is a partnership of NHS organisations and local authorities across the area. 

It is driven by a shared recognition that major changes are needed to ensure that services 

are of the right quality and capable of meeting the future needs of local communities.   

 

The aim is to improve services and people’s experience of them by focussing on community-

based prevention and care – while at the same time addressing major financial challenges.  

 

The partners in Better Care Together are: 

o Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

o Leicester City Council  

o West Leicestershire CCG 

o Leicestershire County Council  

o East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 

o Rutland County Council  

o University Hospitals of Leicester  

o Leicestershire Partnership Trust  

o NHS England Local Area Team  

o Healthwatch (across LLR) 

o Health and Wellbeing Boards for Leicester City,  

Leicestershire and Rutland  

 

Doctors, managers and a wide range of other professionals have worked over several 

months, with input from patients, public and voluntary groups, to produce a single strategy 

to deliver the shared vision of all these organisations.  This work is supported by some key 

principles which are summarised here: 

o We will work together  

o We will involve local people in our decision-making  

o We will address inequality between mental and physical health services 

o We will make improvements by striving to be the best 

o We will be rigorous in ensuring value for money 

 

The result is a five-year plan, setting out ideas for how care could be delivered in future. This 

document is a summary of that plan. The full version, which includes a lot more detail, can 

be found alongside other information at www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk. 

 

The following pages outline the main points of the plan, which is very much work in 

progress. While there are proposals and aspirations, no final decisions have yet been taken. 

Local people are being invited to give their views, which will help to shape detailed options 

for change (see page 11 for more information).  

 

 

 

126



3 

 

The case for change 

There are compelling reasons why health and social care in Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland needs to change. Dealing with current pressures creates opportunities to improve 

care by redesigning a system around the future needs of patients, in a sustainable way.  

 

The case for change is summarised in the diagram below. It has been developed by senior 

clinicians, public health professionals, social care service leaders, patients and public. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

o Changing population: The LLR population is ageing (12% more over 65s by 2019). This 

means more long term, complex illness and disability - increasing demand for health 

and social care. There is also inequality, with deprived communities experiencing 

more illness and shorter lives than those in more affluent areas. 

o Workforce: Skilled professionals are in short supply, particularly in some specialties. 

Ways of working are also quite inflexible. Staff will need to work differently, in mixed 

teams that treat the ‘whole person’ rather than just one condition at a time. 

o Quality: Services need to achieve the highest possible standards and be more joined 

up, to provide excellent results and experience for the people using them.  

o Value for money: We need to do more with less. The LLR health and social care 

economy is deemed to be ‘financially challenged’, with particular pressure in 

Leicester’s hospitals.  If no action is taken, by 2019 the funding gap for the NHS locally 

will be around £400m.  

 

For all these reasons, the way services are currently delivered is neither sustainable nor 

equipped to meet the future needs of local people. This is why things must change. 

 

More people 

with long-term 

conditions 

 

 

Need to address 

rising 

inequalities in 

our diverse 

communities 

 

Rising demand,  

ageing population 

 

Financial stability 

for all 

organisations 

 

Equal access and 

outcomes, regardless 

of background 

 

Improved safety, 

effectiveness and 

experience of 

care 

 

 

Integrated care,  

right place, right 

time, informed 

decision-making 

 

Strengthened primary, 

community and 

voluntary care, tackling 

duplication and waste 

 

Saving to invest, 

to improve 

outcomes 

 

Ensuring LLR is a 

good place to 

work, with fully 

engaged staff 

 

 

Different ways of 

working to  

address skill 

shortages 

 

 

New capacity and 

capabilities in our 

people and 

technology 

 

127



4 

 

How this plan was produced 

Work began on this plan in January 2014. A dedicated Better Care Together team was 

established, supporting staff from across the partner organisations and overseen by a 

Programme Board. Key features of the work are listed here. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Benchmarking 

Assessing the performance of existing 

services and looking at what is being done 

in other parts of the country to see what 

can be improved locally. 

 

 

Supporting projects 

Developing plans to support successful 

change, covering areas such as primary 

care, workforce, information technology 

and property (see page 10). 

 

 

Financial analysis 

Identifying the precise scale of the 

financial challenge, then working out 

what savings can be achieved through in-

house efficiencies and what requires 

bigger changes across the whole system. 

Understanding 

Using all available information to inform 

plans, including understanding the health 

needs of the local population and using 

evidence about what works well. 

 

 

Alignment 

Ensuring this plan is pulling in the same 

direction as others – including Better Care 

Funds (a different scheme with a similar 

name), where local NHS and council 

budgets are being pooled to provide 

joined-up support services for older 

people to prevent the need for 

emergency care 

 

 

Pathway redesign 

Identifying opportunities to improve 

services by reshaping how they are 

actually delivered for specific areas of 

healthcare (see pages 6-9). 

 

 

Public involvement 

Seeking input from patients, public and 

voluntary organisations – both at larger 

events and in small working groups. 

 

128



5 

 

 

Transforming services 

Better Care Together aims to make improvements right across the different settings of care, 

as described here. 

 

Self-care, education and prevention 

Giving everyone a good start in life, helping them to live well and make good choices, and 

supporting their wellbeing and independence as they get older. 

 

Primary care 

Improving access, reducing unjustified variation in the quality of services and working at 

scale to meet all needs. 

 

Community and social care 

Putting people and their carers in control, as close to home as possible and with health and 

social care services working together. 

 

Urgent care 
Delivered closer to home where that is clinically and financially viable, with a simpler system 

and fewer admissions to hospital. 

 

Acute services 

Smaller, more specialised hospitals for people who are only admitted when they really need 

to be, stay for less time and have well-supported transfers back to the community. 

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We have ambitions for transforming eight different areas of care (known as pathways). 

These are explained on the next four pages.  

 

This approach can be summarised as follows: 

PREVENTION   
Information and support for independence 

INTERVENTION  

Acting early to avoid a crisis 

ACUTE CARE   

Rapid treatment when truly needed 

RECOVERY   

Minimum hospital stay, smooth discharge 

FOLLOW-UP   

Support at home to restore independence 

 

 

129



6 

 

 

Urgent Care (Accident and Emergency) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Frail and Older People 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

130



7 

 

 

Long Term Conditions (eg diabetes, respiratory disease, heart failure) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planned Care (non-urgent operations) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

131



8 

 

Maternity and NeoNates (care of newborn and young babies) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Children, Young People and Families 

 

 

132



9 

 

Mental Health 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Learning Disabilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

133



10 

 

Buildings 

There are 148 NHS properties across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, costing more 

than £80m a year to run. The proposed changes described on the previous pages would 

significantly affect the way some of these facilities are used, to reflect the greater focus on 

care closer to home. 
 

Acute Hospitals 

LLR has three acute hospitals – Leicester Royal Infirmary, Leicester General and Glenfield, 

also in Leicester. All are run by the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Better Care Together plan is designed to ensure that people are only admitted to 

hospital when they really need to be.  This means there will be fewer patients for UHL to 

treat and the hospitals will have to adapt. Possible changes include: 

o Smaller hospitals overall, as a result of shifting a substantial amount of the workload 

and equivalent resource and expertise to the community.  

o Fewer acute hospital beds – largely by shortening the length of time patients stay in 

hospital and doing more day surgery. 

o A greater focus on specialised care, teaching and research. 

o Redeveloping the Accident and Emergency department at the Royal Infirmary. 

o Concentrating acute services on two sites rather than three. There are various ways 

this could be done, but it most likely to involve the Infirmary and Glenfield Hospital. 

o A re-shaped General Hospital if this change happens, with a wide range of services 

including – community beds, the Diabetes Centre of Excellence, rehabilitation, 

psychological therapies, outpatient clinics and a base for the ambulance service.  

 

This vision is supported by doctors because it would benefit patients, by increasing both the 

quality and efficiency of services. It would take several years to implement and could be 

achieved in a number of different ways. At this stage, no firm decisions have been made.  
 

Community Hospitals 

There are ten community hospitals in Leicestershire and Rutland – in Ashby, Coalville, 

Hinckley, Loughborough, Lutterworth, two in Market Harborough, two in Melton Mowbray 

and Oakham. Some are owned by NHS Property Services, some by the Leicestershire 

Partnership NHS Trust (LPT), which provides local community and mental health services. 
 

The greater emphasis on supporting people at home will mean an expansion of teams in the 

community, rather than in beds or buildings. Work to ensure more effective use of these 

facilities is ongoing and a decision was recently taken to close Ashby Community Hospital. 

Any further options for change will be developed in consultation with the public.  

The Better Care Together plan is designed to ensure that peis people are only admitted to peop

 

134



11 

 

Next Steps 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Health and social care services in Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland are on a journey. This has 

only just begun and local people have a major part to 

play in deciding precisely which course is taken. 

 

There are three distinct phases to Better Care Together: 

1. Developing this plan, which examines the challenges 

being faced and shows a direction of travel rather 

than firm proposals. 
 

2. Further discussion and review during the summer, 

leading to the development of more detailed options 

for change by the end of September 2014.  

 

This discussion includes the people of Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland. Healthwatch 

organisations, patients and members of the public 

will continue to be involved in the work of Better 

Care Together. However, we also want to hear your 

views about this plan. See below for further details.  
 

3. The final phase will be about starting to implement 

plans, once they have been prepared in more detail. 

There will be formal consultation with the public 

before any significant changes are made. When this 

happens is still to be determined. 

 

If you want to express an opinion, ask a question or get 

involved in the detailed design of services, email: 

bct@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk. 

 

You can also send an email via the Better Care Together 

website at:  

 

www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk 
 
 

On this website you will also find the full Better Care 

Together plan and supporting information – including 

answers to questions you may have.  

 

135



136

This page is intentionally left blank



 
CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF A SECTION 75 POOLED BUDGET AGREEMENT 
WITH NHS EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND AND NHS 

WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS 
FOR THE BETTER CARE FUND 

 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND THE DIRECTOR 
OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out proposals relating to the Better Care Fund, 

the intention being to enter into a joint-commissioning agreement under Section 
75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (a section 75 agreement) with NHS 
East Leicestershire and Rutland and NHS West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs). The arrangement would involve the County 
Council undertaking the management of a pooled budget on behalf of the CCGs.  

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Director of 

Corporate Resources and the County Solicitor, be authorised to negotiate and 
complete a a joint-commissioning agreement under Section 75 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 with NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland and NHS 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups along with any other legal 
agreements necessary for the joint administration of the Better Care Fund, 
including setting up a pooled fund to be managed by the County Council. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
3. The Department of Health has made it a condition that the operation of the Better 

Care Fund is subject to a section 75 agreement where joint governance 
arrangements between the County Council and CCGs will apply. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. The section 75 agreement must be in place for the start of the 2015/16 financial 

year. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7137



Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. The Better Care Fund (previously referred to as the Integration Transformation 

Fund) was announced by the Government in June 2013 as part of the 2013 
Spending Round. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
6. Leicestershire’s Better Care Fund allocation totals £38.3m which the County 

Council will receive in 2015/16.  In order for local authorities and CCGs to prepare 
for Better Care Fund implementation £2m has also been made available in 
2014/15. 
 

7. The Better Care Fund is a pooling of existing health and social care funding 
streams. It is not ‘new’ money and as such, any spending on social care needs to 
generate a saving for the wider health and social care economy.  The individual 
funding streams are outlined below: 
 

• CCG Revenue Funding £35.3m 
• Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) £1.7m 
• Social Care Capital Grant £1.3m 

 
8. The Department of Health has recently requested that all authorities resubmit their 

plans to provide further assurance that the Better Care Fund will deliver against its 
objectives.  While the detail around this resubmission is not yet available, it is not 
anticipated that the funding allocation will change. 

 
9. Department of Health guidance for the Better Care Fund allows for the protection 

of social care services for Leicestershire’s most vulnerable citizens.  In the County 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014/15 to 2017/18, £10m has been 
allocated for this purpose.  By 2015/16, the total amount of the Better Care Fund 
that has been allocated to protecting services (including transfers from previous 
years) will be £16m (42%). 

 
10. The County Solicitor has been consulted on the contents of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 

Brian Roberts 
Director of Corporate Resources 
0116 305 7830 
brian.roberts@leics.gov.uk  
 
Cheryl Davenport 
Director of Health and Care Integration 
0116 305 4212 
cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk  

138



PART B 
 

Background 
 

11. The Better Care Fund, announced by Government in the June 2013 Spending 
Round, is an opportunity to transform local health and social care services to 
improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people in our society, giving 
them control, placing them at the centre of their own care and support, and, in 
doing so, providing them with a better service and improved quality of life. 

 
12. Planning Guidance was issued by NHS England and the Local Government 

Association in December 2013, which included a requirement for all Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to agree a Better Care Fund Plan covering the period from 
2014/15 to 2015/16 by 4th April, 2014. 

 
13. The Better Care Fund Plan for Leicestershire sets out joint priorities in order to: 

 

• Improve the integration of health and care for the benefit of local citizens 
• Develop a more integrated, comprehensive and consistent set of community 

based services operating on a 7-day basis. 
• The aim is to: 

 

(a) Reduce the number of avoidable admissions to hospital. 
(b) Offer more integrated, proactive care to those with complex 

needs/long term conditions and prevent their escalation into urgent 
care wherever possible. 

(c) Reduce the length of time people spend in hospital, including through 
improved, integrated discharge and reablement services. 

 
14. The proposals included in Leicestershire’s Better Care Fund Plan are a 

combination of: 
 

• Existing joint priorities which have been progressed over the past two 
financial years using the NHS funding transfers to social care. 

• An extension of existing priorities to provide greater coverage and scale to 
community based services, such as extending services to 7 day 
working/night cover. 

• New, transformational work to change how we jointly deliver care and 
support. These will be subject to business case development. For example 
 

(a) Options to improve the whole pathway of care for frail older people, 
which will be developed and considered rapidly in 2014/15. 

(b) Developing a unified prevention offer to promote wellbeing and self 
care, by improving the availability, consistency and coordination of 
advice, information, and support in localities, including housing 
expertise. 

 
15. Provisions have also been made in the plan in line with national 

requirements for the introduction of the Care Act 2014and ensuring there is 
sufficient protection for those social care services that support hospital 
discharge and admission avoidance. 
 

139



16. The section 75 agreement will facilitate the commissioning and provision of 
services in the Better Care Fund Plan and will set out: 
 

• The financial contributions and the operation and management of the pooled 
budget. 

• The eligible service users included in the agreement. 
• The County Council and CCGs’ respective roles and responsibilities to be 

exercised in the joint-working arrangements. 
• The scope of the services that are provided in partnership, including the 

County Council’s functions and the CCGs' functions. 
• Review and governance arrangements. 

 
17. Progress of the development of the section 75 agreement will be reported to, and 

monitored by the Integration Executive on a monthly basis. 
 
Background Papers 
 

Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 1st April 2014 “Final draft of the 
Leicestershire Better Care Fund” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=4131&Ver=4 
 
Report to the County Council on 19th February 2014 “Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2014/15 to 2017/18” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000134/M00003961/AI00037151/$5aBudgetReportoftheCabinet.docx.pdf  

 
 
Equal Opportunities Implications 
 

18. The Better Care Fund aims to improve outcomes and wellbeing for the people of 
Leicestershire, with effective protection of social care and integrated activity to 
reduce emergency and urgent health demand. 

 
19. As part of the implementation of the Plan, an Equalities and Human Rights Impact 

Assessment and other relevant impact assessments will be undertaken to ensure 
that there is a clear understanding of how various groups are affected. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

140



 1

 
 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 
 

DEVELOPING EXTRA CARE HOUSING IN LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To highlight an immediate opportunity to develop additional extra care housing in  

Charnwood Borough and to seek approval of funding for the proposal by means of an 
exception to Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

a)  Subject to b) below approval is given to support the development of a new extra 
care housing scheme in Charnwood Borough by East Midlands Housing and 
Regeneration Limited (EMH) with the allocation of up to £1.560m as a capital 
contribution towards the cost of the scheme, including £260,000 of the County 
Council’s New Homes Bonus (NHB) for 2014/2015; 
 

b)  The Director of Adults and Communities and Chief Executive, following 
consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources and County Solicitor be 
authorised to: 

 
i) make a final decision on whether to commit funding to the scheme referred 

to in a) above; 
 

ii) conclude any necessary agreements to give effect to this decision in 
respect of capital funding, including the acquisition of any nomination rights 
that the County Council will acquire in the new accommodation; 

 
c) An exception to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules be granted to allow for 

any contracts referred in b) above to be entered into without undertaking a 
procurement exercise; 

 
d) Funding from the 2014/15 NHB revenue budget be transferred to an ear-

marked fund specifically held to support extra care projects;  
 
 e) A further report be submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting in October 2014 

setting out further detailed proposals for 2014/2015 NHB investment. 
 

Agenda Item 8141



 2

Reason for Recommendations 
 
3.  The Leicestershire Extra Care Housing Strategy 2010-2015 makes a commitment to 

increase the number of extra care housing schemes in the County during the 
Strategy period. 
 

4.  The proposed scheme would help ensure that the County Council makes the best 
and most appropriate use of the NHB received from Government for 2014/15.  
However, failure to achieve the required the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 
funding or other significant changes to the proposal would result in the Council 
needing to review its support, including any agreed financial contribution. 

 
5.  Granting an exception to the Contract Procedure Rules will allow for contracts to be 

entered into without undertaking a procurement exercise, as the contracting parties 
will all be in place. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. Subject to the recommendations in this report and necessary planning consent, it is 

anticipated the new scheme would start on site during 2014/15. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The White Paper ‘Our Health, Our Care, Our Say’, published in 2006, sets out a 

framework for adult social care in the future and expects local authorities to work 
strategically with partners to promote independence and provide opportunities for 
greater choice and control for service users.  The Department of Health (DoH) 
expects all local authorities to continue to develop alternatives to residential care. 
 

8. Enabling vulnerable adults to live as independently as possible in their own homes 
with choice and control over the services they receive will support the delivery of 
government policy as set out in DOH guidance ‘A Vision for Adult Social Care: 
Capable Communities and Active Citizens’ and the good practice guidance put 
together by the national partnership made up of the Association of Directors of Adult 
Social Services, the Local Government Association, and DOH ‘Think Local, Act 
Personal: Next Steps for Transforming Adult Social Care’ by providing choices and 
supporting individuals to participate in their communities. 

 
9. The Care Act 2014 maintains the current policy direction that is likely to continue for 

the foreseeable future.   
 

10. At its meeting on 15 December 2009, the Cabinet considered a report regarding 
progress with the development of alternatives to residential care through appropriate 
housing provision, and approved the Leicestershire Extra Care Housing Strategy for 
2010-2015.   An update to the Cabinet in February 2011 noted difficulties in 
accessing capital contributions to support the development of additional extra care 
provision and the impact of this on the deliverability of the target for 500 additional 
extra care places by 2015.   

 
11. The Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2012 Refresh predicts 

that by 2025 the number of people aged over 75 years is expected to increase 
significantly and the number of older people in Leicestershire aged 85+ is set to 

142



 3

double between 2008 and 2026.  The JSNA reports that the use of residential care in 
Leicestershire is decreasing and more people are being supported to live in the 
community.  In order to ensure this trend continues into the future, substantial 
investment in services such as supported housing is needed. 

 
12. The County Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2014/15–2017/18, 

including the 2014/15 revenue budget and capital programme, was approved by the 
County Council on 19 February 2014.  The MTFS sets out a new vision for the 
County Council and a new Target Operating Model (TOM) which reflects the 
imperative to adopt a much more integrated approach to prevention and early 
intervention so that fewer people become reliant on costly public services. 

 
13. The County Council’s Strategic Plan was approved by the Council on 21 May 2014. It 

sets out high priorities and supporting actions and targets for the Council over the 
next four years and aligns with the MTFS. 

 
14. Leicestershire’s strategic outcomes were agreed by the Leicestershire Together 

Board in March 2012. They include: 
 

i) A priority outcome on the ageing population: that services are designed to mitigate 
the impacts of an ageing population and enable older people to live independently 
for longer; 
 

ii) An outcome and sub-outcome on affordable housing: that housing supply meets 
the needs of Leicestershire people, and more affordable housing within mixed and 
sustainable communities.  

 
Resources Implications 
 
15. Development of new extra care housing will potentially require the County Council to 

invest in the following areas: 
 

a) A capital or asset contribution towards new build or refurbishment costs.  This 
element has increasing significance since external grant funding has become 
more difficult to access in the current financial climate; 

 
b) Through the provision of care packages for extra care residents (allocation of 

funding for care packages would be made in line with County Council rules on 
eligibility criteria);  

 
c)  Through the commissioning of support services. 

 
16. The Cabinet has previously agreed that the capital receipt from the transfer of the 

Council’s nine Elderly Persons Homes would be available for investment in new extra 
care schemes, subject to an appropriate business case. The amount remaining prior 
to this proposal was £1.895m and it is expected that £595,000 will remain after 
making a capital contribution to this scheme. 

 
17. Extra care housing gives the opportunity for service users to access sources of 

funding that are not available to them in residential care, and thus provides the 
potential for longer term efficiency savings for the Council.  Indicative savings of 
£250,000 are included in the current MTFS from 2015/16 onwards. 

143



 4

 
18. In January 2013, the Cabinet agreed that in 2013/2014 and 2014/2015 an allocation 

of £490,000 per annum of the County Council's NHB be made to provide homes for 
older people and affordable homes in rural communities, subject to appropriate 
funding contributions being made from District Councils, with the intention being to 
focus on extra care housing schemes. 

 
19. The 2014 MTFS includes £0.5m NHB funding for 2014/15.  The development is not 

expected to complete until the end of 2015/16 at the earliest.  To facilitate the 
matching of funding to spend profile, it will be necessary to transfer the £260,000 of 
this revenue funding to an ear-marked fund specifically held to support extra care 
projects.  

 
20. The Director of Corporate Resources and County Solicitor have been consulted on 

the contents of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
Mr. J. Miah CC, Ms. Betty Newton CC, Mr. Max Hunt CC, Mr. R. Sharp CC, Mr. P. G. 
Lewis CC 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Sandy McMillan, Assistant Director (Strategy and Commissioning), Adults and 
Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7320   Email: sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive, Strategy, Partnerships and Communities, Chief 
Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 

144



 5

PART B 
 

Background 
 
21.  Officers from the Adults and Communities and Chief Executive’s Departments have 

been working closely with District and Borough Councils and housing providers to 
implement the Extra Care Housing Strategy.  This has included aligning NHB funding 
priorities to the development of extra care to provide a co-ordinated County Council 
approach.   

 
22. A request was made in January 2014 to District Council housing officers, relevant 

housing associations, and the Rural Housing Enabling function (which is currently 
hosted by Midlands Rural Housing within the East Midlands Housing and 
Regeneration group), for details of potential ‘shovel ready’ extra care and rural 
affordable housing schemes.  This resulted in several potential schemes coming 
forward, including a new potential extra care housing scheme in Loughborough. 

 
23. The proposal comprises a 60 unit scheme at Derby Road, Loughborough as part of a 

larger development that will also provide 10 bungalows and 24 two and three bed 
homes for rent and shared ownership.  The site is well located close to amenities and 
the town centre.  The scheme is supported by Charnwood Borough Council. The site 
is under conditional contract to Westleigh Development Ltd, EMH’s developer partner 
to deliver the scheme.  Both EMH and Westleigh are on site developing the extra 
care scheme in Blaby which has County Council funding support. This site will be 
their second extra care development together.   

 
24. The Derby Road scheme has been considered against the ‘shovel ready’ criteria for 

extra care schemes used to determine NHB funding (set out in the Appendix).  In 
addition, the scheme has been assessed against criteria for investment in new extra 
care development agreed by Cabinet on 16 January 2013.  This assessment 
considers the following principles: 

 
i) Opportunities should be in one of the ten priority areas identified in Meeting the 

Need for Extra Care Housing in Leicestershire 2012; 
 

ii) Opportunities will need to demonstrate payback of any investment within 25 
years, based on the Council’s revenue funding model, developed to assess 
potential savings through providing extra care services as an alternative to 
residential care; 

 
iii) Capital costs related to potential development opportunities will need to align 

with the Council’s capital cost model, developed to provide a benchmark in 
relation to build costs and service charges; 

 
iv) Deliverability must be assured, including consideration of: 

 
• Suitability of the proposed site; 
• Planning status; 
• Timescales; 
• Sustainability; 
• Partnerships. 

 

145



 6

 
25. The proposed Derby Road scheme performs very well against both sets of criteria.  

 
26. The estimated total cost of the proposed extra care scheme is £9.5m. Given the 

scale and nature of the proposal funding is required from various partners; EMH will 
be providing 67% of the funding, 17% is sought in grant from the HCA and 16% is 
sought from the County Council.   

 
27. An application has been submitted to Charnwood Borough Council’s Growth Support 

Grant to secure funding towards this proposal.  The outcome of this is not yet known 
but, if successful, could reduce the percentage of funding sought from the County 
Council. 

 
28. In April 2014 the Adults and Communities Department provided ‘in principle’ officer 

support, subject to Cabinet approval, for the direction of £1.3m from Council capital 
towards this scheme and £260,000 from the Council’s NHB.  This was necessary to 
strengthen the bid to the HCA for grant funding.  The Cabinet is now requested to 
formally consider and agree to this funding being directed towards the proposed 
extra care scheme at Derby Road, Loughborough.  

  
29. The scheme has been considered by the Extra Care Programme Board in line with 

the criteria outlined in paragraph 24 above and as a result of the proposal meeting 
the requirements in full, the Board is supportive of the proposal.  However, failure to 
achieve the required HCA funding or other significant changes to the proposal would 
mean the Council would review its support of the proposal, including any agreed 
financial contribution. 

 
Background Papers 

 
• Report to Cabinet – 8 February 2011: Progress on Taking Forward the Development 

of Extra Care Housing in Leicestershire – 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003121/AI00027377/$Fprogresswithextracarehous
ing.doc.pdf 

 
• Report to Cabinet – 6 March 2012: Progress on Taking Forward the Development of 

Extra Care Housing in Leicestershire - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003389/AI00030549/$Fextracarehousingstrategypr
ogressreport.doc.pdf 

 
• Meeting the Need for Extra Care Housing in Leicestershire (March 2012) – Link to be 

provided – please contact the report author 
 

• Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2009 -  
http://www.lsronline.org/reports/leicestershire_joint_strategic_needs_assessment_jsna_2012_key_docu
ments 

 
• Report to Cabinet -  20 November 2013: New Homes Bonus 2013/2014;Supporting the 

delivery of Extra Care homes for the ageing population and affordable homes in rural 
communities 
http://politics.leics.gov.published/C00000135/M00003636/AI00036279/$6newhomesbonus201314.docA.
ps.pdf 

146



 7

Appendix 

 
Shovel Ready Criteria for Extra Care schemes 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights considerations 
 
30. The provision will be developed in accordance with the County Council's public 

sector Equality duties and responsibilities under the Human Rights Act 1998.  With 
this in mind, an earlier Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was produced to assess 
progress against actions contained in the Extra Care Strategy 2010-15.  The findings 
in this document will be used in the development of all Extra Care schemes such as 
Derby Road.  The improvement plan attached to that EIA is currently being reviewed 
and updated to take account of the Human Rights considerations that are now 
recorded in the County Council's new impact assessments (renamed EHRIAs). 

 
31. Provision of extra care housing services is aimed at enabling vulnerable people to 

maintain their independence.  The Extra Care Housing Strategy will ensure that a 
range of services are developed that meet the diverse needs of all communities in 
Leicestershire.  

 
Environmental Implications 
 
32. The drive to improve energy efficiency in buildings and to reduce carbon emissions 

from energy use is likely to result in tougher standards for new and renovated 
buildings in the near future.  Any future specification in relation to new buildings and 
renovation of buildings will include requirements for high energy efficiency standards. 

 
 

147



148

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

Appendix 
 
 
 
 

Shovel ready criteria for Extra Care schemes 
 
 
‘Shovel ready’ Extra Care schemes are considered to be those schemes which meet all of 
the following criteria: 
 

1. Are within one of the priority areas identified in the Extra Care needs assessment; 
 

2. Provides a sound investment opportunity to the County Council; 
 

3. Is of sufficient size to sustain reasonable service charges; 
 

4. Have detailed planning permission already granted for an Extra Care scheme; 
 

5. Have a willing landowner/s committed to early delivery; 
 

6. Are able to demonstrate support in the local community; 
 

7. Have a designated Registered Provider; 
 

8. Can make a business case for the receipt of New Homes Bonus funding; 
 

9. Can demonstrate that the majority of funding for the scheme has been, or can be, 
secured from the developer/RP/HCA or other funding e.g. Community Interest 
Company (CIC), thus the County Council’s contribution will either match fund or be 
of a lesser amount than the total sum from other funding sources; and 
 

10. Is capable of a start on site within the financial year. 
 

149



150

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 
 

BROADBAND – SUPERFAST EXTENSION PROGRAMME 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To seek approval for the implementation and funding of a proposed Superfast 

Extension Programme, an approach to procuring extended Broadband provision, and 
for seeking additional funding from local authority partners to extend the reach of the 
Programme.   

  
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

a) Approval is given to support the development of a broadband Superfast Extension 

Programme for Leicestershire, including the allocation of £2m from earmarked 

reserves as a capital contribution towards the cost of the Programme; 

b) Approval is given to underwrite a further £2m of funding being sought from the 

Government’s Local Growth Fund should that funding not be secured, in order to 

enable procurement to be initiated;  

c) Further investment be requested from district councils as set out in paragraphs 28 

to 33 of this report;  

d) A hybrid procurement approach be pursued involving a call-off from the national 

framework contract being initiated utilising a majority of the funding available, with 

the remaining investment held back to enable exploration of alternative and 

innovative solutions to extending Broadband to the ‘final 6%’; 

 

e) The County Council acts as the lead Local Body for the Superfast Extension 

Programme;  

 

f) Noting that the Superfast Extension Programme will include Leicester, a revised or 

new Collaboration Agreement with the City Council be entered into accordingly; 

 

g) The Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the County Council 

and the County Solicitor, be authorised to take all actions and/or decisions he 

Agenda Item 9151



 

considers necessary to give effect to any matter relating to the Superfast Extension 

Programme.  

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 

a) To further extend Superfast Broadband provision in rural Leicestershire in line with 
County Council priorities; 

 
b) To safeguard delivery of the whole programme by enabling procurement to be 

initiated at a sufficiently early stage; 
 

c) To maximise the potential roll out of Superfast Broadband to rural communities and 
businesses, and to achieve fair and equitable contributions from key partners; 
 

d) To enable the most effective procurement of Broadband provision taking account of 
delivery challenges and timescale constraints; 
 

e) and f) To enable efficient and effective liaison between local partners and 
Broadband Delivery UK (BDUK), continuing the current arrangement in place for the 
Superfast Leicestershire programme; 
 

g) To facilitate the timely and effective procurement and delivery of the Programme.       
 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
3. It is expected that, subject to the Cabinet’s decision, the following procurement 

timetable will be followed.  All contracts need to be signed by June 2015 when EU 
state aid clearance will expire.     

 

• Late July 2014 – Initiation of an Open Market Review to identify Intervention 

Areas (i.e. areas that will not be covered by commercial investment and 

therefore will be eligible for public investment). 

• November/ December 2014 – Issue Invitation to Tender. 

• April 2015 – Sign Contract. 

• June 2015 – Deadline for all contracts to be signed based on EU state aid 

clearance.  

• April 2017 – Expected deployment completion. 

Discussions will be held with suppliers during the procurement process to explore 

how deployment could be accelerated. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
4. The deployment of super-fast broadband across Leicestershire is identified as a key 

priority in the Council’s Strategic Plan, within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

152



 

(MTFS) and the Strategic Economic Plan recently submitted to Government by the 

Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP). 

 
5. On 17th January 2012 the Cabinet approved the allocation of up to £4m within the 

Council's MTFS to deploy super-fast broadband.  It was agreed that a submission be 

made to the Government to increase its allocation to Leicestershire and that 

procurement would be progressed through the Government’s national procurement 

framework.  The Leader of the Council was authorised to submit Leicestershire’s 

Local Broadband Plan to Government. 

 
6. On 16th January 2013 the Cabinet approved the initiation of procurement of the 

Superfast Leicestershire Programme and to enter into Collaboration Agreements with 

the district councils and City Council.  Delegated authority was given to the Chief 

Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the County Council and the 

County Solicitor, to act to deliver the project. 

 
 

Resources Implications 
 
7. When in January 2012 the County Council allocated £4m to support delivery of 

Broadband as part of a £18.6m programme currently being delivered by BT, a further 

£2m was held back in earmarked funds for Broadband investment.  It is 

recommended that this be allocated to support delivery of the Superfast Extension 

Programme with £300,000 of the funding set aside for project delivery costs, 

including demand stimulation activity.  Allocation of the full £2m will mean there will 

remain no contingency for the project. 

8. The expected funding profile for the Superfast Extension Programme is set out in the 

table below.  

 Leicestershire Leicester 

DCMS (Government) £3.7m £1.4m 

Local authority £1.7m £0.3m 

Local Growth Fund (via 

LLEP) 

£2.0m £1.1m 

Supplier (subject to 

procurement) 

£1.8m £0.8m 

Total £9.2m £3.6m 

 

9. Procurement will need to be initiated in late July.  If a full matched funding package is 

not committed the Government will not permit the procurement to be initiated.  

 

153



 

10. The Local Growth Fund (LGF) element of the funding package results from 

Broadband provision being identified as a priority project in the LLEP’s Strategic 

Economic Plan.  The award of funding to the project will be determined by the 

outcome of the negotiation of a Growth Deal between the LLEP and the Government. 

The outcome of that process is expected in July 2014, but is not known at the time of 

writing.  There is a risk, therefore, that the funding package will not be in place if the 

LGF funding is not secured, putting the whole programme at risk.  It is therefore 

recommended that the Council underwrites the LGF element of the package.    

 

11. The proposed LGF investment of £3.1m (£2m in the County, £1.1m in the City) is 

profiled so that £1.05m is being sought for spend in 2015/16 and £2.05m in 2016/17.  

It is likely that should the Growth Deal include the proposed funding for the Superfast 

Extension Programme it will only be the 2015/16 funding (£675,000 for the County)  

that will be firmly committed with the 2016/17 element (£1.325m) being an indicative 

or provisional allocation.  Risk relating to the 2016/17 element could be mitigated by 

seeking assurance from the LLEP that the broadband project will be considered a 

high priority for investment in 2016/17 and that this will be reflected in future Growth 

Deal negotiations.  If the LGF funding for the broadband bid is not secured the 

underwrite can be covered from a combination of resources previously allocated for 

economic development initiatives and reserves.   

 

12. The possible expansion of the Programme by securing further district council 

investment is considered in paragraphs 28 to 33 of this report.   

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
13. None. 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive, Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk  
 
Matthew Kempson, Broadband Project Manager, Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6179    Email: matthew.kempson@leics.gov.uk 
 

154



 

PART B 
 

Background 
 
14. As detailed in Part A above, the deployment of superfast broadband across 

Leicestershire is a key strategic priority.  It will help businesses innovate and grow, 

improve access to services and help transform public services. 

 
15. BT has made a significant investment in Leicestershire to deliver high-speed fibre 

broadband.  It is expected that BT’s commercial coverage, together with Virgin 

Media’s cable network, will ensure superfast broadband to 75% of Leicestershire 

premises.  BT is in the process of completing its commercial rollout with deployment 

in parts of Melton Mowbray, Shepshed, Earl Shilton and Glenfield expected to be 

completed in September 2014. 

 
16. In August 2013, the Council signed a £16.9m contract with BT to increase superfast 

broadband coverage, of at least 24Mbps, to 92.3% of premises.  This was supported 

by £4m of investment from the Council, £1.3m from the European Regional 

Development Fund (ERDF), £3.3m from the Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

(DCMS) and £8.3m from BT.  In February 2014 a variation was made to the contract 

to incorporate £1.1m of district council investment.  This secured a further £0.6m of 

BT investment.  This combined investment will ensure a further 4,400 premises are 

able to access superfast broadband.  Further investment was secured from BDUK 

(Broadband Delivery UK) and BT to connect Diseworth following a community-led bid 

to the Rural Community Broadband Fund. 

 
17. In total the current full contract, including BT and District investment, is £18.9m; 

extending superfast broadband coverage to 93.9% of Leicestershire premises.  In 

total it is expected that 54,500 premises will be able to upgrade to superfast 

broadband under the existing BT call-off contract and receive speeds in excess of 

24Mbps. 

 
18. In March 2014 the County Council launched a new Superfast Leicestershire project 

website at www.superfastleicestershire.org.uk.  This includes more information about 

the project, including the current rollout plan.  The first areas are being connected 

this month and the build will take 18 months.  The website will be kept updated as the 

deployment progresses.  This will include a revised coverage map. 

 
19. Following commercial deployment and additional coverage as a result of the BT call-

off contract, it is estimated that about 18,000 premises in Leicestershire will not be 

able to access superfast broadband speeds of at least 24Mbps.  This reflects the 

final 6% of premises in Leicestershire.  These will be the focus of the Superfast 

Extension Programme. 

 
 
 
 

155



 

Superfast Extension Programme 
 
20. In June 2013 the Government revised its broadband objectives.  It now seeks to 

deliver superfast broadband to 95% of UK premises by 2017.  The remaining 5% will 

receive a minimum of 2Mbps.  BDUK is in discussion with suppliers to seek 

innovative solution to boost speeds in the remaining 5% within the UK.  In order to 

achieve this 95% target £250m has been allocated by DCMS to local authorities; 

£5.1m for Leicestershire and Leicester.  The breakdown is £3.7m for Leicestershire 

and £1.4m for Leicester.  Local authorities are required to match this investment in 

order to draw down the Government indicative allocation.  Further funding from 

Government may be available if other areas do not take up their allocation. 

21. Last week a Funding Request was submitted to DCMS outlining the Council’s 

intention to participate in the Superfast Extension Programme.  This is not a legally 

binding request but outlines the County Council’s further commitment to initiate a 

project under the Government’s superfast extension programme. 

22. The Government has identified 3 possible procurement approaches to secure a 

supplier: 

i. Change Control: Variation to existing BT contract to incorporate all or some of 

the additional investment; 

 

ii. Call-Off: Use of the Government’s Framework contract to secure a new supplier. 

BT and Fujitsu are the two suppliers on the Framework although the latter has 

not engaged in any call-off procurements; 

iii. Full EU compliant OJEU (Official Journal of the European Union) procurement: 

Full separate single procurement or development of a new local or regional 

Framework contract.  

 

23. Legal advice has indicated that Change Control could risk a material challenge and 

threaten the whole contract if a challenge was upheld.  It is judged that there would 

be substantial risks in progressing procurement through a full EU compliant OJEU 

procurement process given the constraints set by the EU State Aid decision timeline 

which requires contracts to be signed by June 2015.  A Call-Off from the Framework 

is therefore the recommended approach.   

24. It is, however, considered prudent to retain a level of flexibility by retaining some 

funding to explore alternative solutions.  Therefore a hybrid procurement approach is 

proposed which comprises: 

i. Initiation of a Framework Call-Off with a majority of the investment available; 

ii. Retention of a proportion of the investment to enable exploration of alternative 

solutions to reach the ‘final 6%’.  This funding could still be written into the 

Framework procurement as “Additional Deployed Services” and could, therefore, 

be incorporated in the new contract if subsequently considered the best option. 

156



 

25. It is proposed that the Council continues to act as the Lead Authority, working in 

partnership with the City Council during procurement and contracting.  The 

Collaboration Agreement between the Council and the City Council will be revised or 

alternatively a new Collaboration Agreement will be entered into.  

 
26. Achieving value for money is critically important.  There is significant scrutiny of the 

Government’s national programme following publication of reports by the Public 

Accounts Committee and the National Audit Office.  The County Council will continue 

to work with Government to ensure value for money through the procurement and in-

life contract management.  This will include financial comparison with other areas, 

payment by results, detailed evidence submitted to support claims, state aid 

clawback to prevent over-subsidy, internal audit scrutiny, and additional technical and 

commercial support via Atkins. 

District Council Investment 

28. All district councils were invited to invest alongside the Council to increase superfast 

broadband coverage when the Superfast Leicestershire project was initiated.  The 

requested investment was based on the expected funding gap prior to the 

procurement.  A summary of the request and secured investment is outlined below.   

District Requested 

investment (£) 

Secured 

investment (£) 

Variance (£) 

Blaby DC 340,000 50,000 -290,000 

Charnwood BC 420,000 100,000 -320,000 

Harborough DC 530,000 530,000 - 

Hinckley and Bosworth BC 440,000 58,820 -381,180 

Melton BC 370,000 370,000 - 

North West Leicestershire DC 270,000 54,000 -216,000 

Oadby and Wigston BC 70,000 0 -70,000 

Total 2,440,000 1,162,820 -1,277,180 

 

29. Melton Borough Council and Harborough District Council provided all of the funding 

requested with the other five district councils investing a quarter or less of the 

request.  Further district council investment in the Superfast Extension Programme 

would enable the rollout to be extended to a larger number of homes and businesses 

in rural areas.    

30. It is considered appropriate to ask the five district councils who only partially met the 

funding request for the Superfast Leicestershire Programme to invest in the 

Superfast Extension Programme.  This is based on the current number of premises 

157



 

expected to be unable to receive superfast broadband through commercial 

deployment and the current BT contract. 

31. A collective contribution of £1m, to complement the County Council’s investment of 

£2m, is considered appropriate and on the basis of current information about 

expected ‘gaps in coverage’ this is apportioned as set out below.  

District Current SFBB 

gap – number of 

premises. 

% gap Funding request  

Blaby 1,470 13.3 £133,000 

Charnwood 3,453 31.3 £313,000 

Hinckley and Bosworth 3,359 30.4 £304,000 

North West Leicestershire 2,363 21.4 £214,000 

Oadby and Wigston 397 3.6 £36,000 

Total 11,042 100% £1,000,000 

 

32. There does remain a coverage gap in Melton and Harborough too (3,131 and 3,836 

premises respectively) and the two district councils will be invited to supplement the 

County Council investment should they wish to.  

33. The County Council will discuss procurement options with district councils.  During 

the initial procurement, district council funding was identified as Additional Deployed 

Services within the BT contract.  This investment was then incorporated through the 

change control process.  BT undertook separate modelling for district funding to 

ensure value for money.  

Solutions for the ‘Final 6%’ and engagement 

34. The Superfast Extension Programme is one solution to increase coverage across 

Leicestershire.  Other approaches and opportunities are outlined below: 

a) As part of the current BT contract further deployment may be enabled through the 

gain-share mechanism if there is high take-up, or through cost savings made 

within the contract;  

b) Community and commercial solutions. Some alternative suppliers target rural 

communities or business parks to deliver fibre broadband solutions. Their models 

often require high demand to be demonstrated.  Council officers are in 

discussions with suppliers to explore options; 

158



 

c) Access to finance. Provision by small commercial developers might be facilitated 

by making loan finance available.  The Council will be able to consider how it can 

help any such providers in this position.  

35. Leicestershire will be reliant on new innovative technologies to boost speeds in more 

rural areas.  Some BT technologies are being trialled ahead of a national rollout. 

Unfortunately the County Council is not, at the current time, able to model the 

expected coverage of these. 

 

36. Two engagement sessions were held in early July, in Ibstock and Billesdon, for 

parish councils to help them understand the issues and options for those areas 

currently outside the contracted rollout plan, and discussions are taking place with 

specific local communities about potential solutions for their areas, including in the 

Welland Valley area in the south-east of Leicestershire.  

 
 

Background Papers 
 

Joint Report of the Chief Executive and the Director of Corporate Resources – Funding for 
families with complex needs and other programmes – Cabinet, 13th September 2011 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003127/AI00029172/$HFamilieswithComplexNeeds.doc.pdf  

 
Report of the Chief Executive – Broadband Leicestershire Programme –   Cabinet, 17th 
January 2012 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003491/AI00030112/$Fbroadbandleicestershireprogramme.doc.pdf  

 
Report of the Chief Executive – Broadband Leicestershire Programme – Cabinet, 16th 
January 2013 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003628/AI00033437/$FbroadbandLeicestershireprogramme.doc.pdf  

 
 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Considerations 
 
The deployment of improved broadband connectivity will help ensure all Leicestershire 

residents and businesses have access to a range of online digital services. A full equality 

impact assessment (EIA) is being prepared in accordance with County Council’s Equality, 

Diversity and Human Rights Strategy. 

 
 

 
    

159



160

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

CABINET – 15th JULY 2014 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

PROVISION AND REFOCUSING OF GRANTS TO COMMUNITY 
GROUPS – SHIRE PARTICIPATORY COMMUNITY GRANTS 

SCHEME 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to seek approval to implement a new SHIRE 

Participatory Community Grants programme in line with the agreed refocusing 
of grants to community groups which was agreed by the Cabinet on 5 March 
2014. 
 

Recommendations 
 
2. The Cabinet is recommended to : 

 
(a) Agree that a new SHIRE Participatory Community Grants scheme 

complementing the SHIRE Community Solutions Grant be implemented at 
the earliest opportunity; 
 

(b) Agree that the SHIRE Participatory Community Grants scheme will be 
implemented on a countywide basis, with funding made available on the 
basis of themes and involving an allocation process that will take place 
twice a year, in line with the proposals outlined in paragraphs 22–37 
below; 
 

(c) Agree that the independent Panel that is currently being established to 
oversee the SHIRE Community Solutions Grant will also oversee the 
SHIRE Participatory Community Grants.  

 
Reason for recommendation 

 
3. To achieve the savings agreed in the County Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Strategy for a £430,000 service reduction in 2014/15 with regards to 
the provision and refocusing of grants to individuals and community groups.  

 
4. The proposed scheme will build on the strengths of the previous Community 

Forum Budgets, whilst ensuring it is fit for purpose in the light of the new focus 
for community grants provision.  Adding the oversight of the Participatory 
Community Grants scheme to the independent Panel for the SHIRE 

Agenda Item 10161



 

 

Community Solutions Grant will create a strategic Panel to oversee the 
entirety of the Shire Community Grants programme. 

 
Timetable for decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. The Scrutiny Commission was consulted on the Medium Term financial 

Strategy (MTFS) savings line S71 with regard to provision and refocusing of 
grants to individuals and community groups at its meeting on 29th January 
2014. 

 
6. On 5th March 2014 the Cabinet approved the focus, aims and objectives for a 

new SHIRE Community Grants programme, consisting of a SHIRE 
Community Solutions Grant Fund of £260,000 per annum and a SHIRE 
Participatory Community Grants Fund of £160,000 per annum. 

 
7. The Scrutiny Commission was consulted on the implementation of the SHIRE 

Community Solutions Grant on 26th March 2014 (its comments are referred to 
at paragraph 33 below) 

 
8. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, the Chief Executive, following consultation 

with the Cabinet Lead Member for Shire Grants will agree, at the earliest 
opportunity, the implementation of the SHIRE Participatory Community 
Solutions Grant, including detailed criteria, guidance for applicants and the 
approval process to enable implementation in the autumn of 2014. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
9. On 19th February 2014 the Council approved the MTFS including the 2014/15 

revenue budget and capital programme. The MTFS includes a £430,000 
service reduction in 2014/15 with regards to the provision and refocusing of 
grants to individuals and community groups. 
 

10. On 5th March 2014 the Cabinet approved the focus, aims and objectives for a 
new SHIRE Community Grants programme, consisting of a SHIRE 
Community Solutions Grant Fund of £260,000 per annum and a SHIRE 
Participatory Community Grants Fund of £160,000 per annum. It was agreed 
that the SHIRE Community Solutions Grant be implemented at the earliest 
opportunity and that proposals for implementation of the proposed SHIRE 
Participatory Community Grant scheme be developed for future consideration 
by the Cabinet. 

 
 

162



 

 

11. The County Council’s draft Communities Strategy was approved for public 
consultation by the Cabinet on 17th June 2014. The Communities Strategy 
sets out how the County Council will: 
 
(a)      Help people and communities to support themselves and vulnerable 

people, reducing the demand on public services; 
 

(b)      Devolve services – increase the ability of community groups to take 
over, or work more closely with, services currently delivered by the 
council; 
 

(c)      Ensure voluntary groups support the council to deliver its priorities on 
service devolution and help for vulnerable people. 
 

The SHIRE Community Grants programme would directly support the delivery 
of this Communities Strategy. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
12. The proposals in this report are in line with the County Council’s MTFS and 

2014/15 Revenue and Capital Budgets. The Director of Corporate Resources 
has been consulted in the preparation of this report.  

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
13.  A copy of this report has been circulated to all members of the County 

Council under the Members News in Brief service. 
 
Officers to contact 
 
Derk van der Wardt, Team Leader Communities & Places, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 7581 
Email: derk.vanderwardt@leics.gov.uk 
 
Nicole Rickard, Interim Head of Policy & Communities, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 6977 
Email: Nicole.rickard@leics.gov.uk 

 
  

163



 

 

PART B 
 
 
Background 
 
14. On 5th March the Cabinet agreed that Community Grant schemes would be 

refocused in line with the ambitions of the MTFS to help deliver the County 
Council’s strategic imperatives for transformation. The allocation of funds for 
2014/15 and each year of the remaining period covered by the MTFS is as 
follows: 
 

 

15. The agreed revised focus for the funding is on: 
 

a. enhancing the capacity of individuals and communities to identify and 
deliver solutions that enable them to support both themselves and 
other vulnerable individuals and families, thus reducing demand on 
public services; 

b. supporting the ability and appetite of community groups, social 
enterprises and the voluntary sector to take over relevant services 
currently delivered by the County Council and/or or to work alongside 
the public sector to deliver services. 

 
16. In line with this focus, the key aims and objectives for the provision of grants 

to communities are therefore: 
 

a. Building the capacity of voluntary and community groups to provide 
sustainable services and activities to help vulnerable people and 
reduce demand for specialist services; 

b. Actively enabling communities to provide preventative and early 
intervention activities and services that help reduce the need for and 
dependency on high cost County Council services; 

c. Raising community expectations about the potential and ability of 
communities to help themselves; 

d. Gaining insight into the ways in which communities are able and willing 
to help themselves and how the Council can encourage, enable and 
facilitate communities to provide effective prevention and early 
intervention activity; 

e. Supporting communities to explore options for, and test the feasibility 
of taking over council services.  

 
17. The agreed SHIRE Community Grants Programme involves: 

 
a. A SHIRE Community Solutions grants scheme for match funding 

contributions up to £10,000 to support new initiatives to provide and 

Community Grants programme Annual Budget 

Capital Revenue 

SHIRE Community Solutions Grant Fund £100,000 £160,000 
SHIRE Community Participatory Grant Fund  £160,000 
Total £100,000 £320,000 

164



 

 

develop preventative and early intervention services that help reduce 
demand for high-cost services and to support communities wishing to 
develop alternative services to compensate for service reductions or 
wishing to take over services that the County Council is no longer able 
to provide.  

b. A SHIRE Participatory Grants Scheme for grants up to £2,500 to 
support smaller community projects and build capacity and raise 
aspirations in communities to deliver sustainable preventative and early 
intervention activity and services. 

 
Aims of the SHIRE Community Participatory Grant Fund 
 
18. Operating alongside the SHIRE Community Solutions Grant, the SHIRE 

Community Participatory Grant fund will be particularly aimed at:  
 

a. Easy access for applicants - including through a straightforward 
application process and an opportunity for project proposers to present 
their project in person; 

b. Transparency – an open and transparent participatory decision making 
process;  

c. Building Capacity – embedding learning and access to information, 
advice and support for participating groups in the process.  

 
19. This grant fund would provide a financial contribution (up to £2,500) to enable 

community groups and small local charities to provide community services 
and activities, in particular with regards to vulnerable people in the 
community. 
 

20. The participatory Community Forum Budgets programme has been a popular 
community grant fund, which has worked well as a capacity building entry-
level fund and supported a high level of projects that supported relevant 
outcomes around prevention and early intervention.  The proposed SHIRE 
Community Participatory Grant funds process builds on the strengths of the 
Community Forum Budgets process, whilst ensuring it is fit for purpose in the 
light of the new focus for community grants. 

 
Implementation of the SHIRE Participatory Community Grants Fund 
 
21. It is proposed that the SHIRE Community Participatory Grants will be awarded 

twice a year and that it will be a countywide process that is based around a 
number of key themes.  Applicants will be invited to submit a bid in relation to 
one of these themes, demonstrating how their project proposals will help 
achieve outcomes in relation to that theme. 
 

22. It is proposed that the following four themes would be fixed for a three-year 
period:  
 

a. Supporting vulnerable people in the community 
b. Encouraging young people to achieve their potential 
c. Supporting older people to live independently 

165



 

 

d. Getting active in the community 
 

23. In addition, it is proposed that each funding round will include a one-off theme, 
which would be agreed annually by the Chief Executive, in liaison with the 
Cabinet Lead Member for Shire Grants.  The proposed two themes for 2014-
15 are: 
 

a. Eating healthily for less; 
b. Supporting carers. 

 
24. The proposed annual allocation of funding to these themes is as follows: 

 
Theme Round 1 Round 2 Annual 

Total 
Supporting vulnerable people in the 
community 

£15,000 £15,000 £30,000 

Encouraging young people to achieve their 
potential 

£15,000 £15,000 £30,000 

Supporting older people to live independently 
 

£15,000 £15,000 £30,000 

Getting active in the community £15,000 £15,000 £30,000 
Annual Theme 1 
 
Annual Theme 2 

£20,000 
 
0 

0 
 
£20,000 

£20,000 
 
£20,000 

Total £80,000 £80,000 160,000 
 
25. To ensure eligible groups across the County are aware of the funding 

opportunities and encourage innovative bids to come forward, further 
consideration will be given to the most effective and efficient way to promote 
the Grant Fund and the related themes.  This may involve holding special 
events and meetings to explain the funding process and bring potential 
bidders in contact with each other and with sources of support.  Specific 
attention will be given to encouraging bids from community groups in areas 
with relatively high levels of deprivation and groups who may need additional 
support to develop their proposals. 
 

26. For each theme, applicants will be invited to submit bids matching that 
particular theme by a set date.  Bids received for a particular theme will then 
be taken through the following stages: 
 
Initial selection 
Stage (1) 

An officer based selection will aim to filter out 
proposals that are ineligible, lack substance or do not 
align sufficiently with the theme.  
 

Assessment & 
Prioritisation 
Stage (2) 
 

This participatory stage will involve 
o Making projects available on a website to enable 

people to see the projects and comment on them; 
o Sharing projects with a virtual ‘Expert Panel’ to 

get feedback on each proposal. This feedback will 
be shared with applicants and a summary made 

166



 

 

available via the website;  
o Holding a ‘decision night’ where project proposers 

come together to listen to and discuss each 
other’s proposals and score projects and/or vote 
for their favourites. 
 

Formal 
Approval 
Stage (3) 
 

Officers will ensure prioritised projects meet all criteria 
for public funding and formalise the offer of funding. 
 

Learning 
Stage (4) 
 

Officers will monitor the delivery of projects to identify 
if and how the project is adding value. 

 
Stage 1 - Initial selection  
 

27. The officer-based initial selection (Stage 1) will ensure that all projects that 
enter the participatory stage are eligible and relevant to that theme.  Where 
officers consider that projects would fit better with a different theme, project 
proposers will be contacted to discuss the options.  
 

28. Projects that appear not to have sufficient substance behind them and would 
therefore struggle to be delivered can also be taken out of the process.  
Where relevant, applicants will be advised to re-submit a revised bid as part of 
a future funding round.  This process will ensure that time is not wasted on 
inappropriate projects, whilst also providing clarity to community groups at an 
early stage about projects that are not deemed to meet the criteria.  All 
remaining projects will go forward into a participatory allocation process 
(Stage 2). 

 
Stage 2 - Assessment and prioritisation  
 

29. The existing leicestershireforums.org website will be transformed to provide a 
platform to support the scheme.  All projects that have passed the first stage 
will be made available on this website to enable people to view the projects 
submitted for each particular theme and comment on them over a set period 
of time.  
 

30. All projects will also be shared with relevant officers from across the County 
Council and key partner organisations.  This virtual ‘Expert Panel’ will provide 
feedback on each proposal.  This feedback will be shared with applicants and 
a summary made available via the website.  

. 
31. There will be a Decision Night for each theme to bring together project 

proposers.  They will be able to present their projects and be encouraged to 
listen to and discuss each other’s proposals.  Ultimately, they will also 
prioritise the projects by scoring them and/or vote for their favourites.  The 
decision night will produce a prioritised list of projects with a provisional 
allocation of funding. 

 

167



 

 

32. It is proposed that there would be a maximum number of representatives that 
can take part in the scoring/voting from each project (i.e. 4 or 5).  Although the 
Decision Nights could be open to the wider public for transparency reasons, 
scoring/voting would not be open to all. 

 
Stage 3 - Formal Approval  
 

33. Following the themed Decision Night, officers in the Communities and Places 
Team will ensure priority projects meet all criteria for public funding and that 
any key issues identified via the Expert Panel process are addressed before 
formalising the offer of funding.   
 
Stage 4 - Learning 
 

34. The main aims of this stage are:  
 

a. To monitor that the funding awarded is spent in accordance with the 
agreed project proposals;  

b. To demonstrate how the projects funded are adding value and are 
helping the Council to reduce demand for its services. 
 

35.  The progress monitoring and liaison during this stage will be set up so as to 
ensure that the Council gains useful insight from the projects it supports.  It is 
proposed that findings will be reported regularly to a strategic panel that 
oversees the SHIRE Community Grants Programme (see paragraphs 38-40 
below). 

 
36. To encourage other community groups to learn from successful projects, 

successful groups may also be asked to present their projects to relevant 
forums and to be involved in promoting further rounds of the grant scheme.  It 
may also be appropriate to hold update events where successful projects can 
share their progress with each other and with relevant officers and decision 
makers. 
 

37. Where appropriate, projects may be encouraged to apply for further funding 
from the Community Solutions Grant fund. 

 
SHIRE Community Grants Panel 
 
38. The Cabinet report on 5th March 2014 proposed that the allocation of funding 

for the SHIRE Community Solutions Grant will be overseen by an 
independent panel of representatives of funding organisations and community 
and voluntary sector organisations. The Panel will be chaired by a Cabinet 
member and will meet several times throughout the year.  

 
39. It is now further proposed that this Panel will oversee the SHIRE Participatory 

Community Grants.  This will provide strategic oversight and challenge with 
regard to the full SHIRE Community Grants Programme. 

 

168



 

 

40. To ensure this Panel fulfils its wider strategic role in ensuring the Council 
learns from the grants programme, it is proposed that senior managers of 
relevant County Council services are invited to sit on the Panel as 
appropriate.  

 
Consultations 
 
41. The Scrutiny Commission was consulted on 26th March 2014 about different 

options for implementing the SHIRE Community Participatory Grant Fund 
(these are set out in Appendix A).  The Scrutiny Commission resolved that the 
implementation options for a Shire Participatory Grants Scheme that involve 
delivery on a countywide basis and that are based around themes linked to 
the County Council’s strategic and transformational priorities be broadly 
supported. 

 
42. A range of partners have been consulted informally following the Scrutiny 

Commission meeting about the implementation options for this grants 
scheme, including District Councils, the Leicestershire and Rutland Sports 
Partnership, and Voluntary Action Leicestershire. These proposals have been 
further developed in light of and incorporate the feedback from this informal 
consultation.  

Background Papers 
 
Report to the County Council 19th February 2014 “Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2014/15 – 2017/18” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3961&Ver=4 

 
Report to the Cabinet 5 March 2014 “Provision and Refocusing of Grants to 
Community Groups”. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003988/AI00037204/$8provisionandrefocusingofgrants.docxA.ps.pdf  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Commission held on 26th March 2014 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3934&Ver=4  

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A  -   Options for the implementation of the SHIRE Community  

Participatory Grants, as used for consultation with Scrutiny 
Commission on 26th March 2014. 

 

Appendix B  -  Equalities Impact Assessment report. 
 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
43. An Equalities Impact Assessment with regard to the provision and refocusing 

of community grants has been completed and agreed by the County Council’s 
Departmental Equalities Group on 25 March 2014. The key findings were that 

169



 

 

reduced funding availability will inevitably lead to reduced access to grant 
funds for community and voluntary groups across the county.  If implemented 
without mitigating changes to the aims, objectives, criteria and assessment 
processes of replacement schemes, this would disproportionately 
disadvantage groups representing young people, older people, vulnerable 
people as well as rural and disadvantaged communities in terms of access to 
funds to achieve benefits for these groups.  Mitigation of this potential 
differential impact has been considered carefully in the development and 
design of the aims, themes and assessment processes for the new SHIRE 
Participatory Community Grants scheme.  

 
Partnership working 
 
44. The virtual ‘Expert Panel’ process will include officers from a range of partner 

organisations, including District Councils, the Leicestershire and Rutland 
Sports Partnership and Voluntary Action Leicestershire. This will ensure they 
will have a full oversight of applications that are relevant to the aims of their 
organisation and that they are able to provide feedback to applicants as 
appropriate.  These proposals therefore have a positive impact on partnership 
working. 

 
 

170



SHIRE Community Participatory Grants – Implementation Options 
 

Option Timing Geography Budget allocation Participatory process 
Annual Programme  
 
around small number of themes, for 
example:   
• Supporting Older People to live 

independently 

• Improving Health & Well-being 

• Supporting Children & Families 

• Tackling Worklessness  

• Preventative Services for 
Vulnerable People  

 

Once a year  
 
at a fixed time period within the 
year, ie April-June or Sep-Nov 
 
 

Countywide 
 
Groups would apply for a share of a 
theme pot rather than an area pot 
 
 

Theme-based  
 
Either set amount for each theme or 
variation in amount to reflect priority 
attached to each theme 
 
Themes could be set each year to 
reflect emerging priorities 
 
 

Theme-based 
 
Decision Nights would bring 
together community groups based 
on the issues they are trying to 
address. 
 
Supports learning and joint working 
within themes 

‘Call-for-action’ programme 
 
Insight-focused approach 
based on certain themes or issues 

• tackling worklessness in 
Loughborough 

• Access to services in rural areas 

• Healthy living in Coalville 
 

Rolling programme 
 
Calls would be made as and when 
required – probably 3 times a year 

Flexible 
 
Depends on each ‘call’. Some may 
be countywide, some may be 
geographically focused. 
 

Theme-based 
 
Each call would have a specific 
budget, which would vary according 
to priority. 
 
Potential to join up with other 
funders around certain calls for 
action to increase finds available 

Theme-based 
 
Decision Nights would bring 
together community groups based 
on the issues they are trying to 
address,. 
 
Supports learning and joint working 
within themes, sometimes within a 
particular area as well. 
 

Countywide area-focused 
programme 
 
Annual programme in 5 areas, with 
2 broad themes in each area. 
 

Staggered throughout year 
 
An annual, one-off programme for 
each area, but at different times of 
the year for each area 

Countywide 
 
County divided in 5 areas that are 
roughly equivalent in terms of 
population size 

Fixed area budget 
 
£32K/yr allocated to 2 area-specific 
themes within each area 

Area & theme based 
 
Decision Nights would bring 
together groups in local area 
working on addressing similar 
issues 
 
Supports learning and joint working 
within the local area & within 
themes. 
 

Targeted area-focused 
programme 
 
Bulk of funding targeted at 
geographic areas of highest need, 
with remainder available for rest of 
county 

Staggered throughout year 
 
An annual, one-off programme for 
each area, but at different times of 
the year for each area 

Targeted 
 
Targeted on small number of areas, 
ie based on deprivation or 
prevalence of certain issues. 

Fixed area budget 
 
A limited number of area-specific 
themes would apply 

Area based 
 
Decision Nights would bring 
together groups trying to improve 
the local area.  
 
Supports learning and joint working 
within the local area. 
 

 

1
7

1



1
7
2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



 
           Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Report 

 
For further information on undertaking and completing an Equality Impact Assessment, please 

see the guidance. 
 

Name of policy/ procedure/ function/ service 
being assessed: 

SHIRE Community and Participatory Grant funding 

Department and Section:  
Chief Executive’s Dept, Communities and Places 
Team 

Name of lead officer and others completing this 
assessment:  

Mike Thomson/Derk Van Der Wardt 

Contact telephone numbers: 0116 305 7090/7581 

Date EIA assessment completed: January 2014 

 
Step 1: Defining the policy/ procedure/ function/ service 

Using the information gathered within the Equality Questionnaire, you should begin this full EIA by 
defining and outlining its scope. The EIA should consider the impact or likely impact of the policy in 
relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights, as outlined in the Equality, Diversity and 
Human Rights Strategy of Leicestershire County Council. 

 

What are the main aims, purpose and objectives of the policy/ procedure/ function/ service?  
How will they be achieved? 
The proposal is to cut funding for community grants managed by Chief Executive’s Department  by 
50% in order to contribute to the County Council’s overall savings requirements over the period of the 
MTFS to 2017/18. The reduction in funding is proposed to be implemented in 2014/15 and to be 
accompanied by a restructure of grant funds to more effectively and efficiently manage remaining 
resources. 
 

What are the main activities relating to this policy/ procedure/ function/ service and distinguish 
who is likely to benefit from these activities. 

The main activity is to replace the following grant schemes with new schemes also identified below. 
 
Schemes to be replaced; 
Big Society Grant Fund - £340,000 
SHIRE Community building Grant - £124,000 
SHIRE Environmental Grant - £66,800 
Community Forum Budgets - £320,000 
 
New schemes to be introduced for 2014/15; 
SHIRE Community Grant - £260,000 
A participatory community fund - £160,000 
 
The SHIRE grant is proposed to provide funding to community groups and the participatory fund is 
proposed to provide smaller scale funding allocated through a participatory process.  
 

What outcomes are expected? 

 
The primary outcome will be to achieve financial savings for the County Council from reduced grant 
budgets. As a result of the reduced budgets the number of projects that can be supported, and the 
amount of benefits achieved throughout the community, will be reduced.   
 
 

173



 
Step 2: Potential Impact 
Use the table below to specify if any service users or staff who identify with any of the 
‘protected characteristics’ below will be affected by the policy/ procedure/ service you are 
proposing (indicate all that apply) and describe why and what barriers these individuals or 
groups may face. 

 

Who is affected and what barriers may these individuals or groups face?   

Age 
 

The ability of people to benefit from the replacement grant 
schemes may be differentially affected by reason of age. This 
could occur because of reduced funding availability and because 
a relatively higher proportion of existing grant funds has been 
allocated to young people and older people (as identified in 
grants research referenced in Section 3 below).  
Reduced funding for projects by voluntary groups is expected to 
reduce volunteering opportunities and this could potentially have 
a greater impact on older people who may be more likely to 
volunteer.  

Disability 
 

The ability of people to benefit from the replacement grant 
schemes may be differentially affected by reason of disability. 
This could occur because of reduced funding availability and 
because a relatively higher proportion of existing grant funds has 
been allocated to vulnerable people including those with a 
disability (as identified in grants research referenced in Section 3 
below). 

Gender Reassignment  
 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership  
 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity  
 

 

Race 
 

 

Religion or Belief  
 

 

Sex 
 

 

Sexual Orientation  
 

 

Other groups e.g. rural isolation, 
deprivation, health inequality, 

carers, asylum seeker and 
refugee communities, looked 

after children, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities  

The ability of people to benefit from the replacement grant 
schemes may be differentially affected by reason of other factors 
including rural isolation, health inequality and 
deprivation/disadvantage. This could occur because of reduced 
funding availability and because a relatively higher proportion of 
existing grant funds has been allocated to vulnerable people (as 
identified in grants research referenced in Section 3 below). In 
addition one of the existing grant schemes provides funding 
specifically for community buildings; Many rural buildings provide 
the only meeting and activity space for rural communities and in 
urban areas community buildings often serve deprived 
neighbourhoods.  
Reduced funding for projects by voluntary groups is expected to 
reduce volunteering opportunities and this could potentially have 
a greater impact on vulnerable people for whom volunteering 
opportunities may be particularly important in terms of developing 
skills, community links etc. 

Community Cohesion  The existing grant schemes have helped to build community 

174



 cohesion by prioritising support for community buildings and 
projects which foster cohesion by providing community meeting 
space, encouraging participation in community activity and 
developing links within the community. Reduced funding 
availability could diminish the ability of grant funds to contribute to 
community cohesion.  

 
Step 3: Data Collection & Evidence  

In relation to your related findings in ‘Step Two’ are your presumptions on these barriers 
based on any existing research, data evidence or other information? 

 

What evidence, research, data and other information do you have which will be relevant to this 
EIA?  
What does this information / data tell you about each of the diverse groups? 

 
The County Council’s consultation on its Medium Term Financial Strategy was carried out over the 
summer of 2013 and sought the views of residents, stakeholders and County Council staff on how the 
Council could meet its savings requirement of £110million and reshape services for the future. In terms 
of grants to communities the consultation identified that funding for such grants was one of the lowest 
priorities when compared to other service areas and there was a greater willingness to see funding 
reductions in this area. The proposal to reduce grant budgets by 50% reflects this consultation 
response.  
 
A more detailed analysis of the consultation results has shown that within the above response men and 
people of pre-retirement age (45-64) living in villages or more isolated areas are significantly more 
likely to feel that grants to communities should be cut a great deal. Those groups who are significantly 
more likely to feel that the budget should not be cut at all include younger respondents and those living 
in more deprived areas of the County (this could indicate that community grants are more valued by, 
and of greater value to, younger people and those living in deprived communities).  
 
An analysis of existing grant schemes (winter 2013/14) has identified the range and nature of 
outcomes achieved by projects and thematic beneficiaries. The analysis has identified that a relatively 
higher proportion of grant support is directed at benefits/outcomes for young people, vulnerable people 
and older people and for rural and disadvantaged communities.  
 
A Community Building Survey, carried out January 2013, has identified a strong demand for funding for 
community venues.  
 

What further research, data or evidence may be required to fill any gaps in your understanding 
of the potential or known affects of the policy?  
Have you considered carrying out new data or research? 
 
Feedback will be sought from grant applicants via satisfaction surveys. The impact of grant schemes 
will be monitored in terms of the type of project and groups supported.  
 

 

Step 4: Consultation and Involvement  
When considering how you to consult and involve people as part of the proposed policy/ 
procedure/ function/ service, it is important to think about the service users and staff who 
may be affected as part of the proposal.  

 

Have you consulted on this policy/ procedure/ function or service?    
Outline any consultation and the outcomes of the consultation in relation to this EIA.  

 
Community consultation has been carried out via the Medium Term Financial Strategy consultation and 
the survey of community building management groups as outlined above.  
 

175



Do any of the barriers you identified actually exist based on this consultation? 
 

 
The revised grant schemes will provide reduced access to grant funds as a result of reduced funding 
availability. Whilst this change will reduce the extent to which outcomes can be achieved for 
communities as a whole it could, if implemented without mitigating changes to the aims, objectives, 
criteria and assessment processes of replacement schemes, disproportionately disadvantage groups 
representing young people, older people and vulnerable people and rural and disadvantaged 
communities in terms of access to funds to achieve benefits for these groups.  
 

 

Step 5: Mitigating and assessing the impact  
In relation to any research, data, consultation and information you have reviewed and/or 
carried out as part of this EIA, it is now essential to assess the impact of the policy/ 
procedure/ function/ service and distinguish whether a particular group could be affected 
differently in either a negative or positive way? 

 

If you consider there to be actual or potential adverse impact or discrimination, please outline 
this below. State whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give reasons.  

 
Reduced access to grant funding for the above groups could potentially result in an adverse impact for 
those sections of the community that they represent. Design of replacement grant schemes will 
however take account of, and seek to mitigate, this potential impact. Delivery of the service will have 
due regard to eliminating discrimination and providing equality of opportunity.  
 

N.B.  
a) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal, you are required to take action 
to remedy this immediately.  
 
b) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or legitimate, you will need to 
consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect on those groups of people.    

 

 

Step 6: Making a decision  
    

What can be done to change the policy/ procedure/ function/ service to mitigate any adverse 
impact? 
Consider what barriers you can remove, whether reasonable adjustments may be necessary 
and how any unmet needs that you have identified can be addressed.  

 
In order to mitigate the potential differential impact identified above it is proposed that the development 
and design of replacement grant schemes will reflect opportunities to mitigate potential impacts 
through consideration of the aims, objectives, criteria and assessment processes for replacement 
schemes.  
 
Implementation of the grant schemes will encourage social cohesion and will be accompanied by 
promotion of opportunities to all sections of the community and provision of advice, guidance and 
signposting to assist both eligible and ineligible applicants/enquiries. 
 

Summarise your findings and give an overview of whether the policy will meet Leicestershire 
County Council’s responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity and human rights.   

 
The above findings indicate that there is the potential for differential impacts associated with the 
transition to revised grant schemes and that the measures identified in Step 5 should be taken to 
minimise the potential for these impacts.  
 

176



 
Step 7: Monitoring, evaluation & review of your policy/ 
procedure/service change 

 

How will you monitor the impact and effectiveness of the new policy/ procedure/ service 
change and what monitoring systems will you put in place to monitor this and to promote 
equality of opportunity and make positive improvements?  

 
The effectiveness of service changes will be monitored via ongoing community consultation including 
feedback forms, discussion with community groups, web site feedback etc. 
 

 

How will the recommendations of this assessment be built into wider planning and review 
processes?  
e.g. policy reviews, annual plans and use of performance management systems.   

 
The recommendations of this assessment will be built into the planning and design of the grant 
schemes. 
 

177



Equality Improvement Plan  
 

Please list all the equality objectives, actions and targets that result from the Equality Impact Assessment (continue on separate sheets as 
necessary). These now need to be included in the relevant service plan for mainstreaming and performance management purposes. 
 

 
Equality Objective 

 
Action 

 
Target 

 
Officer Responsible 

 
By when 

 

Enable participation 
opportunities for young 
people, older people, 
vulnerable people and 
rural and disadvantaged 
communities. 

Design replacement 
grant schemes to take 
account of equalities 
objectives, including 
those identified through 
the EIA process, 
alongside other County 
Council policy objectives. 
 

The aims, objectives, 
criteria and assessment 
processes for 
replacement schemes 
reflect consideration of 
equalities impacts. 
 

Andy Hayes /Suzanne 
Kinder/Noel Singh/ /Derk 
Van Der Wardt/ Nicole 
Rickard 

March 2014 

Enable participation 
opportunities for young 
people, older people, 
vulnerable people and 
rural and disadvantaged 
communities. 

Provide assistance to 
both eligible and 
ineligible 
applicants/enquiries 
including by provision of 
advice, guidance and 
signposting to 
complementary services 
and grant schemes. 
 

All sections of the 
community are assisted 
to implement projects. 
 

Andy Hayes /Kevin 
Butcher (RCC) 

In conjunction with the 
launch of grant schemes 
- Spring 2014 and on-
going. 

1
7
8



 

Update and develop 
service provision as 
necessary taking account 
of equalities impacts. 

Monitor the equalities 
impact of service delivery 
through analysis of grant 
awards and consultation 
with communities 
including user feedback 
forms, web questionnaire 
and community 
meetings.  
 

Maintain up to date 
intelligence on equalities 
impacts. 

Andy Hayes /Suzanne 
Kinder/Noel Singh/ /Derk 
Van Der Wardt/ Nicole 
Rickard 

On-going 

   
 
1st Authorised Signature (EIA Lead): ……Mike Thomson………..     Date:    25th March 2014… 
 
2nd Authorised Signature (Member of DMT): …David Bull ……   Date:     25th March 2014… 
 

 
Once completed, please send a copy of this form to the Departmental Equalities Group for quality assurance. Once 
authorised, this Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Report will need to be published on our website.  

1
7
9



180

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND 
TRANSPORT 

 

THE CARBON REDUCTION STRATEGY FOR 
LEICESTERSHIRE 2014 - 2020 AND IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

2014 – 2017 
 

PART A 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. To seek approval of the Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire 

2014-2020 and Implementation Plan 2014-2017.  These documents 
are appended to this report as Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 
respectively. 

 
Recommendations 

 
2. (a) That the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview  

and Scrutiny Committee as set out in Appendix 3 to this report 
be considered; 

 
(b)   That the Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire  

2014-2020 and associated Implementation Plan for 2014-2017 
be approved; 

 
(c)    That authorisation is given to the Director of Environment and 

Transport to make minor amendments to the Implementation 
Plan in future as circumstances change, provided that they are 
consistent with the overall Carbon Reduction Strategy. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
3. To put in place a programme to support the reduction of carbon 

emissions from the County which forms a key component of the 
County Council’s Environment Strategy 2011-21.  Authorising the 
Director to make minor amendments to the Implementation Plan as 
necessary will ensure that it is kept up-to-date and relevant 
throughout the lifetime of the Implementation Plan. 

 

 
Agenda Item 11181



 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
4. The Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considered the Carbon Reduction Strategy and accompanying 
Implementation Plan at its meeting on 5th June 2014.  Further detail is 
given at paragraph 33 below and a copy of the minutes of this 
meeting is appended to the report (appendix 3). 
 

5. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval the Carbon Reduction Strategy and 
Implementation Plan will be published on the County Council’s 
website shortly. 

 
6. The adoption of a Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire is 

timely as the LLEP European Structural and Investment Funds 
Strategy 2014-2021includes a minimum requirement of 20% of the 
European Regional Development Fund programme to be invested in 
activities to support the transition to a low carbon economy. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
7. Under the 2008 Climate Change Act the Government has committed 

to ensuring that the “net UK carbon account for the year 2050 is at 
least 80% lower than the 1990 baseline”.   
 

8. At its meeting on the 28th September 2011 the County Council 
approved the Environment Strategy 2011-2021 which includes a 
target to reduce Carbon emissions by the Authority. 

 

9. As a signatory to Climate Local, the Local Government Association’s 
commitment to help address climate change, the County Council has 
made a commitment to show leadership and help local people and 
business to reduce energy use.  The Carbon Reduction Strategy 
forms part of this commitment to act on climate change. 

 

Resource Implications  

 

10. The Implementation Plan does not commit the County Council to any 
specific action unless the appropriate resources are available to 
deliver it. 
 

11. There is the potential to utilise private investment and external grant 
funding to support the actions in the Implementation Plan.  

 

12. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the 
contents of this report. The current Medium Term Financial Strategy 
includes a £300,000 saving relating to reduced energy costs.  Given 
recent Government funding announcements there is no doubt that the 
Authority will be required to make significant further savings and 
energy savings will need to be maximised. 

182



 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 

13. None.  

 
Officers to Contact 

 

Hannah Moss Tel: 0116 305 6961 
Climate Change Officer Email: hannah.moss@leics.gov.uk 
Environment and Transport Department  
 
Holly Field 

 
Tel: 0116 305 8101 

Assistant Director, Environment Email: holly.field@leics.gov.uk 
Environment and Transport Department  

183



 

PART B 

Background 

 

14. Development of the Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire 
started in 2012.   
 

15. The Strategy and Implementation Plan have been the subject of two 
separate consultation processes with key stakeholder in March 2013 
and January 2014, respectively.   

 

16. 24 individuals and organisations responded to the Strategy 
consultation.  11 responses were received through a consultation 
questionnaire made available online.  A further 13 responses were 
received by e-mail. 

 

17. 16 individuals and organisations responded to the Implementation 
Plan consultation.  All responses were received by e-mail. 

 

18. Following consultation with key stakeholders the Carbon Reduction 
Strategy and accompanying Implementation Plan are now being 
submitted for adoption by the County Council’s Cabinet. 

 
Carbon Reduction Strategy  

 

19. The proposed Carbon Reduction Strategy supports progress towards 
the Government’s legally binding target to reduce carbon emissions 
by 80% by 2050 as outlined in the National Carbon Plan and the 
interim target to reduce carbon emission by 34% by 2020 compared 
to 1990.   
 

20. The Strategy sets a carbon reduction target for Leicestershire of 23% 
by 2020 compared to 2005. 

 

21. The Strategy identifies the four priority areas for carbon reduction in 
Leicestershire:  

 

(a) Residential housing stock;  
(b) Businesses;  
(c) Transport;  
(d) Community energy.   

Implementation Plan 

 

22. The supporting Implementation Plan, attached as Appendix 2 to this 
report, has been developed through discussions with District Climate 
Mitigation and Adaptation Group (CLIMA) officers, Leicester City 
Council, the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership 
(LLEP), community organisations, and voluntary sector organisations. 
 

184



 

23. The Implementation Plan, covering the interim period to 2017, 
outlines the actions required underneath each of the four priorities to 
meet the 23% reduction target.   

 

24. To give an indication of progress over the lifetime of the Plan an 
interim target has been set to achieve 50 kilo tonnes reduction in 
carbon emissions by 2017. 

 

25. It is intended that the Implementation Plan will be a living document 
and will be regularly reviewed and updated by the Director should 
circumstances change (e.g. resources become available, 
Government policy changes).  If any significant changes are 
considered necessary a report would be submitted to the Cabinet to 
seek approval for these.   

 

26. The Plan does not commit the County Council to any actions unless 
the appropriate resources can be secured to deliver them.  

Proposed Actions 

 

27. A summary of the key actions to support the Carbon Reduction 
Strategy’s four priorities is presented below.  Appendix 2 details all 
the actions in full.  
 

28. Priority 1: Reduction of carbon emissions from residential housing 
stock are: 

 
(a) Develop a marketing and information campaign to target specific 

sectors of domestic households; 
(b) Develop a community energy share offer model to support the 

installation of photovoltaic panels on domestic housing stock; 
(c) Provide support to planning officers on renewable technology 

regulations; 
(d) Provide front line staff with training.  

 

29. Priority 2: Reducing carbon emissions from businesses are: 
 

(a) Partnership with the Leicester Energy Agency; 
(b) Exploring the feasibility for district heating networks; 
(c) Increased Renewable Heat Incentive applications (RHI) from 

businesses in Leicestershire; 
(d) Reducing carbon emissions from the County Council's estates; 
(e) Engage with planning offers to support on-farm renewable energy 

generation and anaerobic digestion. 
 
30. Priority 3: Reducing carbon emissions from transport are: 

 
(a) Encouraging active and sustainable travel; 
(b) Improve the performance and reliability of the transport network; 
(c) Reduce the impact of traffic on air quality;  

185



 

(d) Building the resilience of the transport network and transport assets 
to climate change. 

 
31. Priority 4: Reducing carbon emissions from community energy are:  

 
(a) Develop a mechanism to support communities on energy projects in 

Leicestershire;  
(b) Increase the number of community owned renewables in 

Leicestershire; 
(c) Reduce carbon emissions from community buildings; 
(d) Provide support to schools to reduce carbon emissions. 

 

Comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee   

 
32. In summary, the key points raised at the meeting include; 

 
(a) Whilst there was no legal requirement for the County Council to meet 

the targets laid out in the Strategy there are reputational risks if these 
are not met. 

(b) Currently the Council is slightly ahead of the interim carbon reduction 
target for 2020 and as the Authority would meet its 2020 carbon 
reduction target with the completion of the RE:FIT programme. 

(c) Ways to follow up the 4 Ways 2 Warmth work to support people in 
fuel poverty are being considered. 

(d) Rail developments are not included in the Implementation Plan as it 
would not be possible to deliver a rail project within the lifespan of the 
Strategy up to 2020. 

(e) The County Council could consider the possibility of hybrid cars as 
fleet vehicles where they were economically viable over the whole life 
of the vehicle; however, currently hybrid vehicles were expensive to 
purchase and maintain relative to standard cars. 

 
Relevant Impact Assessments  

 
Equal Opportunities Implications 

 
33. Individual projects will be assessed for equal opportunities 

implications as they are developed.  
 
Environmental Implications 

 
34. Implementation of the Carbon Reduction Strategy will reduce 

Leicestershire’s carbon emissions and its impact on the environment 
 

 

186



 

Background Papers 

 
35. County Council’s Environment Strategy 2011-2021; 

www.leics.gov.uk/environment_strategy  

 
2008 Climate Change Act; 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents  
 
Climate Local Commitment;  
www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/climate-local/-/journal_content/56/10180/5831101/ARTICLE  

 
LLEP European Structural and Investment Funds Strategy 2014-2021; 
http://www.llep.org.uk/index/downloads/filename/img_1392026045_3039.pdf/catid/22/filetitle/eu-sif-strategy-31.1.14.pdf  

 
Leicestershire County Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2014/15 to 2017/18; 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000134/M00003961/AI00037151/$5aBudgetReportoftheCabinet.docx.pdf  

 
Minutes of the meeting on the 28th September 2011 to approve the 
County Council Environment Strategy 2011-202; 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3293&Ver=4  

 

Appendices  
 
Appendix 1 – The Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire 2014-20 
 
Appendix 2 – Carbon Reduction Strategy Implementation Plan 2014-17 

 

Appendix 3 – Minutes of Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting held on 5th June 2014. 

187



188

This page is intentionally left blank



  1 

 

 

 

 

Carbon Reduction 

Strategy for 

Leicestershire 

2013 - 2020 

 

Building the market demand for the low 

carbon economy in Leicestershire 

 

 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

189



  2 

 

Acknowledgements 

The Carbon Reduction Strategy has been developed in collaboration with VERCO 

Limited. 

The analysis that was undertaken as the basis for this strategy was completed between 

February and May 2013. 

Thanks are also due to those individuals and organisations that responded to the 

invitation to comment on the initial strategy.  The comments and advice received are 

reflected in this document. 

 

190



  3 

 

Executive Summary 

The UK government has agreed a national target to reduce carbon emissions in the UK 

and sets out how this will be achieved in its Carbon Plan.  The Carbon Plan explicitly 

acknowledges that for the national target to be achieved action to support government 

initiatives and programmes will be required at a local level.  In July 2012 Leicestershire 

County Council signed up to Climate Local making an explicit commitment to reduce its 

own contribution to and from climate change and to help residents and businesses to 

capture the opportunities and benefits from addressing climate change.  This 

commitment replaces the commitment made by the County Council in 2006 to the 

Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change.   

The Carbon Reduction Strategy has been developed based on understanding and 

analysis of the sources of carbon emissions in Leicestershire, projecting likely carbon 

emissions in Leicestershire based on anticipated reductions from government 

intervention but with no significant local action, and identifying the reduction required to 

match the national government target of 34% reduction by 2020 compared to 1990. 

The Carbon Reduction Target for Leicestershire is to reduce emissions by 23% 

between 2005 and 2020 as measured by the Department of Energy and Climate 

Change. 

The analysis has identified that 1,000ktonnes of emission reduction will need to be 

delivered to meet the target.  Of this it is anticipated that 686 ktonnes will be delivered 

through decarbonisation of the electricity grid delivered principally through national 

energy policy.  A further 147 ktonnes will be met through energy regulations on 

technologies.  The remaining 165 ktonnes will be reduced by action in three sectors, 

domestic property (75 ktonnes), commercial and industrial property (90 ktonnes), and 

emissions from transport maintained at current levels.  

The specific priorities are: 

1. To support the reduction of carbon emissions from the residential housing 
stock in Leicestershire. 

• The focus of activity will be on encouraging home owners and private tenants 
to utilise government incentives to reduce energy costs and carbon 
emissions.   

2. Create the demand from business for carbon reduction 

• The focus of activity will be on creating demand for renewable heat and 
raising and enhancing the market potential of energy efficient technologies. 

3. To ensure carbon emissions from transport do not exceed current levels 
over the life of the strategy, irrespective of growth in net travel 

 

191



  4 

 

• The focus of activity will be delivering the key measures identified in the Local 
Transport Plan 3 and identifying further action to address reduction 
successfully.  

 
4. Support communities to develop small-scale community owned renewable 

energy and energy efficiency projects. 
 
An Implementation Plan 2014-17 has been developed to establish the actions to deliver 

the carbon reduction targets in the Carbon Reduction Strategy.  Whilst not forming part 

of the Strategy document itself, it is included as an annex for the sake of completeness 

and will be updated as necessary, as resources become available or as Government 

policy changes. 

The actions within the Implementation Plan are subject to securing the appropriate 

resource and will be refreshed periodically to reflect the level of resources available to 

deliver the actions.  There is no commitment to any action until the resources it requires 

can be secured. 

192



  5 

 

Contents 

 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................... 3 

Contents ........................................................................................................................ 5 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 6 

1.1. Local Benefits ....................................................................................................... 8 

2. Developing an understanding of current and future carbon emissions in 

Leicestershire ................................................................................................................ 9 

2.1 Sources of carbon emissions in Leicestershire .................................................. 9 

2.2 A carbon emission reduction target for Leicestershire ....................................... 9 

2.3 Business as usual carbon emissions estimates to 2020 .................................. 10 

2.4 Carbon emissions estimates to 2020 after government intervention ................ 10 

2.5 From understanding to strategy ....................................................................... 10 

3. The strategy .......................................................................................................... 12 

3.1 Priority 1 - Residential ..................................................................................... 12 

3.2 Priority 2 - Commercial and industrial .............................................................. 15 

3.3 Priority 3 - Transport ....................................................................................... 16 

3.4 Priority 4 – Community renewables ................................................................. 18 

4. Glossary ................................................................................................................ 19 

 

193



  6 

 

1. Introduction 

There is international consensus that anthropogenic climate change is happening and 

presents a significant risk to society; environmentally, socially and economically.  

Nations are taking action to become more resilient to climate change, coping with 

increasingly frequent extreme weather events, and mitigating its effects by reducing 

emissions of Green House Gases (GHGs).  

The UK Government has set targets for GHG reduction in the Carbon Plan that states 

the UK will reduce carbon emissions by 34% by 2020 compared to levels in 1990. 

Central government has and continues to develop the policy framework to meet this 

target.  For instance they have created fiscal incentives such as the Feed-in-Tariff (FiT) 

the Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI), the Green Deal and Energy Company Obligation; 

and new regulations such as energy efficiency requirements for vehicles and products.   

The government recognises, however, that these targets will not be achieved without 

interventions by local organisations and in particular local authorities.  As such the Local 

Government Association and the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) 

have developed a memorandum of understanding to work closely together to support the 

reduction in green house gas emissions.  Part of this agreement includes the 

replacement of the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change with a similar accord 

called Climate Local.  Climate Local requires that local authorities first sign up to Climate 

Local and then publish specific commitments for which they are accountable. 

Leicestershire County Council has signed up to Climate Local and the Carbon Reduction 

Strategy will form part of the commitment to act on climate change. 

Through its Carbon Management Plan Leicestershire County Council already have 

programmes to reduce carbon emissions from its own operations, principally through 

improving energy efficiency, and emissions reductions have been achieved in the past 5 

years.  The development of this Carbon Reduction Strategy is a key next step for 

Leicestershire County Council to identify a response to carbon emissions reduction in 

the County as a whole and take action to influence change by all.  The national context 

in which the strategy and implementation plan have been developed is presented in 

diagram 1 below. 

The national position has been driven by the Stern Review (2006) which analysed the 

economics of climate change.  The report stated that ‘If nothing was done to rein in 

global carbon emissions, climate change would reduce world gross domestic product 

(GDP) by at least 5%.  In contrast, combating climate change would cost 1% of global 

GDP’.   

As recently as November 2013 Stern reported to MPs that his original report may have 

underplayed the cost of climate change and that we should be more worried about future 

generations being worse off, as a result of climate change, than first thought.   

194



  7 

 

 

Diagram 1 – Links to the National Strategic Context  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Carbon Reduction 

Strategy – set a carbon 

reduction target for 

Leicestershire of 23% 

between 2005 and 2020.  

Outlines the 4 carbon 

priorities for Leicestershire  

Implementation Plan – Outlines the 

actions required for each of the 4 

Leicestershire carbon reduction priorities 

Climate Local – Local 

Government Association 

commitment to help 

address climate change 

signed by Leicestershire 

County Council 

Carbon Management 

Plan – Commitment to 

reduce carbon 

emissions from local 

authority estate 

2008 Climate Change Act – set legally binding targets for UK to reduce carbon emissions by 

80% by 2050 compared to levels in 1990 

National Carbon Plan – set interim targets that the UK will reduce carbon 

emissions by 34% by 2020 compared to levels in 1990 

195



  8 

 

1.1. Local Benefits 
 

The reduction of carbon emissions supports the majority of the Council’s outcomes, 
improving health, boosting the economy, reducing consumer energy costs and helping to 
alleviate fuel poverty.   
 
Locally the benefits of supporting the national agenda on climate change manifests itself 

in future cost savings to local services and contributing to the local economy. 

Mitigating climate change through carbon reduction can create jobs, boost the economy 
and reduce consumer energy costs. The goods and services associated with the low 
carbon economy are providing an important boost to the UK’s economy.  The low carbon 
sector has been growing at a rate of 4-5% since 2008 and research undertaken by the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (2010) forecasts a further 400,000 new 
jobs will be created by 2020.  This aligns closely with the objectives of the Strategic 
Economic Plan and EU Structural Investment Strategy developed by the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP).  Development of the low carbon sector will 
increase employment, skills development and innovation in Leicestershire.  The total 
market potential for domestic energy efficiency in Leicestershire and Leicester City has 
been estimated to be £2bn.  Therefore the growth of the Leicestershire economy is 
supported through the growth of the low carbon economy and delivers the overarching 
aim to achieve carbon reduction targets with wider economic growth benefits.   
 
In addition to this, evidence shows that people who live in fuel poverty often have health 
issues and put more demand on public services.  Addressing energy efficiency in areas 
of fuel poverty can support a healthier population with increased life expectancy and a 
reduction in health inequalities whilst at the same time reducing the demand on public 
health services by these residents.   
 
Evidence also indicates that physical inactivity and air pollution are linked with poor 
health outcomes and increased demand on public services.  Reducing carbon emissions 
through the promotion of active travel initiatives, such as walking and cycling, would both 
contribute to carbon reduction efforts through reducing vehicle use and improve public 
health. 
 
In Leicestershire climate change is predicted to increase the frequency and intensity of 

extreme weather events, such as heat waves, flooding and droughts.  These extreme 

weather events present a number of risks, and have an associated financial cost, to the 

work of Leicestershire County Council.  

The cost to the Council will increase as extreme weather events become more common 

in the future due to climate change.  However, supporting the delivery of this strategy 

and implementation plan supports the Council’s contribution to reducing the rise in global 

carbon emissions and therefore reducing risk. 

 

196



  9 

 

2. Developing an understanding of current and future 
carbon emissions in Leicestershire 

The development of the strategy has required a series of questions to be answered, 

based on the data and assumptions available today.  These questions are: 

• What are the sources of carbon emissions in Leicestershire? 

• What would matching the government’s national target to 2020 in Leicestershire 

mean for carbon emission reduction in the County? 

• Assuming business as usual what do we estimate the level that carbon emissions 

will be in Leicestershire by 2020? 

• What will the impact of government policy be on carbon emissions in 

Leicestershire, assuming no action from Leicestershire County Council, and 

therefore what is the carbon emission reduction gap that Leicestershire County 

Council will have to address? 

The answers to these questions are presented briefly below.  Inevitably there are 

uncertainties in projecting change in the future and in relation to predicting carbon 

emissions these are significant.  Therefore a number of data sources and models were 

used to understand the range of possible carbon outcomes; this strategy is based on the 

mid-point assessment from that process.   

2.1 Sources of carbon emissions in Leicestershire 

Data on annual carbon emissions by local authority area is available from DECC for the 

period 2005 – 2010.  This shows that carbon emissions are split between transport, 

residential, and commercial and industrial sources in roughly equal thirds with around 

1% of emissions being related to agriculture and forestry. 

2.2 A carbon emission reduction target for Leicestershire 

The intention of this strategy is for Leicestershire to contribute its share of meeting the 

Government’s legally binding target of a 34% reduction from 1990 levels by 2020. The 

Department of Energy and Climate Change started recording carbon emissions at Local 

Authority level in 2005. To ensure we set a sensible target, we have estimated our 

carbon emissions in 1990 mirroring the national change in emissions and then used this 

as a guide to set a target based from 2005, the first year actual data is available.  

Our target is to achieve a 23% reduction of our emissions in 2005 by 2020, which is 

comparable to the Government’s national target of 34% from 1990 by 2020.  This would 

mean that carbon emissions in Leicestershire in 2020 would be 4,400ktonnes. 

197



  10 

 

2.3 Business as usual carbon emissions estimates to 2020 

Once the target has been established it is important to understand the factors that are 

likely to impact on the increase in carbon emissions between now and 2020 as this has 

a material impact on the scale of measures required to meet the target. There are a 

number of factors in Leicestershire that will contribute to the expected increase in 

emissions. Growth in population is the key factor leading to an increase in housing 

provision, expansion of the road transport network and an increase in employment, all of 

which are simultaneously beneficial to the Leicestershire economy and potentially 

damaging to the emissions reduction objective. 

If we don’t take action it is projected that our carbon emissions will rise from 5,150kt CO2 

in 2010 to 5,400kt CO2 in 2020. 

2.4 Carbon emissions estimates to 2020 after government intervention 

The national policy covers a broad range of policy drivers, which, if fully implemented, 

would result in Leicestershire exceeding the carbon reduction target. Some Government 

initiatives such as grid decarbonisation, that is projected to realise a 69% reduction, will 

require no input from Leicestershire to realise carbon reduction. However Leicestershire 

County Council will need to support action to ensure take up of other government policy 

initiatives are maximised to their full potential in the County.  

Based on this analysis approximately 310ktonnes of carbon emission reductions will 

need to be achieved with support from Leicestershire County Council to deliver the 

target set out in this strategy. 

2.5 From understanding to strategy 

Based on the identified reduction target a number of scenarios were tested to gain 

confidence that the target would be achievable.  Scenarios were developed for each of 

the three sectors described earlier: residential, commercial and industrial, and transport 

and a brief summary of the findings is provided below. 

a) Residential Carbon 

Based on government projections Leicestershire’s pro rata reduction in carbon 

reduction from Government initiatives would deliver 26.3 kt CO2/yr and from the 

Renewable Heat Incentive would be 16 ktCO2/yr.   

An example of what these figures would require include installing 3,670 domestic 

renewable heat installations, insulating 9,300 solid walls, 26,000 cavities and 

15,500 lofts in Leicestershire by 2020. In relation to solid walls this would be the 

equivalent of 16% of all solid wall properties in the County and require a capital 

investment of around £74.4 million from property owners, ECO or similar 

government schemes.  

198



  11 

 

 

b) Commercial and industrial 

The government policy framework for carbon emission reduction in the industrial 

and commercial sector includes take up of the renewable heat incentive, 

regulation of product energy efficiency and fiscal pressure through the carbon 

reduction commitment.  The government assessment suggests that the 

renewable heat incentive will deliver the largest proportion of emission reductions 

of these policy measures.  Based on a requirement to deliver a 90 ktonne 

reduction in emissions the estimate of the number of small scale installations in 

the commercial sector that would be required is 1,500 biomass boilers and 2,400 

heat pumps.  In addition a further 17 large scale biomass boilers would be 

required in the industrial sector.   

c) Transport 

Estimates of carbon emissions from transport using existing models suggest that 

the most that can be achieved in this sector is to maintain emissions at the 

current level. Even this will be challenging given projections of population and 

economic growth in the coming years and the expected rise in logistics business 

in the County. Current activity identified within the Local Transport Plan and the 

Local Sustainable Transport Fund will contribute to this area but further work on 

the sorts of interventions will be required.  On this basis the expectation is that 

the transport sector will not contribute to carbon emission reductions over the 

period of the plan. 

 

  

199



  12 

 

3. The strategy 

This strategy has been aligned with Government policy which is designed to meet the 

national carbon reduction target and in adopting this strategy will ensure the County can 

maximise its advantage as new opportunities emerge.  For Leicestershire, a proactive 

approach to Government initiatives, such as the Renewable Heat Incentive, is the 

number one priority.  Success can only be realised through engaging both domestic, 

commercial and industrial sectors. 

We have created scenarios to ensure the strategy is robust and fit for purpose.  The 

table below sets out the savings achievable from each initiative.  

Measure Sector Estimated 
Saving 

Directly Influenced by Leicestershire County Council   

Maximising uptake of domestic RHI Domestic 16 ktCO2 

Effective enforcement of  building regulations Domestic 32 ktCO2 

Maximising uptake of Renewable Heat Incentive Commercial and Industrial 90 ktCO2 

Identification of actions within Principal Urban Area (PUA) 
Stage 2 Transport 0 ktCO2 

Supported by Leicestershire County Council      

Supporting delivery of domestic energy efficiency initiatives Domestic 27 ktCO2 

Raise awareness for purchase of energy efficient technologies Domestic 82 ktCO2 

Raise awareness for purchase of energy efficient technologies Commercial and Industrial 65 ktCO2 

National action benefiting Leicestershire    

Grid decarbonisation 
Domestic, Commercial and 
Industrial 686 ktCO2 

Total   998 ktCO2 

 

3.1 Priority 1 - Residential 

Strategic objective: 

 To support the reduction of carbon emissions from the 

residential housing stock in Leicestershire. 

It is highly likely that along with grid decarbonisation a proactive approach to residential 

properties will ensure Leicestershire meets its carbon reduction target.  The introduction 

of the Renewable Heat Incentive, allied with the existing Feed In Tariff, provides an ideal 

opportunity to increase the uptake of renewable energy installations in Leicestershire.   

 

200



  13 

 

Whilst the Green Deal and ECO funding have not unlocked the barriers to a significant 

increase in the installation of energy efficiency measures as aspired too, the government 

has made ambitious commitments to carbon reduction and it seems almost certain that 

the ECO and Green Deal will be revised or replaced with an alternative mechanism to 

assist in the achievement of the Government’s targets.  

Such schemes have the potential to deliver substantial social, economic and 

environmental benefits to the county of Leicestershire. As well as achieving significant 

carbon reductions they can secure local employment, generate new jobs, improve health 

and well-being, save on annual health and social care costs, reduce fuel poverty, future 

proof residents against rising energy prices, improve property asset value and enhance 

local energy security. 

In order to deliver the required level of carbon reduction for housing, Leicestershire 

County Council should focus on the following strategic priorities:  

1. Maximising Leicestershire’s uptake of Government initiatives and 

ensuring maximum levels of installation under the RHI and FIT 

Co-ordination of efforts to achieve critical mass of scale will be central and there 

is an opportunity for Leicestershire County Council to support a local county-wide 

scheme to support domestic energy efficiency.  

For RHI and FIT, the aim should be to secure as a minimum a pro-rata share of 

installations. Working with local installers and other delivery agents will be key to 

achieving this.  

Promotion of a local scheme presents opportunities to integrate promotion of FIT 

& RHI. Routes to maximising levels of household uptake for all funding sources 

will include:  

• Using trusted voices as messengers: People respond best to 

individuals and organisations they feel they know and trust. Work with 

local stakeholders, voluntary groups, community organisations, agents of 

change, local champions and local businesses such as small builders, 

installers and retailers to get the message across.  

• Working with front line health and social care staff to combine 

messages: Health and social care staff are ideally placed to integrate 

messages about energy efficiency in a way which targets households who 

need it most.   

• Showcasing retrofit exemplars: People need encouragement, 

inspiration and confidence in a new market. Local open home schemes 

enable residents to visit examples of homes like theirs and experience 

retrofit measures in-situ in a non-sales environment.   

201



  14 

 

• Identifying and exploiting local market ‘trigger points’: Most cost 

effective opportunities for installing energy efficiency or renewable energy 

measures arise when other work on the home is being undertaken, such 

as kitchen or bathroom replacements, loft conversions, extensions, new 

roofs or windows. Targeting promotion and offers at these ‘trigger points’ 

can be highly effective, and can minimise cost and disruption to 

householders.  

• Segmenting the market and tailoring the messaging: The market for 

domestic retrofit is highly segmented and different people respond to 

different drivers and messages. Understanding this and developing 

tailored messages to different groups will be much more effective than a 

‘one-size-fits-all’ campaign.  

2. Removal of barriers and maximisation of opportunities for domestic 

retrofit and renewable energy measures.  

This includes engaging with the following sectors to review practice, identify 

barriers, and develop targeted initiatives to remove and overcome these barriers 

where appropriate: 

• Planning & building control  

• Trading standards  

• Local businesses  

• Local colleges  

• Health and social care agencies  

• Voluntary groups 

• Community organisations 

• Landlords 

• Universities  

• Estate and land agents 

3. Supporting Lasting Behavioural Change  

Efficiency improvements to households must be supported by low energy 

lifestyles if the carbon reduction potential of the housing sector is to be fully 

realised and sustained in the longer term.  Leicestershire County Council has a 

role to play in supporting and maintaining this kind of significant behavioural 

change across households in the county.  

4. Co-ordination of action across the county  

All of the above will require co-ordination at a high level across the county. There 

is a need for local authorities and wider stakeholders to share information and 

collaborate on a co-ordinated approach to deliver against the strategy.  

202



  15 

 

3.2 Priority 2 - Commercial and industrial 

Strategic objective: 
 

Create the demand from business for carbon reduction 

Energy intensive businesses have been continuously reducing energy intensity of 

operations for many years however these businesses are in a minority in Leicestershire 

and only 28% of businesses have a target for energy reduction. The priority for 

Leicestershire County Council is to work collaboratively to create the demand for 

businesses for carbon reduction through supporting the priority policy initiatives. The 

priorities for Leicestershire County Council in this sector are: 

• Working collaboratively, create the demand for the installation of 

renewable heat generating technology from businesses in Leicestershire 

• to work with the LLEP to raise awareness of and enhance market potential 

for the purchase of energy efficient technologies 

• to work together to create a self-sustaining and self-funding mechanism 

for business similar to the Cambridge Climate Change Charter1, that 

brings businesses of all sizes and types together to provide support, share 

experiences and recognise success. 

• to provide a centrally coordinated carbon and energy reduction support 

resource for the businesses across Leicestershire 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
1
 The Cambridge Climate Change Charter is a voluntary pledge to address the climate change. It 

is a broad statement of commitment that any Cambridge organisation can make publicly. The 
Charter is designed to be signed by the leaders of Cambridge organisations, such as chairs, chief 
executives, school principals, managing directors or university vice-chancellors. It is backed by a 
practical help network providing support to businesses in Cambridgeshire. 

203



  16 

 

3.3 Priority 3 - Transport 

Strategic objective: 
 

To ensure carbon emissions from transport do not exceed 
current levels over the life of the strategy, irrespective of growth 
in net travel 
 
The transport sector in Leicestershire in 2010 was responsible for carbon emissions of 

1,900 ktC02 per year2. Local transport modelling work predicts that, due to forecast 

population growth and accompanying land-use changes fuelling a growth in car 

ownership and car use, carbon emissions from transport in Leicestershire will increase in 

the order of +5.9% between 2008 and 2031. Notably, it is only in the 2021 to 2031 period 

that a rise in carbon emissions is predicted to take place. Before then, it is possible to 

hypothesise that the improvements in vehicle technology and efficiency (thereby 

reducing fuel use and carbon) do not get overwhelmed by the steady growth in car 

ownership and use. From this modelling work it is apparent that reducing the long-term 

carbon emissions from transport is going to be particularly challenging. 

There are a number of European and national policies predicted to reduce carbon 

emissions from transport. Emission savings from transport policies are represented in 

DECC forecasts3 by the following measures: 

• EU new car CO2 emissions targets (135 g CO2 /km by 2015 and 95 gCO2/km by 

2020) and complementary measures 

• EU new LGV CO2 emissions target (147 g CO2 /km by 2020) 

• HGV policies (low rolling resistance tyres and industry-led action to improve 

efficiencies) 

• Biofuels Policies (8% by energy in 2020) 

• Local Sustainable Travel Fund 

• Rail Electrification (including HS2)  

At a local level, some (ambitious) transport scenarios have been developed to test the 

predicted impact they might have on carbon emissions. These include: 

1. Shifting demand from one mode to another (increase in the number of short trips 

made by walking and cycling; increase in mode share for bus and rail trips; shift 

from road freight to rail freight). 

                                                
2
 DECC Local Authority Emissions Statistics – www.decc.gov.uk 

3
 DECC Updated Energy & Emissions Projections – October 2012: Emissions Savings from 

policies in the Traded Sector (MtCO2E). 

204



  17 

 

2. Reducing demand (a reduction in the number of trips for all journey purposes; a 

reduction in commuting trips due to increases in home working). 

3. Improving carbon performance in the freight industry (HGV vehicles switching 

from diesel to natural gas or biomethane). 

4. Improving network efficiency (increased traffic speeds). 

The results of this work revealed that the range of relatively ambitious scenarios tested 

above will only reduce the carbon emissions from transport in Leicestershire by between 

0.2% and 9.3%. It is worth noting that it may be possible to combine some of these 

scenarios with a packaged approach and not have overlapping effects.  Based on a 

predicted long-term (to 2031) increase in emissions from transport of 5.9%, this evidence 

shows that maintaining transport emissions at existing levels will be a challenge, let 

alone reducing them. Achievement of the scenarios that have been tested is likely to 

involve significant investment. Whilst there could be a priority put onto a particular 

scenario (and those focused on reducing demand and improving performance through 

low carbon fuels appear to have the most impact in reducing emissions), it seems that to 

achieve an absolute reduction will probably require an element of each of the scenarios 

tested.  

It is also worth noting that many of the transport interventions needed to realise such 

scenarios, particularly at the scale of ambition that appears necessary to reduce 

emissions by any significant amount, are unlikely to be within the control of one Authority 

or Agency. There needs to be a collaborative approach to ensuring that information and 

resources to affect a change are directed into the right areas to have subsequent and 

positive impacts on the transport systems, activity and travel patterns in Leicestershire. 

Further work is required to develop and test a set of potential interventions / incentives to 

achieve the scenarios that have been tested as part of this process. This falls into the 

action planning stages of future work, which will further test the potential, and any 

prioritisation, of the transport interventions developed. It is recommended that this work 

takes place as part of the second Stage of the Leicester Principal Urban Area (PUA) 

Study4 and that the results of this work are reviewed for inclusion in the strategy at a 

later stage. The knowledge and evidence from current Local Transport Plan programmes 

that are focused on encouraging the use of more sustainable modes of travel (in 

particular our Local Sustainable Transport Fund work in Loughborough and Coalville) will 

also be used to inform this work.  

 

                                                
4
 The second Stage of the Leicester PUA Study will be testing the effectiveness of various 

transport policy interventions in reducing the travel-related impact of housing growth in the 
Leicester PUA and surrounding districts between 2008 and 2031. It will be taking place during 
2014/15 and will be a joint project between the Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City 
Council. 

205



  18 

 

3.4 Priority 4 – Community renewables 

Strategic Objective 

Support communities to develop small-scale community owned 

renewable energy and energy efficiency projects 

Renewable energy projects that focus on generating electricity will not directly contribute 

to carbon emission reduction in Leicestershire as calculated by DECC  (the carbon 

benefits from such activities contribute to decarbonising the gird nationally).  

Nevertheless, national government is making funds available to local communities to 

develop local small-scale renewable energy projects that can both reduce local carbon 

emissions and generate income for local communities.  This is detailed in the 

governments Community Energy Strategy.  There are local (North Kilworth Community 

Interest Company, Sustainable Harborough Challenge) and national projects delivering 

significant benefit through the development of such schemes.  The priority for 

Leicestershire County Council is to identify a mechanism to support communities that 

want to develop such schemes. 

206



  19 

 

4. Glossary  

 

4Ways2Warmth  A programme in Leicestershire which aims to reduce the 

number of deaths and ill health associated with the winter 

by providing support to people living in cold housing and to 

help vulnerable individuals, families and carers prepare for 

potential cold or severe weather conditions. 

 

BBAF  Better Bus Area Fund.  £50 million fund available to local 

authority projects aimed at increasing bus usage, boosting 

the economy and improving the environment by reducing 

congestion and making bus services more reliable. 

 Leicester City Council and Leicestershire County Council 

submitted a joint bid for a share of this fund towards a range 

of bus route improvement proposals along the A426 from 

Blaby into Leicester City Centre. This bid was successful 

and in March 2012 £2.56 million was awarded with the 

condition that it be used by March 2014. 

 

Better Off Project A project to identify no and low cost energy saving in 

Leicestershire County Councils smaller buildings. 

 

Climate Local Succeeded the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change.  

A framework which supports Local Authorities to help 

residents and businesses to capture the opportunities and 

benefits from addressing climate change. 

 

DECC The UK Governments Department for Energy and Climate 

Change 

 

EU SIF European Union Structural Investment Fund.  Finance that 

support sustainable economic development, enhanced 

quality of life and safeguards the environment. 

207



  20 

 

 

Heat Network Often referred to as district heating schemes, they supply 

heat from a central source directly to homes and businesses 

through a network of pipes carrying hot water.  This means 

that individual homes and business do not need to generate 

their own heat on site. 

 

Heating system training vouchers A £500,000 Government fund aimed at raising the skill set 

of domestic heating engineers to enable them to install and 

maintain renewable heating systems 

 

LSTF and LSTF 2 Local Sustainable Transport Fund.  Leicestershire County 

Council has been successful in securing £4 million to 

revitalize local economies, cut carbon and tackle climate 

change.  LSTF 2 is a second funding round covering the 

period 2015/16.  

  

Local Transport Plan (LTP) Leicestershire’s Third Local Transport Plan (LTP3) runs 

from 2011 to 2026 and sets out how the County Council, as 

the transport authority, will seek to ensure that transport 

continues to play an important role in helping make 

Leicestershire a prosperous, safe and attractive County. 

The LTP3 is made up of a long-term transport strategy with 

a vision for transport to 2026 and a set of objectives and 

policies that will help achieve that vision. The strategy is 

supported by three year Implementation Plans, which set 

out the specific actions that will be taken and the schemes 

that will be delivered 

 

MTFS Medium Term Financial Strategy.  The Council’s rolling four 

year budget programme.  

 

Re:FIT A commercial model for public bodies wishing to improve 

the energy performance of their buildings and reduce their 

CO2 footprint.  9 Leicestershire County Council buildings 

208



  21 

 

are currently being refurbished using this model. 

 

RHI Renewable Heat Incentive.  A Government scheme to 

encourage uptake of renewable heat technologies among 

householders, communities and businesses.  A fixed 

financial payment is paid for renewable heat generated.   

 

SME Small and Medium sized Enterprises.  Any enterprise which 

has less than 250 employees.  

 

 

 

 

   

209



210

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

The Carbon Reduction Strategy Implementation Plan 

[NOTE: Whilst not forming part of the Strategy document itself, the following 

Implementation Plan will be submitted to the Cabinet for approval on 15 July 2014. 

Thereafter it will be included as an annex to the Strategy for the sake of completeness 

and is intended to be updated as necessary by the Director of Environment and 

Transport, as resources become available or as Government policy changes, subject to 

any significant amendments being reported to the Cabinet, for its approval] 

 

The Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire covers the period 2014-2020, this 

implementation plan is the first accompaniment to the strategy and will cover the period 

from 2014-2017.  To give an indication of progress of the plan an interim target has been 

set.  The interim target is to achieve 50 ktonnes reduction in carbon emissions by 2017. 

See diagram 2 below.  The implementation plan and targets will be refreshed 

periodically. 

 

An absolute carbon reduction figure has been used as the 2017 interim target, rather 

than a percentage, to evidence the progress made by implementing the actions in this 

plan.  It is recognised that we are not operating in a static environment and there are a 

number of factors in Leicestershire that will contribute to changes in emissions over the 

lifetime of this plan.  Economic and population growth will create upward pressure on 

carbon emissions, while technology improvements are likely to reduce emissions.  By 

using an absolute reduction figure for these actions future reviews of the strategy and 

implementation plan will assess if the scale of activity will deliver the desired % reduction 

or if additional actions will be required to meet the reduction target.    

APPENDIX APPENDIX APPENDIX APPENDIX 2222    

 

211



 

2 

 

This implementation plan is subject to securing the appropriate resource and will be 

refreshed periodically to reflect the level of resources available to deliver the actions. 

There is no commitment to any action until the resources it requires can be secured. 

Potential funding which has already been identified to support the delivery of actions 

within this plan include; 

• EU SIF allocation  
~ £4m Low carbon infrastructure 
~ £1m Development of SMART technology and supply chain 
~ £10m Retrofitting of housing and commercial premises 

• Strategic Economic Plan  

• Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSFT) 
~ £4m towards smarter sustainable travel 

. 

3.1 Equalities Impact Assessment 

Through the actions in the plan we will monitor and target underrepresented groups to 

ensure equal opportunities are provided to all communities.  

3.2 Governance and Monitoring 

The Climate Action team at Leicestershire County Council will take responsibility for 

monitoring and reporting on the progress towards the overall carbon reduction target. 

Responsibility for ensuring delivery of the actions will be split between the various 

delivery agents such as the LLEP and Leicester Energy Agency.   

Reporting mechanisms which currently exist for actions identified in the plan e.g. LTP3 

will continue to operate.  Individual reporting mechanisms will be put in place for all new 

programmes of work resulting from the actions in the plan. 

The tables below are designed to be a ‘live’ document in that they can be amended and 

added to in response to change.  This will allow the implementation plan to be used as a 

tool to assist in co-ordination and delivery of actions. 

 

212



 

  3 

 

Priority 1: To support the reduction of carbon emissions from the residential housing stock in 

Leicestershire. 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
  

Objective 1: The delivery of retrofitting the residential housing stock in Leicestershire is supported 

- Purchase housing dataset to identify, assess, monitor and  target areas  for action 
����  

July 

2014 

LCC 

(E&T) 
DECC 

- Develop marketing and information programme to highlight support for domestic 
energy efficiency  

����  
Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

- Provide support and encourage private landlords to install retrofit improvements  
����  

Dec 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

- Provide support and encourage  home owners with high energy use to install home 
improvements 

����  
Dec 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

- Support the roll out of smart metering to households in Leicestershire.   
����  

Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

N/A 

Objective 2: Front line staff are able to promote energy efficiency and carbon reduction; and understand where to refer 

households to for further support.   

- Deliver energy efficiency and fuel poverty awareness training to front line staff to 
Increase their capacity to support householders on carbon reduction and energy 
efficiency 

����  
Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

DECC / 

LA’s 

2
1
3



 

  4 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
  

- Following the successful completion of the 4Ways2Warmth programme, identify 
future action around fuel poverty in Leicestershire. 

 ���� 
Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

DECC / 

LA’s 

Objective 3: The number of domestic households with renewable technologies installed has increased. 

- Develop a community energy share offer model to support the installation of 
photovoltaic panels on domestic housing stock 

����  
Dec 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

- Promote the availability and opportunity for domestic renewable heat installations 
(RHI) 

����  
Dec 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

Objective 4: Planning officers actively encourage energy efficient home and domestic renewable energy generation 

- Provide training for planning officers on renewable technologies regulations 
����  

Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

- Support planning officers to develop a local response to allowable solutions 
����  

Apr 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 
 

- Consult with planners to develop a method to reduce delays from building 
regulations and planning permission requirements for solid wall insulation 

����  
Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 
LA’s 

 

 

2
1
4



 

  5 

 

Priority 2: Create the demand from business for carbon reduction 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
  

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

Objective 1: There is an effective mechanism to support businesses to invest in energy efficiency  

Expand the work of the Leicester Energy Agency to support businesses in the County 
 ���� 

Jan  

2015 

Leicester 

Energy 

Agency 

EU SIF 

- Establish a retrofit and energy audit service for SME’s 
 ���� 

Jan  

2015 

- Establish a support service for installation of building energy management systems 
for SMEs and other local private sector organisations 

 ���� 
Jan  

2015 

- Develop an environmental business network / carbon reduction club 
����  

Mar 

2015 

Objective 2: The feasibility of district heating network in Leicestershire has been explored   

- Undertake a feasibility study for heat networks across Leicestershire. ����  Mar 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 
 

- Produce a heat master plan identifying preferred options and business cases to 
secure funding for delivery. 

����  Mar 

2019 

LCC 

(E&T) 

DECC 

Objective 3: The capacity to deliver energy efficiency in businesses is increased  

2
1
5



 

  6 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
  

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

- Build the capacity and skill set of local domestic heating engineers  
����  

Mar 

2015 
LLEP  

- Promote the uptake of DECC’s renewable heating system training vouchers. 
����  

Mar 

2015 
LLEP 

DECC / 

SEP 

- Deliver supply chain events, workshops and business support measures in order to 
link local businesses to commercial opportunities 

����  
Mar 

2017 
LLEP 

DECC / 

SEP 

- Retro fit of Leicestershire County Council business units and County farms  
����  

Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(CR) 
LCC 

Objective 4: There is a greater uptake of RHI compliant technologies by businesses in Leicestershire  

- Establish a local biomass supply chain around the National Forest 
����  

Mar 

2016 
NF NF 

- Create a work programme to establish SME biomass cluster groups. 
����  

Dec 

2015 
NF LA’s 

- Develop a mechanism to increase the uptake of RHI from private businesses and 
large estate users 

����  
Mar 

2017 
LLEP  

Objective 5: Partner organisations have reduced carbon emissions from their own estate and activities  

- Leicestershire County Council’s ‘Better Off’ Project is rolled out to all council 
buildings  

 ���� Mar LCC LA’s 

2
1
6



 

  7 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
  

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

2015 (E&T/CR) 

- Leicestershire County Council’s Re:Fit programme of work is completed  ���� Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(CR) 

- Leicestershire County Council has addressed energy efficiency in its own business 
estate tenants and business parks 

����  Mar 

2020 

LCC 

(E&T/CR) 

- Leicestershire County Council’s Carbon Management Plan is implemented  ���� Mar 

2020 

LCC 

(E&T) 

Objective 6: Planning officers actively encourage on farm renewable energy generation and anaerobic digestion 

- Engage and provide training for District planning officers to encourage on farm 
renewable energy generation and anaerobic digestion 

����  Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2
1
7



 

  8 

 

Priority 3: To ensure carbon emissions from transport do not exceed current levels over the life of the 

strategy, irrespective of growth in net travel 

Further information on each of the actions listed below can be found in Leicestershire’s latest Implementation Plan (2014-17) for its 3rd Local 

Transport Plan.   

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

Objective 1: Encourage active and sustainable travel 

Continue to work with partners to deliver third and final year of LSTF programmes in 

Loughborough and Coalville (LTP3 Action 9) 

 ���� Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LSTF 

Work with partners to monitor the impact of our LSTF investment in Loughborough and 

Coalville.  (10) 

����  Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

Continue to work with Leicester City Council to deliver the third and final year of the City's 

LSTF programme (11) 

 ���� Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

Deliver programme of sustainable transport improvements in Hinckley urban area between 

2014 and 2017.(12) 

����  Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LTP3 / 

SLGF / 

LSTF 2 

Continue to work with Leicester City Council and local bus operators to improve ticketing 

options for passengers (13) (14) 

 ���� March 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LTP3 

Introduce Real Time Passenger Information (RTPI) on routes across the County.  ���� March LCC LTP3 

2
1
8



 

  9 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

Implementation on routes in Leicester Principal Urban Area to take place in 2014/15. (18) 2015 (E&T) 

Work with partners to monitor the impact of the Better Bus Area Fund improvements on 

the A426 bus corridor into Leicester. (16) 

����  Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

BBAF 

Continue to develop a prioritised list of bus corridors where we would like to investigate the 

provision of improvements for bus, cycle and pedestrian movements.  (17) 

 ���� Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LTP3 / 

SLGF 

Work with Network Rail, Leicester City Council and others to ensure that the electrification 

of Midland Mainline is constructed to Network Rail's timetable. 

����  Mar 

2018 

LCC 

(E&T) 
 

Objective 2: Improve the performance and reliability of the transport network 

Deliver programme of junction and local road network improvements in Hinckley urban 

area between 2014 and 2017. 

����  Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LTP3 / 

SLGF / 

LSTF2 

Undertake investigations to identify potential further improvements to the road network 

serving the M1 J21 area, principally focused on the section of the A563 from the Meridian 

roundabout to the Everard’s junction.  

����  Mar 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 

SLGF 

Continue to investigate and design potential major transport scheme proposals for 

improvements to: (i) the A6 Abbey Lane / Loughborough Rd to Anstey Lane corridor; (ii) 

the A50 Groby Road to Anstey Lane corridor.  

 ���� Mar 

2019 

LCC 

(E&T) 

SLGF 

2
1
9



 

  10 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

Investigate, design and deliver a programme of improvements at key highway junctions 

throughout the County.  

����  Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

SLGF / 

Develo

pers 

Objective 3: Manage and maintain the condition of our transport assets and the local transport network so that they are 

resilient to climate change. 

Implement actions and policy revisions arising from the 3 Counties Alliance Partnership 

review of climate change adaptation actions for highway assets.(29) 

����  Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LTP3 / 

MTFS 

Objective 4: Reduce the impact of traffic on air quality 

Continue work to deliver Loughborough Town Centre integrated transport scheme. ����  Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

DfT 

Objective 5: Work through the planning system to seek to minimise the potential transportation impacts of population 

growth on the efficient and reliable operation of our transport system. 

Continue to work with local planning authorities to plan and prepare the transportation 

schemes that are coming forward through the Core Strategy and Local Development 

Framework process to help facilitate population and housing growth. This will include 

efforts to maximise the use of sustainable transport modes by seeking to deliver new 

development in areas that are already able to be well served by walking, cycling and 

public transport.  

 ���� Mar 

2020 

(ongoin

g) 

LCC 

(E&T) 

Develo

pers / 

SLGF 

Objective 6: Build our understanding of the effectiveness of potential transport policy interventions in helping to reduce 

2
2
0



 

  11 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

carbon emissions. 

Use updated version of LLITM to test the impact of various transport policy interventions in 

mitigating the predicted highways impacts of growth in Leicestershire. (5) 

 ���� Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LTP3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2
2
1



 

  12 

 

Priority 4: Support communities to develop small-scale community owned renewable energy and energy 

efficiency projects. 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

Objective 1: There is an effective  delivery mechanism to support the identification and delivery of community energy 

projects in Leicestershire 

- Map community organisations across Leicestershire currently active on energy 
issues 

����  Sep 

2014 

  

- Support and training is provided to at least 6 new community energy  groups in 
Leicestershire  

����  Mar 

2017 

  

- Appraise the current communities’ champions’ network in Leicestershire and 
develop a proposal to provide support and training and expand network. 

����  Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

EU SIF 

- Explore options for an online peer to peer platform for community groups ����  Mar 

2016 

  

- Agree a schedule of community event and road shows to engage communities in 
energy efficiency, to be held across the County; and deliver these events.  

����  Mar 

2016 

  

Objective 2: Carbon emissions from community buildings in Leicestershire are reduced  

- Establish three retrofitted community buildings as Green Hubs. ����  Mar LCC EU SIF 

2
2
2



 

  13 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

2016 (E&T) 

- Deliver a series of Green Hub open days across Leicestershire to showcase retrofit 
examples. 

����  Sep 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 

EU SIF 

- Continue to administer the SHIRE Community Climate Change grant fund  ���� Mar 

2015 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LA 

Objective 3: The number of community renewable energy projects in Leicestershire has increased 

- Develop a range of community energy share offer models which support the 

installation of photovoltaic panels on community buildings, council properties and  

schools 

���� Mar 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LA’s 

- Support organisations applying for existing grant funding for community renewable 
energy projects to carry out feasibility studies, gain planning approval or seek 
technical expertise.  The feasibility of a revolving grant fund will be investigated. 

����  Mar 

2016 

LCC 

(E&T) 

LA’s 

Objective 4: The number of project areas working on reducing carbon emissions in Leicestershire is increased 
 

- As a partner in Sustainable Harborough Challenge support them to develop 

community energy efficiency programmes in Market Harborough 

 ���� Mar 

2017 

SHC Big 

Lottery 

/ LA’s 

- Explore establishing energy forums across Leicestershire ����  Mar 

2017 

LCC 

(E&T) 

 

2
2
3



 

  14 

 

Objectives and Actions 

N
e
w

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 

D
e
a
d

li
n

e
 

L
e
a
d

 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 

P
o

te
n

ti
a
l 

fu
n

d
in

g
 

Objective 5: There is support for Leicestershire schools to reduce carbon emissions 

- Secure enough schools annually to participate in the Schools Collaboration on 
Reducing Energy (SCoRE) service 

 ���� On 

going 

LCC 

(E&T) 

School 

 

 

 

   

2
2
4



 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 5 JUNE 2014 

 

THE CARBON REDUCTION STRATEGY FOR LEICESTERSHIRE 2014-2020 AND 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 2014-2017 

 

MINUTE EXTRACT 

 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 

which provided a summary of the Carbon Reduction Strategy and Implementation 

Plan and sought the Committee’s comments prior to the Plan being submitted to the 

Cabinet in July. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these 

minutes. 

 

The Committee welcomed to the meeting Mrs. P. Posnett CC, Cabinet Lead Member 

for Environmental Matters. Mrs Posnett advised the Committee that the Carbon 

Reduction Strategy outlined proposed work for Leicestershire as a geographical 

area, not just for the County Council. She gave thanks to officers for developing the 

Strategy.  

 

Arising from discussion the following points were raised:- 

 

(i)   It was expected that the County Council as an Authority would meet its 2020 
carbon reduction target with the completion of the Re FIT programme. In the 
wider context the Council would attempt to understand how well the County 
as a whole, was performing against its carbon reduction targets. It was 
explained that whilst there was no legal requirement for the County Council 
to meet the targets laid out in the Strategy there were reputational risks if 
these were not met. The Strategy would also be helpful in bidding for 
external funding to deliver carbon reduction initiatives; 
 

(ii)   It was explained that the Department of Energy and Climate Change had 
first published data on greenhouse gases by local authority area in 2005, 
and this was selected as the first year for carbon reduction targets by the 
County Council. Currently the Council was marginally ahead of reaching its 
carbon reduction target for 2020; 

 

(iii)   The Committee was advised that one of the priorities identified through the 
Carbon Reduction Strategy Implementation Plan was fuel poverty. 
Previously, the Energy Company Obligation (ECO), a government led 
energy scheme funded by energy suppliers, had been aimed at tackling this 

APPENDIX 3APPENDIX 3APPENDIX 3APPENDIX 3    
225



issue, but with limited success. The ‘4 Ways 2 Warmth’ project, led by the 
Adults and Communities Department in partnership with a wide range of 
public and third sector organisations and funded by the Department of 
Health had identified and supported vulnerable people in fuel poverty over 
the past two years. Ways to follow up this work were being considered. 

 

(iv)   In relation to reducing carbon emissions from transport, it was anticipated 
that advances in vehicle fuel efficiency technology would compensate for the 
predicted increase in car usage up to 2020. It was not until the period 2021 
to 2031 that carbon emissions from transport was projected to increase. It 
was explained that the County Council’s role in affecting the take up of 
demand for more environmentally friendly vehicles was limited. The County 
Council would look at the possibility of hybrid cars as fleet vehicles where 
these were economically viable over the whole life of the vehicle. Currently 
hybrid vehicles were expensive to purchase and maintain, relative to that of 
standard cars; 

 

(v)   The Carbon Reduction Strategy made no reference to rail developments, 
including the viability of the National Forrest Line, as it would not be possible 
to deliver a rail project within the lifespan of the Strategy up to 2020. 
Consideration of rail related projects would better fit within future updates to 
the LTP3 Long Term Strategy (2011-2026); 

 

(vi)   The Committee queried the effect of the increased use of speed cushions on 
carbon emissions from transport. It was explained that where traffic calming 
measures were introduced this was done alongside other measures to 
reduce car usage and encourage walking and cycling and so that the impact 
was mostly positive or at least carbon neutral;        

 

(vii) The Committee was advised that any potential funding for the training of 
local domestic heat engineers in order to help deliver energy efficiency in 
businesses and homes was a matter for the Department of Energy and 
Climate Change rather than the County Council. 

 
 

RESOLVED: 

 

That the comments now made in respect of the Carbon Reduction Strategy for 

Leicestershire 2014 – 2020 and Implementation Plan 2014 - 2017 be drawn to the 

attention of the Cabinet at its meeting of 15 July 2014. 

 

 

226



 

 

CABINET – 15 JULY 2014 

 

PROPERTY ENERGY STRATEGY 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 

PART A 

 

Purpose of report 

 

1. To present the proposed Property Energy Strategy (2014) which sets out the 

strategy and recommendations as to how energy is to be procured, planned 

and managed for the County Council’s property resources. The Strategy has 

been developed through and is contained in the County Council’s Property 

Energy Report (2014) which is appended to this report. 

 

Recommendations  

 

2. The Cabinet is recommended to note the Property Energy Report 2014 as 

appended to this report and to approve the recommendations set out in Part 4 

of the Report as the County Council’s Property Energy Strategy. 

 

Reasons for Recommendation 

 

3. The development of a Property Energy Strategy is considered essential in 

order to better plan and manage the energy and carbon emissions 

performance of the County Council’s property assets, to secure the MTFS 

annual savings of at least £395,000 on property energy expenditure by 

2016/17, and to help achieve the County Council’s Environment Strategy 

target of reducing its CO2 emissions by 34% by 2020 (from a 2008/09 

baseline year).   

 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 

4. This report will be considered by the Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 

11 July 2014 and its comments will be reported to the Cabinet.  

 

 

Agenda Item 12227



 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 

5. The proposal to develop and implement a Property Energy Strategy was 

included in the Corporate Asset Management Plan (2013/14) which was 

approved by Council in December 2013.  

 

6. The approved County Council’s Capital Strategy and Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (2014/15 – 2017/18) make provision for the capital investment and 

savings requirements relating to improvements in the energy and carbon 

emissions performance of the County Council’s property resources.  

 

Resource Implications 

 

7. The Property Energy Report sets out the financial resources that have been 

allocated to property related energy improvement initiatives in the Capital 

Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) programmes/budgets 

for2014/15 – 2017/18.  In summary, the Capital Programme provides a total of 

£4m spread over the next 4 years.  The MTFS requires energy-related 

savings of £200,000 (2015/16) rising to £400,000 (2016/17). 

 

8. The Property Energy Report also identifies the Human Resources implications 

to deliver the recommended Property Energy Strategy including the 

establishment of two dedicated energy management posts across Strategic 

and Operational Property Services. These posts will be funded by a 

combination of existing staffing budgets and overachievement of the energy 

related savings. 

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 

9. None.  

 

Officer to Contact 

Elisabeth Carter 

Strategic Property Manager 

Corporate Resources Department 

Telephone: 0116 305 6926 

Elisabeth.Carter@leics.gov.uk 

228



 

                                                             PART B 

 

Background 

 

10. As owner of a sizeable property portfolio, the County Council’s gas and 

electricity costs amounted to £1.64m in 2012/13 with an additional Carbon 

Reduction Commitment (CRC) cost, a form of taxation on property carbon 

emissions, of £0.64m.  These costs are set to rise at an increasing rate unless 

active steps are taken now to significantly reduce the organisation’s related 

energy consumption and dependency on national grid supplied gas and 

electricity.  During 2012-13 national electricity prices increased by between 

5% - 10% and gas prices between 11%- 24%.  Price increases are predicted 

to continue for the foreseeable future. 

 

11. The County Council’s MTFS requires annual savings of £400,000 on property 

energy expenditure by 2016/17.  Furthermore, through its Environment 

Strategy, the County Council has committed to reducing its CO2 emissions by 

34% by 2020 (from a 2008 baseline year).  Active and radical interventions 

are needed now to meet these objectives.  Typically, large organisations 

(including virtually all Local Authorities) have not previously seen the need for 

a Property Energy Strategy.  However the County Council’s Property Energy 

Report reveals, it is now considered that the County Council must develop 

and apply a planned strategic approach in order to be able to manage the 

future levels of energy consumption and costs of its property resources. 

 

12. The recommended Property Energy Strategy has been developed following a 

detailed review of the current energy and carbon emission performance of the 

County Council’s property portfolio as well as a review of the Council’s 

existing energy policies, procurement and management practices.  The 

results of reviews, together with the findings from wider research into good 

practice and extensive stakeholder consultation, have helped identify the 

opportunities for improvement. 

 

13. The review reveals that the County Council is currently in a relatively weak 

position in terms of either planning or managing the energy performance and 

energy consumption of its properties.  The absence of any property energy 

policy is reflected across all areas of property related energy management, 

planning and design practices.  Energy consumption and performance has not 

had a high priority in many property decision-making processes. 

 

14.  The review of energy procurement practices reveals that the Council has 

been almost exclusively dependent upon grid supplied gas and electricity and, 

229



 

historically, has made no use of the renewable energy supplies that are 

financially and environmentally more attractive. 

 

15. When reviewing the energy performance of the Council’s estate, it is evident 

that 75% of the total energy costs of the 142 corporate managed properties 

that fell within the scope of the review are attributable to just 25 properties. 

More specifically, there are 3 sites that together account for more than 50% of 

this total energy cost: County Hall, Snibston Discovery Park, and Beaumanor 

Hall and Park.  The County Hall site alone accounts for 39% of the total 

energy cost and represents the greatest opportunity for focussing effort to 

reduce and change current energy consumption levels. 

 

Proposals 

 

16. The recommended Property Energy Strategy comprises four key Building 

Blocks as described in Part 4 of the attached Property Energy Report. These 

four Building Blocks set out the actions that are needed to provide the 

organisational structure, the culture, the resources and the practices and 

procedures for managing effectively both the environmental and financial 

energy performance of the Council’s properties.  

 

17. It is recommended that Property Energy Strategy is delivered in 2 stages: 

• Stage 1 ‘Transformation’ – extending from February 2014 through to 

October 2014 and dealing with establishing the structure, culture and 

resources recommended in Building Blocks 1 to 3. 

• Stage 2 ‘Delivery’ – also commences in February 2014 but continues the 

work of developing and implementing the practices and procedures 

recommended in Building Block 4 through to August 2017. 

 

 

 

 

Consultations 

 

18. All County Council Service Areas have been consulted during the 

development of the Property Energy Report.  The report has been presented, 

discussed and approved by the County Council’s Asset Management Working 

Group, the Corporate Property Steering Group, the Environment Strategy 

Board and the Corporate Management Team. 

 

19. The proposed Property Energy Strategy will be considered by the Scrutiny 

Commission on 11 July 2014. 

 

230



 

20. External consultation has been extensive throughout the course of the review 

and has included specialist energy suppliers, contractors and procurement 

bodies, Local Authorities and central government departments/bodies, the 

Health & Safety Executive, academic bodies, and research institutions.   

 

Conclusion 

 

21. Implementing the recommended Property Energy Strategy would move the 

County Council from its current weak position with regards to the energy 

management and performance of its property resources to one of 

considerable strength and control.  Through adopting these recommended 

measures the Council will be enabled to meet its financial and environmental 

energy efficiency targets. 

 

Appendix 

 

Property Energy Report 2014 

 

Equal Opportunities Implications 

 

22. An Equality Questionnaire has been completed.  There are no negative 

impacts or consequences arising from the recommended Property Energy 

Strategy and therefore a full Equality Impact Assessment is not required. 

 

Background Papers 

 

23. Report to the County Council 19th February 2014 “Medium Term  

           Financial   Strategy 2014/15 – 2017/18” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=3961&Ver=4 

 

 

 Corporate Asset Management Plan 
 http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000134/M00003725/AI00035962/$Corporateassetmanagementplanappx.pdfA.ps.pdf 

 

Environment Strategy 2011-2021 

http://www.leics.gov.uk/environment_strategy  

 

231



232

This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire County Council
Property Energy Master Report 2014

Prepared by: Lis Carter 
Version: 2.0 

Last Updated: [20/03/2014] 

233



Contents
Executive Summary.......................................................................................3
1. Introduction...............................................................................................5

1.1 Background ......................................................................................................5
1.2 Drivers for LCC’s Property Energy Strategy.....................................................5

1.2.1 National and International Policy and Regulation...................................... 7
1.2.2 Leicestershire County Council Strategy and Policy................................... 9

1.3 Purpose, Objectives and Scope of Review ....................................................10
1.3.1 Purpose ................................................................................................... 10
1.3.2 Objectives................................................................................................ 10
1.3.3 Scope ...................................................................................................... 11

1.4 Methodology...................................................................................................11
1.5 Layout of the Report.......................................................................................11

2. Existing Position.....................................................................................13
2.1 Energy Performance of LCC Estate ...............................................................13
2.2 Energy Policy .................................................................................................17
2.3 Energy Procurement ......................................................................................19
2.4 Practices.........................................................................................................20

2.4.1 Roles and Responsibilities ...................................................................... 20
2.4.2 Acquisition and ownership of buildings.................................................... 24
2.4.3 Design and construction of buildings and building systems .................... 24
2.4.4 Use, operation, maintenance and management of building and 
building services ................................................................................................ 24
2.4.5 Energy sourcing and procurement .......................................................... 25
2.4.6 Performance measurement, monitoring and reporting of energy 
consumption and costs ...................................................................................... 25
2.4.7 Traded Services ...................................................................................... 27

3. Opportunities ..........................................................................................28
3.1 Energy Performance ......................................................................................29
3.2 Energy Policy .................................................................................................30
3.3 Energy Procurement and Sourcing ................................................................30
3.4 Energy Practices ............................................................................................31

3.4.1 Roles and Responsibilities ...................................................................... 31
3.4.2 Acquisition and ownership of buildings.................................................... 31
3.4.3 Design and construction of buildings and building systems .................... 31
3.4.4 Use, operation, maintenance and management of buildings and 
building services ................................................................................................ 32
3.4.5 Performance measurement, monitoring and reporting of CRC, energy 
consumption and costs ...................................................................................... 32
3.4.6 Traded Services ...................................................................................... 33
3.4.7 Partnerships ............................................................................................ 33

4. Recommendations..................................................................................36
4.1 Building Block 1: Structure .............................................................................36
4.2 Building Block 2: Culture ................................................................................36
4.3 Building Block 3: Resources...........................................................................37
4.4 Building Block 4: Doing The Right Things ......................................................37

5. Risk Register...........................................................................................38
6. Implementation Plan...............................................................................42

6.1 Timetable and Structure for Implementation ..................................................42
6.2 Performance Targets......................................................................................46

6.2.1 Core performance targets:....................................................................... 46
6.2.2 Extended performance targets: ............................................................... 47

Appendix 1....................................................................................................48

234



Executive Summary 

As owner of a sizeable property portfolio, Leicestershire County Council’s gas and 
electricity costs amounted to £1.64m in 2012/13 with an additional Carbon Reduction 
Commitment (CRC) cost, a form of taxation, of £0.64m. These costs are set to rise at 
an increasing rate unless active steps are taken now to significantly reduce the 
organisation’s related energy consumption and dependency on grid supplied gas and 
electricity. During 2012 – 2013 national electricity prices increased by between 5% - 
10% and gas prices by between 11% - 24%.  These price increases are predicted to 
continue for the foreseeable future. 

Both the financial and environmental costs of the County Council’s current levels of 
energy consumption are strong drivers for change.  As the Council re-doubles its 
efforts to meet with the government’s continuing austerity measures, the current 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) requires annual savings of at least 
£395,000 on property energy expenditure by 2016/17.  This equates to a reduction in 
current energy use of around 23%.  Furthermore, through its Environment Strategy 
the County Council has committed to reducing its CO2 emissions by 34% by 2020 
(from a 2008/09 baseline year).  Unless active and radical interventions are taken 
now neither of these objectives will be met. 

In common with most organisations and Local Authorities the County Council has not 
seen the need for a Property Energy Strategy previously. However, as this review 
reveals, this is no longer acceptable and the Council must develop and apply a 
planned strategic approach if it is to be able to manage the future levels of energy 
consumption and costs of its property resources. 

The strategy recommended in this document has been developed following a 
detailed review of the current energy and carbon emission performance of the 
County Council’s property portfolio as well as a review of the Council’s existing 
energy policies, procurement and management practices. The results of these 
reviews, together with the findings from wider research into good practice and 
extensive stakeholder consultation, have helped identify the opportunities for 
improvement. 

It is very evident that the County Council is currently in a weak and largely ineffective 
position in terms of either planning or managing the energy performance and energy 
consumption of its properties.  The Council is virtually devoid of policy in the vast 
majority of areas where energy consumption or costs may be influenced.  This 
absence of policy is inevitably reflected across all areas of property related energy 
management, planning and design practices.  There are no energy lead roles or 
responsibilities in either Strategic or Operational Property Services.  Energy quality 
criteria have a minor impact on the design and construction of buildings and building 
systems and energy efficiency is overlooked in many decision-making processes 
affecting the use, operation, maintenance and management of buildings.  There is 
some good quality data collected about energy consumption in County Council 
buildings but this information is not being used to support performance management 
or to support routine performance monitoring and reports about energy consumption 
and costs. 

The County Council’s energy supplies are currently procured through contracts with 
ESPO.  These appear to be cost effective but the Council is almost exclusively 

235



dependent upon grid supplied gas and electricity and makes no use of the renewable 
energy supplies that are financially and environmentally more attractive. 

When reviewing the energy performance of the Council’s estate, it is revealing to 
learn that 75% of the total energy costs of the 142 corporately managed properties 
that fell within the scope of the review are attributable to just 25 properties.  More 
specifically, there are 3 sites that account for more than 50% of this total energy cost: 
County Hall, Snibston Discovery Park and Beaumanor Hall and Park. The County 
Hall site alone accounts for 39% of the total energy cost and represents the greatest 
opportunity for focussing effort to reduce and change current energy consumption 
levels.

The report goes on to identify the many opportunities for improvement that exist 
under the key headings of energy performance; policy; procurement; and 
management practices. These suggested improvements are gathered together into 
the four key Building Blocks that form the implementation plan for delivering the 
County Council’s recommended Property Energy Strategy. 

Building Block 1: Structure – deals with creating the right organisational structure to 
deliver an effective property energy management function. 
Building Block 2: Culture – cultivates an energy conscious and responsible 
management culture within the organisation. 
Building Block 3: Resources – provides the resources that are required to deliver the 
required energy management function and necessary improvements. 
Building Block 4: Doing the right things – details the practices and procedures that 
need to be developed to make sure that the right actions are taken. 

Together, these Building Blocks will move the County Council from its current 
position of ineffectiveness and vulnerability with regards to the energy management 
of its property resources to one of considerable strength and control.  Through 
adopting these recommended measures the Council will be able to meet its financial 
and environmental energy efficiency targets. 

It is recommended that the implementation of the new Property Energy Strategy is 
delivered in 2 stages.
Stage 1: Transformation extends from February 2014 through to October 2014 and 
deals with establishing the structure, culture and resources recommended in Building 
Blocks 1 to 3.   
Stage 2: Deliver also commences in February 2014 but continues the work of 
implementing the practices and procedures recommended in Building Block 4 
through to August 2017. 

236



1. Introduction 

1.1 Background 

The future energy supply and the rising financial and environmental costs of energy 
are major causes for concern at a personal as well as global level. As landlord of a 
sizeable property portfolio (918 assets as at April 2012), Leicestershire County 
Council has a responsibility as well as a financial interest to be as energy efficient as 
possible in the way its properties are built, managed, used and occupied. To put this 
into a more immediate context, the Council’s property energy bill currently accounts 
for around 20% of the total property costs. Gas and electricity costs (for the 142 
properties where LCC is directly responsible for the energy costs) amounted to 
£1.64m in 2012/13 with an additional Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) cost of 
£0.64m. Energy price inflation means that these costs are set to rise at an increasing 
rate unless active steps are taken to significantly reduce the organisation’s property 
related energy consumption. 

1.2 Drivers for LCC’s Property Energy Strategy 

Figure 1.1 presents the key national and local policy drivers impacting upon the 
development of LCC’s Property Energy Strategy. These drivers are largely designed 
around reducing energy consumption; improving energy performance; ensuring the 
UK’s future energy supply; and reducing carbon emissions and adverse 
environmental impacts.  The diagram also illustrates those aspects of property 
construction, management and use that need to be considered and addressed by the 
Property Energy Strategy. 

237



Figure 1.1: National and Local Policy Drivers) 

These key drivers are considered in a little more detail below. 

238



1.2.1 National and International Policy and Regulation 

The UK’s electricity is supplied from a diverse range of generating sources, from 
large to micro-scale operations.  The UK national government, evidenced in recent 
statute within the Energy Act 2013, continues to pursue the decarbonisation of the 
UK energy supply marketplace.  However, around 64% of UK electricity supplies 
continue to be produced from fossil fuelled coal, oil and gas power stations with 19% 
being produced from nuclear power. (UK Government; Energy Trends, September 2013).  

The UK’s gas supply continues to be largely dependent upon increasing imports with 
a lesser and reducing supply from UK off-shore sources.   

This puts the UK into a risky position in terms of its energy supply due to its 
traditional dependency upon non-renewable fossil fuelled energy sources and its high 
exposure to the international market (and political) volatilities of imported gas and oil 
suppliers.

On the demand side, the UK’s overall energy consumption levels (weather adjusted) 
have fallen since 2005, as shown in Figure 1.2.  This trend is mainly as a result of (i) 
economic recession and (ii) implementation of energy efficiency measures impacting 
on overall electricity demand.  Gas consumption (adjusted for weather conditions) 
has remained broadly consistent since the mid-1980s.  
(Department of Energy and Climate Change, Energy Consumption in the UK, July 2013)

Figure 1.2 Energy Consumption by Fuel, UK (1970 to 2012) 

These demand and supply profiles mean that the continuity of the UK’s energy 
supply is becoming a further matter for concern. Sudden peaks in demand, as 
experienced during the cold winters of 2011/12 and 2012/13, saw a large scale 
depletion in UK gas reserves which in turn saw wholesale gas price rises during the 

239



summer/autumn of 2013.  Given the UK’s over-dependency on gas-fired power 
stations, an increase in gas prices also drives up the generation costs and the 
wholesale price of electricity. 

The precarious balance between supply pressures, increasing demand and rising 
prices is likely to continue for some years whilst the benefits of current policies and 
measures take time to have an effect. Figure 1.3 below, produced by OFGEM, shows 
the likely dip in the UK’s peak electricity generating capacity towards 2016, as 
production gradually move from fossil fuel to renewable and nuclear energy. 
Although not illustrated on this diagram, the reduction in electricity supply will 
inevitably have an inflationary impact on wholesale prices, as well as making short 
periods of managed electrical supply cut outs a strong likelihood. 

Figure 1.3 UK Electricity Generating Capacity 

Source: OFGEM – Electricity Capacity Assessment Report 2013  

The lag in electricity generating capacity together with the increasing dependency on 
gas imports are both illustrative of the supply pressures which, together with green 
levies applied to consumer energy bills, are combining to drive up energy prices.  
Figure 1.4 illustrates the increasing cost of gas and electricity over the last 5 years.  
Recently, between Q3 2012 and Q3 2013, average electricity prices have risen by 
between 5 and 10 per cent for all consumers; the price LCC pays has risen by 7%.  
In the same period, gas prices have risen by between 11 and 24 per cent nationally.  
(LCC rises are yet to be announced).

240



Figure 1.4 Percentage Change in UK Non-Domestic Fuel Prices; % change from 
baseline of Q1 2009. 

+ 6.76% electricity

+ 8.02% gas

-40.00%

-35.00%

-30.00%

-25.00%

-20.00%

-15.00%

-10.00%

-5.00%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

q
u
a

rt
e
r

1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Electricity

Gas

Source – Dept. for Environment and Climate Change Quarterly Enery Data, January 2013 

Forecast prices for the coming 3 financial years, provided by LCC’s energy 
commodity buyer, ESPO, indicates the upward trend in prices is expected to 
continue.

Figure 1.5 – Forecast Energy Price Rises 

Source – ESPO Energy Governance Panel Presentation, September 2013  

1.2.2  Leicestershire County Council Strategy and Policy 

The UK government’s continuing austerity measures are requiring a further reduction 
in LCC’s Medium Term Financial Savings (MTFS) budget of £110m by 2017/18. This 
represents a reduction of around 30% reduction on the 2012/13 annual revenue 
expenditure levels. LCC’s current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) requires 
annual savings of at least £395,000pa on annual energy expenditure by 2016/17.  As 
will be explained in section 2, this equates to a reduction in current energy use of just 
over 23%. 

The implementation over recent years of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management 
Plans (CAMP) has seen a considerable reduction and rationalisation of the Council’s 
asset base.  For example, the Office Strategy alone has led to a reduction of 8,652 
sq m (NIA) of office space, thereby producing a 1% reduction in LCC’s total carbon 
emissions and £175,000pa reduction in energy costs. However, the corporate energy 
bill has not fallen in proportion to the decreasing size of the corporate estate mainly 
because the unit price of energy is rising faster. 

241



Leicestershire County Council has committed to reducing its CO2 emissions by 34% 
by 2020 (taking 2008/09 as the baseline year) as a key performance objective of its 
Environment Strategy. The level of CO2 emissions is also a determinant of the 
amount of the annual CRC tax that is paid from the Council’s revenue budget.  Asset 
rationalisation has contributed towards this overall carbon reduction objective but 
more radical actions will be required for the remaining estate if the 2020 target is to 
be achieved. 

1.3 Purpose, Objectives and Scope of Review 

1.3.1 Purpose 

To review existing arrangements for procuring, planning and managing energy 
consumption and associated carbon emissions across the County Council’s asset 
base. The results will be used to produce recommendations in the form of the 
Council’s future Property Energy Strategy, including a detailed Implementation Plan 
and Programme of Works. 

1.3.2 Objectives 

 Review Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC’s) policy requirements and 
other drivers relevant to the energy and carbon emissions aspects of LCC’s 
property resources; develop and produce recommendations about the 
appropriate energy and carbon emissions policies for LCC’s property 
resources.

 Review current LCC practices in energy procurement and in planning, 
managing, monitoring and reporting energy consumption and carbon 
emissions in LCC properties.  This review to include the use and occupation 
of buildings; the procurement and delivery of facilities management services; 
and the procurement of building contracts.  Investigate, identify and appraise 
opportunities for improving upon current practices and produce 
recommendations. 

 Review and align the proposed carbon emissions and energy management 
planning of LCC’s properties with the Council’s Environment Strategy and 
describe the linkages with the work of the Climate Action Team. 

 Consider and recommend the preferred way forward for dealing with services 
procured through the contract with TEAM which is due to terminate in 
November 2014. 

 Review and appraise existing arrangements for collecting, measuring on-site, 
managing, using and reporting information about energy and carbon 
emissions from LCC’s properties and produce recommendations for dealing 
with identified shortcomings and for delivering efficient and effective services 
in the future. 

 Include recommendations for the proposed development of a centralised 
database for energy management and carbon emissions within the future 
property management information system. 

 Set out a phased programme for delivering specific energy efficiency and 
carbon emissions targets from the Council’s estate during the period 2014/15 
to 2019/20, taking into account ongoing works to develop an energy 
performance contract. 

 Recommend management, governance and reporting arrangements for 
establishing an energy planning and management function with Strategic and 
Operational Property Services. 

242



1.3.3 Scope 

 This strategy is concerned with the consumption and management of energy 
across the County Council’s portfolio of corporately used buildings, together 
with the associated financial and environmental impacts. 

 The property assets falling within the scope of this review comprise 142 
corporately managed buildings and sites as listed in Appendix 1. This covers 
a wide range of building types encompassing assets used for service delivery, 
back-office functions/services and the commercial, industrial and County 
Farms portfolio of let properties. 

 Proposals for future energy management arrangements are based upon the 
relevant organisational and staffing structures in Strategic and Operational 
Property Services (Corporate Resources) and the Carbon Action Team 
(Environment & Transport). 

 The review and strategy development covers the period 2014 – 2020. 

 The review excludes: 
o Assets which do not consume energy and/or emit carbon (e.g. land 

holdings)
o Assets that are not managed by LCC (e.g. shared office 

accommodation in properties owned by partners e.g. District Councils) 
o Schools energy use and management – although the proposed 

strategy does consider the potential opportunities available for 
extending energy related services as part of the Council’s traded 
services offer to schools, as well as LCC’s obligations for key 
performance reporting for school buildings under the Department for 
Communities and Local Government’s transparency agenda. 

1.4 Methodology 

The review has been managed and delivered by a project working group comprising 
officer representatives from the relevant service areas and led by a dedicated Project 
Manager reporting to joint Project Sponsors from Strategic Property Services and 
Environment and Transport. 

The final report and recommended strategy will be reported to both the Corporate 
Property Steering Group and the Environment Strategy Board prior to consideration 
by CMT and members. 

1.5 Layout of the Report 

The report is set out in line with the key areas and stages of investigations 
undertaken during the review: 

Section 1: Introduction 

Explanation of the background context and the key drivers for the review and 
development of the proposed Energy Strategy; clarification about the aims, 
objectives and scope of the review and the general approach adopted. 

243



Section 2: Existing situation 

Overview of the current energy and carbon emissions performance of the County 
Council’s property portfolio and a summary of existing energy policies, procurement 
and management practices. 

Section 3: Opportunities for improvement 

Identification of opportunities to improve upon current arrangements in keeping with 
the aims and objectives of the review. 

Section 4: Conclusions and recommendations 

Key conclusions and recommendations arising from the findings and outcomes of the 
review.

Section 5: Risks

Production of a risk register highlighting the key risks associated with the delivery of 
the proposed strategy and recommendations together with suggested actions for 
mitigating/managing these risks. 

Section 6: Implementation Plan 

Recommended implementation plan and programme of works for delivering the 
proposed strategy. 

244



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 13 of 48 

2. Existing Position 

This section examines the ‘as is’ position for the LCC corporate estate that falls 
within the scope of this review. 

2.1 Energy Performance of LCC Estate 

Energy consumption is measured in kilowatt hours (kWh). This quantitative measure 
is an industry standard for measuring and monitoring the energy consumption from 
buildings and also provides the basis for calculating the financial costs of the energy 
being used.  

In addition to energy consumption costs, the County Council also pays a government 
levy; the emissions trading Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) scheme, for the 
CO2 emissions it produces.  Under UK regulation, any individual electrical supply to 
a site or building which has a peak load of over 100kWh requires a mandatory half-
hourly electric meter.  Any organisation that consumes more than 6,000,000kWh 
annually from these half-hourly metered buildings qualifies to pay CRC charges.  At 
present, LCC consumes just over 7,617,000kWh from its half-hourly metered 
electricity and so is liable for CRC payments.   

CRC payments are then assessed on ALL CO2 emissions from electricity and gas 
use from all occupied/owned buildings and not merely from those buildings fitted with 
half-hourly electrical meters.   

Figure 2.1 LCC Energy Consumption and Costs (Corporate Buildings Only) 

Energy Type Energy 
Consumption

(kWh)

Energy 
Consumption

Costs
£

(year ending 30 

Sept 2013)

CRC costs 
(2012/13)

£

(in scope 
corporate 

buildings only 
and excluding 

schools) 

Total Energy 
Costs

Electricity 12,971,064 £1,106,388 £80,460 £1,186,848

Gas 19,250,310 £ 539,847 £44,928 £584,775

Totals: 32,221,374 £1,646,235 £125,388 £1,771,623 

A more detailed analysis of these headline costs reveals that there is a high 
proportion of the total costs amongst a relatively small number of properties. 

From the 142 corporately managed properties falling within the scope of this review 
75 assets present total annual costs in excess of £3,750 pa. The following Figures 
2.2 and 2.3 illustrate that 75% of the total energy costs are attributable to just 25 
properties.  The Pen Lloyd building at County Hall accounts for the highest 
individual building energy cost of £347,243pa with the Rutland building being the next 
highest at circa £160,000pa.  

Further analysis of these figures highlights that there are three sites that 
account for more than 50% of the total energy cost:  County Hall, Snibston 
Discovery Park and Beaumanor Hall & Park.  Of these, the County Hall campus is 

245



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 14 of 48 

by far the most significant contributor to the County Council’s total property energy 
bill and accounts for 39% of the total energy costs from the corporately managed 
properties falling within the scope of this review.  The campus comprises five main 
buildings (Pen Lloyd; Rutland; Eastern Annexe; ICT building; Western Annexe) and 
has been increased with the purchase of the former Fire & Rescue Services building 
in January 2014. 

Figure 2.2 Energy Cost Distribution for top 75 properties 
See following page.  

Figure 2.3 Distribution of Energy Costs across sites 

Total Energy Cost from Consumption and CRC

49%

39%

8%
4%

ALL OTHER SITES

COUNTY HALL CAMPUS

SNIBSTON

BEAUMANOR HALL & PARK

The quantitative measures of energy consumption kWh, financial costs and CO2 
emissions are useful, but do not convey any detail about the qualitative energy-
efficiency of buildings.  These aspects are dealt with to some limited extent by 
Energy Performance Certificates (EPC’s) and Display Energy Certificates (DEC’s). 

EPC’s are based on an energy survey and examine key items such as insulation, 
heating and cooling systems, glazing and lighting, providing a relative energy use 
rating from A (most efficient) to G (least efficient). They are theoretical energy 
performance assessments and do not take into account the actual energy 
consumption within the building.  Since October 2008 an EPC is required at the point 
of construction/refurbishment, sale or rental of non-residential property exceeding 50 
sq m.  LCC produces EPC’s in compliance with these statutory requirements but the 
information is not currently used for routine building management purposes. 

Since January 2013 annual DEC’s are statutorily required and must be prominently 
displayed for all public buildings in excess of 500 sq m.  The DEC compares actual 
energy consumption for the building with the theoretical consumption for a building of 
the same type and provides a relative energy use rating as for EPCs from A to G.  
The process for completing statutory DEC’s on LCC’s estate is almost complete.  
Data for those buildings in excess of 500 sq m is available and is re-produced in the 
following Figure 2.4. Based on the total floor area of these buildings, 45% of total 
floor area falls within the E rating and nothing exceeds a C rating.  It is also 
noticeable that there are strong links between those buildings with D and E ratings 
and those identified above as the highest energy costing buildings. 

246



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 15 of 48 

.

This page has been left intentionally blank

247



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 
Property Energy Master Report 2014 

F:\Cores\CCSG\Property Reviews and Strategies\33 Energy Planning and Management Strategy\Master Report\Final Property Energy Master Report 2014.doc 

16 of 48

 Figure 2, 2 
Cost from consumption and CRC

Top 75 sites for cost and consumption

£-

£20,000

£40,000

£60,000

£80,000

£100,000

£120,000

£140,000

£160,000

C
H

 - 
R

U
TLA

N
D

SN
IB

STO
N

C
H

- EAS
TE

R
N

AN
N

E
XE

BE
AU

M
AN

O
R

H
A

LL
 &

 P
AR

K
C

H
 - 

IC
T 

C
H

 - 
W

ES
TE

R
N

 A
N

N
E

XE

AM
BA

SS
AD

O
R

 H
O

U
SE

D
O

N
N

IN
G

TO
N

-L
E

-H
E

ATH
 M

A
N

O
R

H
O

U
SE (E

S
T)

C
R

O
FT

H
IG

H
W

A
YS D

E
PO

T

R
O

M
U

LU
S C

O
U

R
T

AR
E

A O
FFIC

E

C
A

TH
E

R
IN

E D
ALL

EY
 E

PH

C
O

ALV
IL

LE
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y
 R

ESO
U

R
C

E C
EN

TR
E

O
AK

FIE
LD

 5
-1

4 
S

H
O

R
T S

TAY
 S

C
H

O
O

L

R
O

M
AN

 W
A

Y D
AY

 C
EN

TR
E

C
O

U
N

TY H
A

LL
 (O

TH
E

R
)

M
O

U
N

TS
O

R
R

EL 
H

IG
H

W
AY

S D
E

PO
T

FIR
E S

E
R

VIC
E H

Q
 (E

S
T)

H
IN

C
K

LE
Y A

R
EA

O
FFIC

E

SO
U

TH
W

IG
STO

N
AR

E
A

O
FFIC

E

BA
TTLE

FIE
LD

H
ER

. C
E

N
TR

E
&

C
O

U
N

TR
Y P

A
R

K

LO
U

G
H

BO
R

O
U

G
H

 L
IB

R
A

R
Y

AS
TO

N
 F

IR
S C

A
R

AVA
N

 P
A

R
K

M
IL

LF
IE

LD
 D

AY
 C

EN
TR

E

H
IN

C
K

LE
Y

LI
BR

A
R

Y

TH
E T

R
EES

C
O

U
N

TY
R

E
C

O
R

D
S

O
FFIC

E

M
ELT

O
N

 A
R

EA
 O

FFIC
E

 &
 M

ELT
O

N
 D

A
Y S

E
R

VIC
E

C
O

ALV
IL

LE
 A

R
EA

 O
FFIC

E

66
G

R
O

S
VE

R
N

O
R

 S
TR

EET

C
O

A
LV

IL
LE

 L
IB

R
AR

Y
&

AC
C

E
SS C

E
N

TR
E

AR
C

AD
IA

H
O

U
S

E

G
R

EE
N

G
ATE H

O
U

SE

W
IG

STO
N

LI
B

R
AR

Y

C
O

ALV
IL

LE
 C

O
N

TAC
T &

 F
AM

IL
Y

 C
EN

TR
E

PE
N

N
IN

E H
O

U
S

E/L
IN

K H
O

U
S

E

BR
O

O
K

LA
N

D
S A

R
EA

 O
FFIC

E

AS
H

BY
 D

E L
A Z

O
U

C
H

 L
IB

R
AR

Y

LO
U

G
H

BO
R

O
U

G
H

 C
O

N
TAC

T
& F

AM
IL

Y
 C

EN
TR

E

C
A

R
LT

O
N

 D
R

IV
E

 S
H

O
R

T B
R

EA
KS

C
A

STLE
 H

O
U

SE (J
U

D
G

E'S
LO

D
G

IN
G

)

AB
IN

G
TO

N
H

O
U

S
E A

R
E

A
O

FFIC
E

R
E

SPIT
E C

AR
E

U
N

IT

LO
U

G
H

BO
R

O
U

G
H

TEC
H

N
O

LO
G

Y C
E

N
TR

E

H
IN

C
K

LE
Y

C
O

N
TAC

T
& F

AM
IL

Y
 C

EN
TR

E

M
U

SE
U

M
S

TO
R

E
B

AR
R

O
W

M
O

U
N

TS
O

R
R

EL 
D

AY
 C

EN
TR

E

C
A

R
N

EG
IE

 M
U

SE
U

M

M
EN

P
H

YS
C

E
N

TR
E

W
IG

STO
N

D
AY

 C
AR

E
 C

EN
TR

E
(F

IR
S

T F
LO

O
R

)

SU
R

E
STAR

T
&

YO
U

N
G

P
EO

PLE
S

 C
EN

TR
E

FLE
C

KN
E

Y L
IB

R
A

R
Y (F

O
R

M
ER

 S
C

H
 A

N
N

E
XE)

O
AD

B
Y L

IB
R

A
R

Y
(2

00
7)

N
A

IL
S

TO
N

E
 H

IG
H

W
AYS

D
EPO

T

M
U

SE
U

M
S

TO
R

E T
H

E
S

H
ER

R
IE

R
C

EN
TR

E

C
O

ALV
IL

LE
 A

D
AP

TA
TIO

N
TE

C
H

 W
/S

H
O

P
 (U

N
IT

 5
) S

O
C

IA
L 

S

AB
ER

G
LA

S
LY

N
 H

ALL

W
E

LL
A

N
D

H
O

U
SE

 C
H

IL
D

R
EN

'S
H

O
M

E

SP
EE

D
 A

W
AR

EN
ES

S T
R

AIN
IN

G
&

D
E

W
O

FFIC
ES

M
ELT

O
N

M
O

W
BR

A
Y

H
IG

H
W

A
YS D

E
PO

T

H
A

M
IL

TO
N

C
O

U
R

T
LD

H
O

M
E

BIR
S

TA
LL

 L
IB

R
A

R
Y

TH
U

R
M

ASTO
N

C
O

LL
IN

G
TO

N
H

O
U

SE
-C

TS-S
TO

N
ELE

IG
H

P
LA

Y S
C

AS
H

BY
SC

H
O

O
L 

(L
EIC

E
STER

 R
O

AD
) A

C
AD

EM
Y

G
R

EE
N

H
IL

L 
Y

O
U

N
G

 P
EO

P
LE

S C
E

N
TR

E

SH
EPS

H
ED

LI
BR

A
R

Y

VE
N

TU
R

E H
O

U
SE

 Y
O

U
TH

 C
EN

TR
E

17
G

R
O

S
VE

R
N

O
R

 H
IL

L

LO
U

G
H

BO
R

O
U

G
H

M
O

IR
A

AD
U

LT
 C

EN
TR

E
LA

LS

ALB
ER

T
&

VIC
TO

R
IA

STR
EE

T
D

AY
 C

EN
TR

E

SY
STO

N
LI

B
R

AR
Y

KE
G

W
O

R
TH

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
EN

TR
E

M
O

U
N

TFIE
LD

S
LO

D
G

E Y
O

U
N

G
 P

EO
P

LE
S C

EN
TR

E

C
O

ALV
IL

LE
 A

U
D

IO
LO

G
Y

 C
EN

TR
E

£

Gas cost Electric cost CO2 cost

CH - PEN LLOYD BUILDING, 

not shown - total spend £347,243

75% spend in 

top 25 sites 

2
4
8



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 17 of 48 

Figure 2.4 DEC’s for largest LCC Buildings 

2.2 Energy Policy 

Research into LCC’s existing property related energy policies, investigation into best 
practice, peer evaluation and workshop development exercises revealed that the 
County Council is presently almost completely devoid of property related 
energy management or procurement policy in the vast majority of areas where 
energy consumption or costs may be influenced.

Figure 2.5 presents a high level summary of the broad areas of influence affecting 
LCC’s property related energy consumption and costs. 

249



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 18 of 48 

Figure 2.5 Factors Affecting LCC Energy Consumption and Costs 

The table in Figure 2.6 below provides some illustrative examples of the policy areas 
that could be developed and applied to guide and influence the factors identified in 
Figure 2.5 above affecting property energy consumption and costs. 

Figure 2.6 Opportunities for Property Energy Policies 

Policy Area Illustrative Examples of Energy Policy 

Quality of buildings acquired, 
owned and occupied 

Minimum acquisition criteria for energy 
performance

Design, construction and 
quality of buildings and 
building services 

Energy performance outcome requirements for 
contracts, e.g. BREAM excellence  

HVAC (Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning) 
Policy, e.g. temperature controls. 

Use, operation, maintenance 
and management of building 
and building services 

Operation/run time limitations for use of buildings. 
(e.g. holiday closures, weekend working limits)  

Frequency of supplier review (opportunity for 
“switching”) 

Energy sourcing and 
procurement 

Target setting for energy procurement (e.g. 
proportion of energy from renewable sources) 

Target setting for energy use reduction Performance measurement, 
monitoring and reporting of 
energy consumption and 
costs

Energy Performance Management plan 

250



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 19 of 48 

2.3 Energy Procurement 

A present the energy needs of the LCC corporate estate are almost exclusively met 
through grid supplied gas and electricity.  Less than 1% of total supply is from other 
solid fuels or oil and there are no renewable energy supplies excepting very small-
scale applications on one Country Park. 

LCC’s energy supplies are procured via Eastern Shires Procurement Organisation 
(ESPO). ESPO acts as LCC’s outsourced wholesale energy commodity buyer under 
contracts that extend until March 2016 for gas and September 2016 for electricity.  

ESPO purchases energy through its own single-source wholesale contracts with 
Scottish and Southern Electricity (SSE) for electricity and Total Gas and Power for 
gas. These supplier contracts were procured via a competitive tender process 
principally developed to secure lowest commodity prices for ESPO’s customers. 

LCC is one of ESPO’s many customers - ESPO’s mass purchasing capacity 
strengthens its negotiating position as an energy purchaser.  The price paid by 
customers for units of energy is largely dependent upon the effectiveness of ESPO’s 
purchasing team in purchasing energy at the best time and price.  Customers also 
pay ESPO an annual RTPI index linked fee for their services.  Key performance cost 
statistics for 2013/14 indicate: 

 ESPO price paid for non-half hourly electricity supply was 0.81% above UK 
wholesale market average for the last 18 months 

 ESPO price paid for half hourly electricity supply was 0.14% above UK 
wholesale market average for the last 18 months 

 ESPO price paid for gas supply was 0.5% below the UK wholesale market 
average for the last 18 months 

LCC is represented by Strategic Finance on ESPO’s Energy Governance Panel but 
in reality there is very little scope for influencing the current purchasing 
arrangements.  There is no active dialogue between Finance and Property about 
the meetings or reports from ESPO.

The unit cost of energy, rather than the environmental sustainability of its generation 
are the most influential factor in the strategy of the ESPO Energy Governance Panel, 
and consequently in LCC’s current energy purchasing arrangements.  However, a 
brief review of the sustainability practices of the major natural gas suppliers 
undertaken for the purposes of this review indicates that there is little to differentiate 
one from the other. The situation with regards to ESPO’s purchasing electricity from 
SSE is a little more favourable: 

 SSE generate a substantially higher proportion of their electricity from thermal 
sources (84%) than the national average (64%) – however, this is also true of 
all the ‘big 6’ suppliers except EDF who specialise in nuclear energy. 

 SSE have a greater proportion of their supply from renewable sources (14%) 
compared with the other ‘big 6’ suppliers, most of this being supplied from off-
shore wind. 

251



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 20 of 48 

2.4 Practices 

2.4.1 Roles and Responsibilities  

Property related energy services are currently delivered across the key service areas 
of Property Services (sub-divided into Strategic and Operational Property Services), 
Strategic Finance and the Carbon Action Team (situated within the Environment & 
Transport Department). 

As explained previously, Strategic Finance presently deals with the procurement of 
energy.  The Carbon Action Team primarily focuses on developing behaviour and 
culture-change plans to support the delivery of the Council’s Environment Strategy 
and, most notably, the Carbon Management Plan. All remaining property related 
energy services fall into the combined remits of Strategic and Operational Property 
Services.

The organisational structure chart contained in Figure 2.7 overleaf portrays these 
current arrangements.  The diagram identifies those areas of functional activity that 
have an energy related responsibility: it can be seen that these are widely spread 
across all the key service areas.  The diagram also indicates those posts that 
currently have a partial or a full-time responsibility for energy.  This reveals a number 
of key weaknesses in the current arrangements: 

There is currently no over-arching energy lead role or responsibility in 
either Strategic or Operational Property Services.  Within Strategic 
Property Services, there is no strategic responsibility for developing and 
overseeing the delivery of an Energy Strategy.  Neither is there any 
responsibility or system in place for planning and managing energy related 
revenue or capital budgets and programmes for property.  Within Operational 
Property Services, energy is dealt with in a fragmented and service-based 
way.  For example, energy related inspections are undertaken by the 
separate service teams (mechanical & engineering; maintenance; facilities 
management), the information is generally retained within these service 
stream areas and there is currently no holistic view or record for a building’s 
maintenance and utility systems including change/work and service logs. 

There are no full time permanent posts responsible for any aspect of 
energy management, planning or procurement 

The links between the various areas currently dealing with energy 
issues are very weak, notably the clarity of roles in supporting and advising 
end users of buildings lacking. 

252



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 21 of 48 

Figure 2.7 also identifies areas where energy services are currently procured from 
external suppliers.  Briefly, these comprise: 

 TEAM Energy Services – an energy bill validation and bureau service 
contracted until November 2014. Annual payment £120,000 pa (2012/13).  
Core service is the receipt and checking of LCC energy billing data and 
incorporation of energy use data onto an online database, SIGNET.  TEAM 
also prepares LCC’s calculations and statutory returns for the CRC as well as 
the preparation of some Display Energy Certificates. 

 RE-FIT Energy Performance Contract -  Bouygues Energy Services, an 
energy performance contractor procured through the Greater London 
Authority’s RE-FIT framework contract, currently identifying opportunities for 
improving energy performance and CRC emissions in targeted LCC 
properties.  Proposals (subject to final approval) to be on an invest to save 
basis with guaranteed energy savings. 

 BETTER-OFF – a climate action team led project, with consultant support, 
identifying low-cost and behavioural change opportunities across 6 trial sites 
to deliver energy savings. 

253



This page has been left intentionally blank

2
5
4



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 23 of 48 

Figure 2.7 – As-IS Energy Management Resources and Activity 

2
5
5



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 24 of 48 

The remaining description of existing energy practices is presented under the same 
headings used to describe energy policy in section 2.2. 

2.4.2 Acquisition and ownership of buildings

Property acquisitions are subject to an initial business case appraisal by the Asset 
Management team in Strategic Property Services and, subject to approval, are then 
commissioned for implementation from the Estates team.  The business case 
includes considerations about the suitability and whole life costs of a potential 
property acquisition.  In this way, the future energy costs are estimated and 
considered in decision making although there are no policies or criteria 
recommending specific energy quality criteria for new acquisitions. 

2.4.3 Design and construction of buildings and building systems  

Capital investment for the construction of new buildings or the 
redevelopment/improvement of existing buildings is subject to an initial business 
case appraisal by the Asset Management team in Strategic Property Services.   

Delivery of approved projects is overseen and performance managed by the 
Commissioning Construction team within Strategic Property Services.  Actual project 
implementation is undertaken by either the Strategic Commissioning Construction 
team or Operational Property Services depending on project value.   

LCC applies a number of construction standards in design and build projects, both 
regulatory standards (such as the application of Building Regulations) but also local 
workmanship clauses in specific areas (mechanical and electrical installations are 
notable examples).

Engineering design and the selection of building heating, cooling, ventilation and 
lighting systems may be completed by engineering staff within SPS, OPS or 
outsourced suppliers.  Systems are generally selected in terms of suitability of 
outcomes (e.g. delivery of well managed comfortable temperatures, lighting to meet 
design criteria) and their affordability rather than whole life cost specifics and energy 
efficiency.

In conclusion, no local energy-specific criteria or standards are used in either 
options appraisal or the commissioned design and build process.  As a general 
rule, satisfying the client’s primary project needs (e.g. delivery of specific room 
sizes/functions for use) and ensuring best value solutions are the primary criteria for 
design and specification of projects. 

2.4.4 Use, operation, maintenance and management of building 
and building services 

The use, occupation, maintenance and management of buildings and building 
services falls within the remit of centralised Property Services.  In essence, strategic 
responsibilities and decisions rest with Strategic Property Services.  These include 
planning the estate and its use and occupation; approving and commissioning the 
delivery of projects; setting and performance managing capital and revenue budgets 
and programmes; providing a quality assurance function in relation to the 
performance and quality of property and property services. 

The operational responsibilities and activities fall to Operational Property Services. 

256



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 25 of 48 

The property helpdesk is the customer facing service for receiving and dealing with 
daily queries such as reactive repairs, water leaks, heating/ventilation problems; 
energy performance.  However, energy related queries do not have a defined 
action workflow or nominated responder in property services.

Day to day on-site support is provided to building users in the form of Facilities 
Management services (building cleaning, security/locking/unlocking, waste collection 
etc), which is largely procured from external suppliers.  Only a very limited number of 
larger sites benefit from on-site LCC Premises Officer support, although peripatetic 
maintenance and caretaking staff may be available to respond to immediate issues.  
Premises officers (and other on-site support staff) are not specifically trained 
or briefed on energy management activity.

Routine, periodic activity, such as legionella, asbestos and fire detection equipment 
inspections and the inspection and servicing of individual heating, cooling and other 
electrical systems is delivered by Operational Property Services.   

Planned and reactive building maintenance is delivered by Operational Property 
Service and funded from a centralised maintenance fund.  Prioritisation of this 
funding is based on condition surveys, presently completed on three-yearly 
inspections of building fabric condition, mechanical systems condition and electrical 
systems condition.  Investment decisions are driven by building condition and 
expected life of building fabric and systems, with priority given to equipment and 
buildings with deteriorating condition.  Energy efficiency does not feature in this 
decision making process.

Building services tend to be delivered in service “streams”: one manager deals with 
escalated complaints about cleaning and security services, one for ground 
maintenance queries, one for building maintenance and so on. It is unusual for staff 
to have a “whole system” view of the operation of each building, particularly as 
information records tend to be retained within the service teams.   

2.4.5 Energy sourcing and procurement 

Current practices have been previously described in sub-section 2.3 Energy 
Procurement. 

2.4.6 Performance measurement, monitoring and reporting of 
energy consumption and costs 

Energy Use Measurement 

The Asset Management Information Team service within Strategic Property Services 
is responsible for the collation and provision of energy consumption data in buildings 
occupied by LCC.  Data is collated from automatic meters and electronic data files 
from utility suppliers.

This information is currently supplied to an outsourced energy bureau service, TEAM 
Energy, who input this data into an online database (SIGNET).  TEAM Energy 
provides reporting and calculation services for the production of CRC and GHG 
reporting requirements.  Users of the data report it is of a high quality, accurate and 
in a useful format.  The TEAM “SIGNET” system offers a wide range of reporting 
format and presentations of energy use data, accessible from any web enabled 

257



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 26 of 48 

computer with the correct web browser and access rights.  The current contract with 
TEAM Energy is due to expire in November 2014. 

Energy Use Monitoring and Targeting 

There is no routine or established practice for monitoring and targeting energy 
use in LCC buildings, despite the availability of accessible and high quality 
data.  Some limited interrogation is performed on occasion by Property Services staff 
when anomalies are brought to light but there are no dedicated resources attached to 
this activity.   

Challenge and enquiry on energy use is more frequently initiated by the Carbon 
Action Team, CAT, as part of their wider environmental performance management 
role, with a particular focus on reducing carbon emissions.  This activity is not core 
business for CAT staff.  The CAT team has forged some highly effective 
communication relationships with a network of environmental champions drawn from 
end user representatives and building managers across the LCC estate. (The”Go 
Green” initiative).  These relationships have been developed through initiatives aimed 
at reducing waste, increasing recycling and provide staff behavioural leadership on a 
number of environmental issues, including energy consumption.  The CAT team is 
able to access SIGNET information but is not qualified to provide holistic energy 
performance solutions or responses due to the absence of dedicated resource 
support from Property Services. 

Energy issues reported through the property helpdesk are usually investigated and 
resolved by the Mechanical Engineer in Strategic Property Services but there are no 
routine services or practices attached to this function.  

Performance Management and Reporting 

There are neither plans in place nor systems in use for the routine performance 
management or reporting of property related energy consumption or costs.
There are various energy performance and reporting activities as indicated in the 
following table, but they are not linked or co-ordinated in any way.

258



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 27 of 48 

Figure 2.8 – Current Energy Performance Management and Reporting 

Performance 
area

Performance 
reporting
requirement/target

Owner Manager Other 
resources

Energy
Consumption

None set Not defined Mechanical 
Engineer
(SPS)

Team
Energy

CRC production Head of 
SPS

Mechanical
Engineer
(SPS)

Team
Energy
(calculation) 

Greenhouse gas 
(GREEN HOUSE GAS) 
emission reporting 

AD for 
Environment 

Team
Manager,
Climate
Action
Team

Team
Energy
(calculation) 

CO2
emissions

Environment Strategy 
(CO2 delivery plans)  

AD for 
Environment 

Team
Manager,
Climate
Action
Team

Team
Energy
(calculation) 

Budget management 
and MTFS savings 
delivery

Head of 
OPS

None
identified

Team
Energy
(calculation) 

Energy Cost 

CIPFA benchmark 
reporting and 
transparency
requirements – overall 
property estate costs

Head of 
SPS

Information
Team
Manager
(SPS)

Team
Energy
(calculation), 
Info team 

Quality of 
buildings

Production and display 
of Display energy 
Certificates (and 
Energy Performance 
Certificates when 
required) in accordance 
with EU and UK 
regulation.

Head of 
SPS

Information
Team
Manager/
Mechanical
Engineer
(SPS)

Outsourced
suppliers

2.4.7 Traded Services 

Trading activity by LCC Property Services is very prevalent, mainly by Operational 
Property Services in support of schools and academies but also across the local 
public sector with income effectively supporting the LCC operating model and cost 
effectiveness.  However, Energy Management and other energy services are not 
currently offered to external customers primarily because this is neither a strength 
nor a marketable competency that is currently available. 

One specific area where energy related support is provided to outside organisations 
is through the SCoRE (Schools Collaboration on Reducing Energy) service to 
schools.  This is a behaviour change programme delivered by the CAT team and is 
linked to curriculum development in Leicestershire schools to improve environmental 
performance and energy efficiency.  The service has well developed and self 
contained energy monitoring tools for schools use, but does rely on some limited 
input from Operational Property Services in relation to low cost building system 
interventions and heating control management in schools.  

259



Leicestershire County Council 

F:\Cores\CCSG\Property Reviews and Strategies\33 Energy Planning and Management Strategy\Master 
Report\Final Property Energy Master Report 2014.doc 

28 of 48

3. Opportunities 

This section considers the opportunities available to LCC to improve upon existing 
arrangements for procuring, planning and managing energy and for dealing with 
carbon emissions across the County Council’s asset base. Additionally, consideration 
is given to the opportunities available for addressing the specific project objectives 
set out in 1.3.2. 

The opportunities for improvement are structured under the same headings used in 
section 2 to describe existing arrangements: 

2.1 Energy Performance – focusing on the physical building fabric and installed 
systems 
2.2 Energy Policy – focusing on areas for establishing policy and setting 
standards
2.3 Energy Procurement and Sourcing – focusing on the buying approach and 
opportunities to mitigate energy and CO2 costs 
2.4 Energy Practices – focusing on roles and responsibilities; practices in the 
areas of acquisition of buildings; design and construction; management and 
maintenance; use and operation of buildings; performance measurement, 
management and monitoring 

In practice, an opportunity attached to one of the above areas (for example, Energy 
Practices) will amount to an opportunity for improvement in another area (Energy 
Performance).     

Opportunities have begun to emerge through the reported findings thus far in the 
report.  More specifically, opportunities have been identified through: 

(i) Research including evaluation of identified good practice together with 
reviews of statutory and non-statutory guidance and developing industry 
trends;

(ii) Stakeholder consultation, including one to one and workshop meetings 
with peer organisations, potential suppliers of various energy services, 
existing partners (including ESPO and TEAM energy), end users and 
potential external customers of LCC services; 

(iii) A SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats) Analysis 
undertaken in consultation with key personnel and stakeholders.  

260



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 29 of 48 

3.1 Energy Performance 

This section considers the building fabric and installed systems of the LCC estate.  
As the data and findings in Section 2 have illustrated, the LCC estate is not of high 
quality with respect to energy efficiency.  There are a range of opportunities to 
improve the performance of the building fabric and systems.  These are summarised 
in Figure 3.1 below but they fall under the broad objectives to: 

 Remove the worst performers 

 Make better acquisitions 

 Install better systems 

 Make energy efficiency a priority in 
o revenue maintenance and management 
o capital investment in buildings 

Figure3.1 The key opportunity areas to improve the fabric of LCC’s estate 

All the opportunities highlighted above require improvements in the areas of ‘Energy 
Policy’ and ‘Energy Practices’.  The detailed opportunities are provided below under 
these subsequent headings.   

261



Leicestershire County Council 

F:\Cores\CCSG\Property Reviews and Strategies\33 Energy Planning and Management Strategy\Master 
Report\Final Property Energy Master Report 2014.doc 

30 of 48

3.2 Energy Policy 

Section 2 reveals that LCC is virtually completely devoid of any recognised 
or established property related energy policies.  The principal opportunity, 
therefore, is to fill this void and to produce a corporately accepted and 
implemented set of policies for procuring, planning and managing energy and for 
dealing with carbon emissions across the County Council’s asset base.  
Additional specific policy-setting opportunities include: 

 Compliance with statutory requirements relating to CRC and energy 
performance and management of buildings 

 Aim to minimise energy inefficiency and CO2 emissions of buildings and to 
reduce CRC and energy costs 

 Include energy performance information in all relevant decisions concerning 
LCC’s ownership, use, management and occupation of property 

 Set minimum energy performance standards to guide decisions about: 
o Acquiring property 
o Occupying buildings 
o Construction, refurbishment and development of buildings 
o Maintenance of buildings 

 Produce building operating times and out of hours policy for all LCC buildings 

 Produce a temperature management policy for all LCC buildings 

3.3 Energy Procurement and Sourcing 

As seen in Section 2, the energy (gas and electricity) purchasing service that LCC 
presently procures from ESPO appears to be cost effective.  Both the gas and 
electricity contracts are due for review in 2016 and nothing in the current 
performance indicate that earlier action would be necessary.  Opportunities do exist 
for LCC to adopt a stronger contract management approach regarding the current 
contract which would include taking a more active role in the governance processes.  

In terms of energy sourcing, Section 2 exposes LCC’s over-reliance on grid-supplied 
gas and electricity.  There are opportunities both now and during 2015 before the 
ESPO energy supply contracts expire in 2016 to explore the potential benefits of 
increasing ‘green’ energy sourcing and procurement. 

 Continue with existing ESPO energy purchasing arrangements, review and 
re-appraise against possible alternatives in 2016. 

 Allocate contract management responsibilities for the existing ESPO contract 
to the lead energy role in Strategic Property Services (see details in section 
3.4 below)

 Identify lead officer responsibility (either Finance or Strategic Property 
Services) in the governance arrangements for the existing ESPO contract 

 Investigate the scope and feasibility of opportunities for increasing 
procurement of energy from renewable sources, including opportunities for 
renewable energy generation from LCC’s estate (e.g. the development of 
solar farms; production of wood chip fuel) 

262



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 31 of 48 

3.4 Energy Practices 

As identified in Section 2 there is no over-arching energy lead role or 
responsibility in either Strategic or Operational Property Services.  As a 
consequence, there is no effective approach at present towards planning, 
designing, managing or monitoring the energy and CRC emissions 
performance of the County Council’s properties.  Energy practices are in 
existence, as outlined in Section 2, but they are un-coordinated and largely reactive. 
Establishing the proper organisational structure, complete with specified roles and 
responsibilities, is the essential starting point for improving upon the current situation 
and delivering an effective energy management service in the future. 

The remaining opportunities considered in this Section to improve current energy 
practices are assuming that the proper organisational structure within which these 
practices are to be delivered has been established. 

3.4.1 Roles and Responsibilities 

 Create dedicated lead roles in both Strategic and Operational Property 
Services for delivering the energy services that are necessary to ensure 
maximum energy and CRC efficiency across LCC’s estate.  The proposed 
organisational structure diagram for future energy services: roles and 
functions are shown in Figure 3.2 at the end of this section. 

 Within the new structure, allocate management responsibilities for delivering 
the invest to save proposals arising from the ongoing RE:FIT EnPC and 
Better-Off projects, subject to business case testing of these proposals. 

 Develop clear workflows and responsibilities for dealing with: 
o energy related issues raised from the end-user of a building (e.g. reports 

of heating problems) 
o energy issues arising from work/projects commissioned by Strategic 

Property Services 
o production and maintenance of building systems records for all buildings 
o preparation, management and monitoring of energy budgets 
o management and monitoring of energy performance and CRC emissions 

3.4.2 Acquisition and ownership of buildings 

 Include energy performance and CO2 emissions information in property 
acquisition and ownership decisions 

 Set a minimum energy performance standard for new acquisitions e.g. 
minimum ‘C’ EPC rating (provide an energy performance improvement plan 
for exceptional cases where minimum standard cannot be met e.g. historic or 
listed building) 

3.4.3 Design and construction of buildings and building systems 

 Apply set energy performance standards/agreed industry standards in design 
and construction of buildings and building systems 

 Set a minimum energy performance standard for new build and refurbishment  
e.g. minimum ‘B’ and ‘C’ EPC rating respectively (provide an energy 
performance improvement plan for exceptional cases where minimum 
standard cannot be met e.g. historic or listed building) 

263



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 32 of 48 

3.4.4 Use, operation, maintenance and management of buildings 
and building services 

 Use recorded energy performance PI’s to inform asset management planning 
decisions and business case analysis      

 Include energy performance information of buildings and building systems in 
condition surveys and maintain this information on a centralised database.  
Apply this information in: 
o the development of planned maintenance programmes and budgets 
o the development of capital programmes and budgets including invest to 

save opportunities 
o whole-life costing and business case appraisals 
o performance reporting on behaviour change activity 

 Produce and utilise holistic building management manuals encompassing 
regularly updated information about energy systems; schematic diagrams; 
operating requirements; service records; change logs; maintenance and 
management plans 

 Review Heating, Ventilation and Cooling (HVAC) servicing contracts to 
ensure they adequately cover energy efficiency requirements 

 Apply building operating times and out of hours policy for all occupied 
buildings

 Set and apply HVAC operating standards for all buildings e.g. thermostat 
settings; hours of use; weekend and evening settings; holiday settings 

 Clarify the role and responsibilities of the “building manager” in every site with 
respect to the application of energy policies and energy management activity 

 Property Services to work with LCC’s ‘Go Green’ initiative to promote energy 
saving changes through end-user behaviour e.g. turning off lights and 
electrical devices when not required; keeping windows and doors closed to 
prevent heat loss; closing blinds to avoid heat gain. 

 Continue to review and explore the potential benefits of energy performance 
partnership arrangements e.g.: 
o APSE (the Association for Public Service Excellence) – developing a 

future initiative for collaborative energy management working between 
Local Authorities 

o University led energy initiatives (Loughborough and DeMontfort) 
o East Midlands Property Alliance (EMPA), with a focus on shared public 

sector procurement opportunities 

 Subject to business case, continue utilisation of Energy Performance 
Contracts to deliver guaranteed energy savings for the highest energy 
consuming assets in the LCC portfolio 

3.4.5 Performance measurement, monitoring and reporting of CRC, 
energy consumption and costs 

As seen in Section 2, various energy performance and reporting activities are in 
existence but they are spread across a range of service areas in response to 
separate and un-related initiatives e.g. CO2 emissions are collated and reported for 
the purposes of submitting the annual CRC report to government; expenditure on 
energy is assessed and monitored simply in response to MTFS budget reviews.  
Despite holding energy consumption data within the centrally managed database in 
Strategic Property Services, this information is not used in any recognisable 
performance management way to monitor and identify opportunities to improve upon 
the CRC or energy performance of buildings.  Opportunities under this heading, 
therefore, start with and depend upon creating the structure and 

264



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 33 of 48 

responsibilities for developing an energy performance management function in 
Property Services.

 Establish the allocation of responsibilities and working relationships between 
the lead energy roles created in Strategic Property Services and Operational 
Property Services for the performance measurement, management, 
monitoring and reporting of CRC and energy consumption and costs 

 To ensure that all energy and CRC information and data continues to be 
collated and retained on a centrally managed and maintained database 

 Produce and record CRC and energy performance PI’s for all LCC occupied 
assets on a centralised database 

 Include energy performance data and energy performance improvement 
plans within the individual action plans that are to be produced for all LCC 
assets under the revised Asset Challenge process that is to be developed 
during 2014/15 

 Retain building management manuals (as described in 3.4.5 above) in a 
centralised electronic format 

 Make a decision regarding the extension or termination of the TEAM Energy 
Services contract as soon as possible, due to expire in November 2014. If to 
be extended to decide and define the scope and costs of the services to be 
procured is to be terminated to decide and determine the alternative 
arrangements for providing the previously procured energy auditing and 
reporting services. 

3.4.6 Traded Services 

As seen in Section 2, energy management and other energy services do not 
form part of the traded services that are currently offered by Property Services 
to external customers since this is neither a strength nor a marketable 
competency at present.  The only form of energy service that is presently offered 
externally by LCC is the behaviour change programme delivered by the Climate 
Action Team (in Environment and Transport) to Leicestershire schools. 

 Following the establishment and development of the in-house energy services 
suggested in this section, to explore the opportunities for developing an 
income generation traded service as an Energy Services Contractor for 
schools and other public sector partners e.g. CRC and energy measurement, 
monitoring and reporting; energy performance consultancy advice; energy 
management service 

3.4.7 Partnerships 

There is an emerging opportunity for greater partnership working which can support 
the future energy management practices by Property Services.  In particular, the 
potential values of these are three key opportunities that are being explored at 
present:

 APSE (the Association for Public Service Excellence) has just launched its 
prospectus for collaborative working on energy management between local 
authorities, which sets out a vision to form an effective collaboration of a large 
number of local authorities to enable and facilitate the municipalisation of 
energy services.   

265



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 34 of 48 

 DeMontfort University continues to offer academic leadership in energy, 
notably in renewable energy, and electrically heated buildings, LCC may be 
able to gain expertise and contribute to academic knowledge of the 
application of solutions within its portfolio 

 Finally, as a member of EMPA (the East Midlands Property Alliance) LCC 
continues to develop relationships with the five upper tier local authorities in 
the East Midlands, sharing good practice and in some areas, procurement 
approaches.  This relationship will continue to be explored for energy 
management. 

266



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 35 of 48 

Figure 3.2 Proposed Energy Management Resources and Activity

2
6
7



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 36 of 48 

4. Recommendations 

The previous Section 3 identified the opportunities for improvement under the 
headings of energy performance; policy; procurement and sourcing; practices. 

It is recommended that all the improvements identified in Section 3 are pursued.  
This section explains how this can be achieved through delivering the four key 
building blocks that are recommended below.   

4.1 Building Block 1: Structure 

The starting point is to establish the organisational structure, roles and 
responsibilities for delivering an energy management function.  This involves: 

i) Allocating energy management and planning activities and responsibilities 
across Strategic and Operational Property Services as presented in 
Section 3 Figure 3.2: Proposed Energy Management Resources and 
Activity, and between the Carbon Action Team and the end users of 
buildings across the organisation 

ii) Creating 2 full-time energy lead roles as presented in Figure 3.2 for: 

 Energy Policy Commissioning Officer (Strategic Property Services) 

 Energy Performance Officer (Operational Property Services) 
iii) Reviewing and updating Job Descriptions to reflect energy management 

responsibilities within existing roles 

4.2 Building Block 2: Culture 

The structure needs to be supported by the right culture.  It is necessary to create 
and maintain an energy conscious and energy responsible culture towards the 
Council’s ownership and use of property The County Council is currently some 
distance from having this type of culture and a good deal of work is required to 
cultivate the behavioural change and belief that property energy efficiency is 
everybody’s responsibility from the end user/occupier who can change a radiator 
thermostat to the senior executive and political leaders who set the tone of the 
organisation’s attitude towards environmental and energy responsibility.  This 
requires:

i) Developing and establishing the Council’s Property Energy Policy.  The 
lead responsibility for producing the policy will lie with Strategic Property 
Services (Energy Policy and Commissioning Officer).  The policy will 
require formal approval and acceptance through the asset management 
corporate governance process, including CMT and members followed by 
a robust and comprehensive communication plan to ensure the policies 
are embedded in the wider operation of the organisation. 

ii) Including energy and CRC information at all levels of property related 
decision-making.  This will affect day to day property management 
activities and responsibilities (as delivered across Operational Property 
Services) Specific considerations for associated improvements to existing 
practices and procedures are contained within Section 3.4 Energy 
Practices.

iii) Routinely reporting upon property energy and CRC performance and 
expenditure in key corporate documents (e.g. Corporate Asset 
Management Plan) and to relevant senior executive and member groups 

268



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 37 of 48 

(e.g. Corporate Property Steering Group; Environment Strategy Board; 
CMT; member groups). 

iv) Including Energy Performance Plans and targets in Service Plans for 
Strategic and Operational Property Services as well as for Corporate 
Resources. 

v) Including energy performance in Environmental ‘dashboard’ reporting 

4.3 Building Block 3: Resources 

Ensuring that there are sufficient and appropriate resources available to deliver the 
required energy management function is crucial to the success (or otherwise) of the 
future Property Energy Strategy.  The resources required concern: 

i) People with the requisite skills and expertise.  Adopting the organisational 
structure recommended under Building Block 1 support this requirement.
This will also include continuing to make best use of externally procured 
specialists to support in-house resources and capacity.  Examples include 
Energy Performance Contractors; Energy Bureau Services; Energy 
Procurement Services; other potential future partnerships such as recently 
developed by the Association for Public Service Excellence. Additionally, 
the Go-Green champions can play a helpful role in promoting the positive 
support of the end users of buildings. 

ii) Information and knowledge. Specific recommendations are contained in 
Section 3.4 Energy Practices but the fundamental requirement is to 
develop and maintain centralised energy information databases, building 
upon the prevailing centralised systems in Strategic Property Services’ 
Asset Management Information Team. 

iii) Funding. Revenue funding is required for the 2 energy lead posts in 
Strategic and Operational Property Services.  Opportunities for generating 
new funding should be continuously explored and realised.  Examples 
include providing capital to support Invest to Save projects, including the 
procurement of Energy Performance Contracts; targeting management 
and behavioural initiatives to reduce electrical consumption across sites 
with half hourly meters in order to reduce or possibly eliminate CRC 
payments as well as emissions. 

4.4 Building Block 4: Doing The Right Things 

It follows that the final recommendation rests upon ensuring that the correct practices 
and procedures are in place to deliver the Council’s future Property Energy Strategy.  
Some of the practices and procedures are incorporated within the previous 3 Building 
Blocks.  The full and comprehensive list is contained in Section 3 Opportunities for 
Improvement. 

In summary, the above 4 Building Blocks represent the core recommendations for 
creating the right organisational structure, cultivating an energy conscious and 
responsible management culture, providing sufficient and appropriate resources and 
making sure that the right actions are being taken. Delivering these Building Blocks 
will move the County Council from its current position of ineffectiveness and 
vulnerability with regards to the energy management of its property resources to one 
of considerable strength and control.  The final sections of this report set out the 
implementation plans to make this happen. 

269



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 38 of 48 

5. Risk Register 

Figure 5.1, on the following page, identifies the key risks and proposed mitigation 
approach associated with the recommendations and proposals for delivery set out in 
this report. 

The risk register utilises the County Council’s corporate risk management approach.  
The scoring criteria and rating scale are set out in Figure 5.2, following the risk 
register.

270



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 39 of 48 

Figure 5.1 – LCC Property Energy Strategy Risk Register 

2
7
1



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 40 of 48 

Figure 5.2 – LCC Corporate Risk Management Scoring Criteria and Rating Scale 

Risk Impact Measurement Criteria

Scale Description 
Departmental Service 

Plan Internal Operations People Reputation 

Financial          
per annum / per 

loss 

1 Negligible 
No impact to objectives in 
service plan 

Limited disruption to operations 
and service quality satisfactory N/A

Public concern restricted to 
local complaints <£50k 

2 Low 

Minor impact to service as 
objectives in service plan 
are not met 

Short term disruption to 
operations resulting in a minor 
adverse impact on partnerships 
and minimal reduction in service 
quality Residents inconvenienced  

Minor adverse local / public / 
media attention and 
complaints £50k-£250k  

3 Medium 

Considerable fall in service 
as objectives in service 
plan are not met 

Sustained low level disruption to 
operations / Relevant partnership 
relationships strained / Service 
quality not satisfactory 

Potential  for minor 
physical injuries / Stressful 
experience 

Adverse local media public 
attention £250k - £500k  

4 High

Major impact to services as 
objectives in service plan 
are not met 

Serious disruption to operations 
with relationships in major 
partnerships affected / Service 
quality not acceptable with 
adverse impact on front line 
services

Exposure to dangerous 
conditions creating 
potential for serious 
physical or mental harm 

Serious negative regional 
criticism, with some national 
coverage £500-£750k 

5 Very High 

Significant fall/failure in 
service as objectives in 
service plan are not met 

Long term serious interruption to 
operations / Major partnerships 
under threat / Service quality not 
acceptable with impact on front 
line services 

Exposure to dangerous 
conditions leading to 
potential loss of life or 
permanent physical/mental 
damage 

Prolonged regional and 
national condemnation, with 
serious damage to the 
reputation of the organisation >£750k 

2
7
2



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 41 of 48 

Risk Likelihood Measurement Criteria
    

Scale Likelihood of Occurrence Projects Probability % 

1 Expected less than 1 time in next 10 years 1 in every 50 projects 0-5% 

2 Expected 1 time in next 5 to 10 years 1 in every 25 projects 6-20% 

3 Expected 1 time in 3 to 4 years 1 in every 12 projects 21-40% 

4 Expected 1 time in 2 years 1 in every 6 projects 41-60% 

5 Expected annually 1 in every 3 projects 66% + 

2
7
3



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 42 of 48 

6.  Implementation Plan 

6.1 Timetable and Structure for Implementation 

An Implementation Plan has been developed which reflects the structure of the 
recommendations made in Section 4, and is proposed to be put in place across two 
key stages, as below.  The plans are illustrated by the Gantt charts, figure 2.1 and 
6.2 on the following pages: 

Stage 1 – Transformation (March to June 2014). 
In the first stage of implementation, the Building Blocks of a new energy 
management approach will be put in place, to establish: 

(i) A new organisational structure for energy management, with the 
staffing and performance management regimes required; 

(ii) An organisation-wide culture which will support the delivery of future 
energy management, with the development and incorporation of new 
energy policy, the delivery of a communication strategy to raise 
awareness of roles and responsibilities and the embedding of energy 
performance in existing reporting procedures and service plans;; 

(iii) The necessary resources for delivery, in terms of information resources 
(systems and recording practices), funding (for measures and staffing) 
and the people (both in-house and outsourced support as required). 

Stage 2 – Consolidation and Delivery (2014 to 2017). 
The delivery stage, aligned with the period of the current Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, proposes the implementation of a number of key strands of activity 
designed to reduce the energy consumption, and the corresponding financial and 
environmental costs for LCC: 

(i) Energy management practices; reviewing the existing TEAM energy 
bureau contract, initially for the 2014/15 financial year, and then 
undertaking a re-procurement exercise to deliver a replacement contract 
from 1 April 2015.

(i) Energy procurement and sourcing; Putting in place business case 
evaluation techniques that facilitate the implementation of renewable 
energy technologies as part of other investment projects; 
Utilising revenue recovery services to recover historic aberrant charges by 
utility suppliers in past years; 
Completing a review of energy procurement arrangements as the existing 
ESPO contracts come to their conclusion in 2016;Energy interventions 
alongside other capital projects, utilising new project scoping processes to 
ensure no opportunity to invest in energy efficiency is missed as other 
property works are completed; 

(ii) Energy Performance Contracting, utilising the RE:FIT energy 
performance framework, over a series of phases, capital investment to be 
made in the highest consuming sites to deliver guaranteed energy 
savings.  These projects will mainly target the 25 sites representing 75% 
of the energy consumption across the estate; 

274



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 43 of 48 

(iii) Energy Efficiency reviews of all other sites in scope; adopting the 
“Better Off” brand, alongside wider asset challenge procedures, building 
on the lessons learnt from the Better-off pilot project, identifying 
opportunities for capital investment in energy efficiency and the 
application of renewable energy solutions, but most importantly to 
optimise existing systems to reflect actual use of the sites by end users.  
This process will include the introduction of standardised building & 
system manuals, and the setting of site specific performance targets. 

(iv) Energy interventions alongside other capital projects, utilising new 
project scoping processes to ensure no opportunity to invest in energy 
efficiency is missed as other property works are completed; 

(v) Behavioural change programme, building on existing environmental 
benchmarking and leadership provided by Go-Green champions, to 
include the introduction of competition-based incentives to reduce energy 
use.

275



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 44 of 48 

Figure 6.1 – Implementation – Stage 1: Transformation 

2
7
6



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014 

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 45 of 48 

Figure 6.2 – Implementation – Stage 2: Delivery 

2
7
7



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 46 of 48 

6.2 Performance Targets 

The following performance targets will keep the delivery of the Implementation Plan 
focussed on the essential required outcomes. 

6.2.1 Core performance targets: 

Energy Consumption: 
A global reduction of 24% in weather adjusted energy consumption by the end 
of the 2017/18 financial year is proposed as the overriding objective of this 
strategy, compared with a baseline for the 2013/14 financial year (assuming the 
current proportions of electricity and gas use across the estate remain broadly 
consistent) which will ensure the required financial and CO2 cost reduction outcomes 
are met, specifically: 

• the financial savings targets required by the MTFS by April 2017, as set out in 
Figure 6.3 below; 

• the CO2 reductions of 34% (compared to the 2008 baseline) required by the 
Environment Strategy by 2020.   

Energy Sourcing
A progressive target of an annual 1% (year on year) increase in the sourcing of 
energy from renewable sources across the LCC estate is to be targeted, as an 
integral part of the initiatives set out in Section 6.1.  

Financial Savings
Using conservative estimates of the benefits to be achieved and calculating savings 
compared to the actual spend on energy consumption in 2012/13; figure 6.3 
illustrates how the measures set out in this strategy are expected to deliver the 
revenue savings required in the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

Monitoring performance of the delivery of the intended savings below will require 
adjustments in the targets to take account of: 
(i) Rising energy fuel prices; 
(ii) Variable consumption as a consequence of climate/weather changes. 

The table below assume energy prices at October 2013 levels, and forecasts savings 
against present day costs (i.e. excludes the influence of inflation). 

Figure 6.3 – Revenue Budget Savings Forecast 

Key assumptions and basis of financial projections in Figure 6.3: 

MTFS requirement 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

MTFS Targets - Jan 2014  -200 -395 

    

Project 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

1 Energy purchasing (revenue recovery project) -20    

2 Energy Bureau - savings through re-procurement -10 -20 -20 

3 Better Off - Energy Efficiency Review  -25 -75 -150 

4
Energy Performance Contracting (Phase 1 
RE:FIT) -115 -180 -180 

5
Energy Performance Contracting (Phase 2/3 
RE:FIT)    -120 

278



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 47 of 48 

6 CRC reduction (24% of £125k)    -30 

 Total (gross) -170 -275 -500 

     

7 New revenue costs 75 75 75 

NET savings -95 -200 -425 

Key assumptions and basis of financial projections in Figure 6.3: 

1. A one off £20k saving from retrospective revenue recovery activity is forecast.  
This will be a one-off piece of worked linked to energy bureau service activity 
targeting historic charges by utility suppliers. 

2. The savings anticipated from the outsourced energy bureau service savings 
are anticipated from two sources; first, in 2014/15, through a reduction in 
service requirements as a result of academy transfer and changes to CRC 
compliance; second in 2014/15, through a re-procurement process. 

3. The savings projections planned from the Energy Efficiency Review process 
are based on the opportunities identified through the Better Off project pilot.  
A very conservative projection of this opportunity has been made at this 
stage, with a saving of around 5% across the sites in scope anticipated. 

4 Energy Performance Contracting opportunities are divided into two phases; 
with the first phase set out and supported by the Investment Grade Proposal 
provided by the supplier.  The second phase (line 5) is a conservative 
projection on the return on investment to be achieved; at around 15% energy 
savings.

6 CRC reduction savings are based on achieving the overall energy reduction 
target of 24%, and this saving being reflected in a comparable reduction in 
the CRC payments made only across the corporate property portfolio (not in 
other CRC liable areas such as street lighting). 

7 New revenue costs include the funding to cover the costs of one new post 
(the other being affordable within existing funding) and an allowance for new 
revenue costs associated with new business processes, including supporting 
the development of building manuals and site system records. 

6.2.2 Extended performance targets: 

A targeted reduction in electricity use in LCC’s largest sites (those on half-hourly 
metered electricity supplies) can deliver a sufficient reduction in consumption to 
exclude LCC from qualification for the third round of the CRC scheme, and thereby 
avoidance of the costs of the CRC levy.

A reduction of 23% in the total half-hourly consumption (to secure an overall half-
hourly electrical consumption of less than 6million kWh) will remove the LCC 
qualification for the CRC, under the present regulations. 

279



Leicestershire County Council Property Energy Strategy 2014

Property Energy Master Report 2013.doc Version: 2.0 
Page 48 of 48 

Appendix 1 

280



 

 
 

CABINET – 15 July 2014 
 

COALVILLE, CROPSTON DRIVE AND ABBOTT’S OAK DRIVE 
PROPOSED WALKING AND CYCLING IMPROVEMENT SCHEME 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
PART A 

Purpose of report 
 
1. To seek approval for the implementation of the Coalville, Cropston Drive and Abbott’s 

Oak Drive proposed walking and cycling improvement scheme. 
 
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the Coalville, Cropston Drive and Abbott’s Oak Drive walking 

and cycling scheme as set out in Part B of this report is approved for implementation. 
 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
3. The scheme forms part of the wider walking and cycling network being delivered in 

Coalville, and is a named scheme in the Local Transport Plan 3 (LTP3) 
Implementation Plan 2014 – 2017. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, construction work will commence late July / early 

August 2014. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. The scheme contributes to the delivery of LTP3 and the priority of encouraging active 

and sustainable travel.  As stated above, it forms part of the 2014/15 Integrated 
Transport Schemes Capital Programme which can be found in the LTP3 
Implementation Plan 2014 - 17; approved by County Council on the 1st April 2014.  

 
6. Approval of minor transport schemes such as this is delegated by the Cabinet to the 

Director of Environment and Transport in consultation with the Lead Member and 
with the support of the relevant Local Member/s.  As the local member for Warren 
Hills, Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC, does not support the proposals, approval falls outside the 
Director’s delegated powers and the scheme is therefore being referred to the 
Cabinet for a decision.

Agenda Item 13281



 

Resource Implications  
 
7. Funding for the scheme, currently estimated to cost £155,000, is allocated within the 

2014/15 Capital programme. The forecasted costs of the works are set out below:. 
 
Waterworks Road / Cropston Drive Phase 1: Cycle link – Waterworks Road to Greenhill 
shops - £25k 

Waterworks Road / Cropston Drive Phase 2: Cycle link – Greenhill shops to Greenhill 
Road - £85k 

Abbott’s Oak Drive Phase 3: Cycle link – Greenhill Road junction to shops (Meadow 
Lane) - £45k 

 
8. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mark Stevens - Assistant Director (Highways) 
Environment and Transport Department 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7966  
Email:  mark.stevens@leics.gov.uk 
  
 
 

282



 

PART B 
 
Background 
 
9. The proposals are in the 2014/15 Integrated Transport Schemes Capital 

Programme and form part of the wider walking and cycling network being built in 
Coalville, as set out in Appendix A.  Analysis of the evidence from the County 
Council’s third Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 (LTP3) has identified Coalville as a 
key area of focus.  The proposals are aimed at encouraging walking and cycling to 
help cut carbon emissions, improve access and reduce congestion; thereby helping 
the local economy. 
 

10. The proposals are shown on Drawings nos. 4209.000.Z1.1.1 (Appendix B1), 
4210.000.Z1.1.1 (Appendix B2), 4210.000.Z1.1.2 (Appendix B3), 4210.000.Z1.1.3 
(Appendix B4), 4210.000.Z1.1.4 (Appendix B5) and 4211.000.Z1.1.1 (Appendix B6) 
which show the widening of the existing footpath to approximately 2.5-3.0 metres in 
width to create a shared use facility for pedestrians and cyclists, improvements to 
the existing crossing points and the creation of a new cycle parking area adjacent to 
the shops on Cropston Drive. The proposed improvements would link the existing 
Coalville Cycling Routes 5 at Waterworks Road with Route 2 at Meadow Lane as 
shown in drawing number 4209.000.Z1.1.2.( Appendix C) . The path is an important 
sustainable travel route for the residents of the Greenhill area to the Schools on 
Meadow Lane, employment areas at Bardon and Coalville Town Centre. 

 
Consultations 
 
11. Statutory consultees and interest groups including North West Leicestershire District 

Council (NWLDC), Leicestershire Police, and the Cycle Touring Club have been 
consulted on the proposals. No objections were received. Consultations undertaken 
are set out in Appendix D. 
 

12. Of 60 frontages consulted, there were two objections to the proposals. As the local 
Member for Warren Hills,  Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC has confirmed that he feels unable to 
support the proposals on the basis of these objections. Whilst the Lead Member for 
Highways and Transportation is supportive of the scheme, approval falls outside of 
the Director’s delegated powers and the scheme is therefore being referred to 
Cabinet for a decision.  

 
13. A summary table of the consultations is provided in Appendix D and the comments 

received with an officer response in Appendix E. 
 
Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
14. Improved access to the public highway is of benefit to all users. The scheme 

includes a wider footway, with an improved surface, and dropped crossings which 
will assist pedestrians with mobility issues. No specific equality implications were 
raised as part of the schemes consultations, reference is therefore made to the 
Equalities Impact Assessment prepared for delivery of LTP 2 Schemes below 
£500,000 (March 2009) in Appendix F. 

 
 
 

283



 

 
Environmental Impact  
 
15. This scheme is part of a wider network for Coalville aimed at encouraging 

sustainable travel and improving connectivity and accessibility.  This will help to 
boost the local economy, reduce congestion and cut carbon emissions. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Third Local Transport Plan (LTP3) (2011-2026) 
http://www.leics.gov.uk/ltp3v1-3.pdf 
 
LTP3 Implementation Plan 2014 – 2017 
http://website/low_m0830_ltp3impplan_aw04-2.pdf 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014/15 – 2017/18 
http://www.leics.gov.uk/2013-14_to_2016-17_medium_term_financial_strategy.pdf 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Plan of the existing/ proposed Coalville Cycle Network 

Appendix B – Key to Maps 

Appendix B1 – B6 – Plans of proposed improvements  

Appendix C – Plan showing links to existing Coalville Cycle Routes 

Appendix D – Summary table of consultations  

Appendix E - Summary of comments received with officer responses 

Appendix F - Equalities Impact Assessment prepared for delivery of LTP 2 Schemes 
below £500,000 (March 2009) 

 

284



(1) A511, Coalville, Stephenson Way/ Thornborough Road roundabout  
(2) Coalville, Comet Way Link - Stephenson Way to Comet Way  
(3) A511, Coalville, Stephenson Way - Morrison's roundabout to Long Lane 
footbridge  
(4) Number not used  
(5) Coalville, Broom Leys Road to Bardon Close, The Palaces Estate to The 
Cricketers' Estate (Greenhill)  
(6) Number not used  
(7) A511, Coalville, Stephenson Way - Bardon Road to Broom Leys Road  
(8) Coalville, Bardon Road - Bardon Close to Birchtree roundabout  
(9) Coalville Birchtree roundabout Toucan crossing  
(10) Coalville, Reg's Way - Birchtree roundabout to Bardon 22  
(11) A511, Coalville, Bardon Road - Birchtree roundabout to Bardon Parish 
Church  
(12) Number not used  
(13) Coalville, Thornborough Road - Lidl to Comet Way  
(14) Coalville, Bardon Road - Bardon Close to Stephenson Way    
(15) Coalville, Long Lane  
(16) Number not used  
(17) Coalville, Stephenson Way to Torrington Avenue  
(18) Coalville, Meadow Lane - Abbot's Oak Drive to Castle Rock High School  
(19) Number not used  
(20) Coalville, Stephenson Way to Green Lane  
(21) Coalville, London Road - Hotel Street to Forest Road junction  
(22) NCN52 from Phoenix Green/ Olivers Crossing / Jackson Street/ Margaret 
Street / Kane Street to Snibston Discovery Park  
(23) Coalville, All Saints C of E Primary School - Ashby Road to Telford Way  
(24) Coalville, Chiswell Drive to Snibston Grange  
(25) Number not used  
(26) A511, Coalville, Stephenson Way - Thornborough Road to Hoo Ash Island  
(27) Coalville to Whitwick, Thornborough Road  
(28) Coalville, Forest Road - Grange Road to Newbridge High School  
(29) Coalville, Ashby Road - Ravenstone Turn to Hoo Ash Island  
(30) Coalville, Swannington to Stephenson College  
(31) Coalville, Holly Hayes to Castle Rock - walking improvements only  
(32) Coalville, Stephenson Way to London Road  
(33) Coalville, Hugglescote Park Links  
(34) Coalville, Hoo Ash Roundabout  
(35) Coalville, Mantle Lane  
(36) Coalville, Cropston Drive and Abbotts Oak Drive  

 

285



286

This page is intentionally left blank



2
8
7



2
8
8

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



         Appendix B 
 
 

Consultation drawings 
 
B1 – 4209.000.Z1.1.1 – Cropston Dr, Waterworks Rd. to shops  
B2 – 4210.000.Z1.1.1 – Cropston Dr, shops to Charnborough Rd.  
B3 – 4210.000.Z1.1.2 – Cropston Dr, Charnborough Rd. to Peldar Pl. 
B4 – 4210.000.Z1.1.3 – Cropston Dr, Peldar Pl. to No. 57 Cropston Dr. 
B5 – 4210.000.Z1.1.4 – Cropston Dr, No. 57 Cropston Dr. to Greenhill Rd. 
B6 – 4211.000.Z1.1.1 – Abbotts Oak Dr, Greenhill Rd and Meadow Lane 
junctions. 

289



290

This page is intentionally left blank



291



292

This page is intentionally left blank



293



294

This page is intentionally left blank



295



296

This page is intentionally left blank



297



298

This page is intentionally left blank



299



300

This page is intentionally left blank



301



302

This page is intentionally left blank



303



304

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D – Summary table of consultations 
 

 

 

 
Consultee 
 
Formal consultations with a letter and 
drawings sent to the following: 

Response 

General 
agreement 

with 
proposals  

No comments 
or issues 

raised 

Support 
proposals 
subject to 

modifications 

Do not 
support 

proposals 

 Internal 
1. Highways Management Group 
2. Traffic and Safety Group 

a. Accident Investigation 
and Prevention 

b. Traffic Management 
Team 

3. Sustainable Travel Group 
a. Policy and Information 
b. Travel Choice and 

Access Team 
4. Environmental Management  

a. Green Infrastructure 
5. Network Management Group 
6. Transport Policy and Strategy 

a. Infrastructure Planning 
b. Transport 

Development Control 
c. Transport Policy 

7. Forestry and Arboriculture 
 

 
1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 
 
 

1 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

1 
 

1 
 
 

1 
 
 
 
 

1 
 

1 
1 
 

1 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

External 
1. Mr. M. B. Wyatt CC 
2. North West Leicestershire 

District Council 
3. Leicestershire Police 
4. Leicestershire Fire and Rescue 

Service 
5. East Midland Ambulance Service 
6. Handstand NWL 
7. SUSTRANS 
8. National Farmers Union 
9. The Leicestershire Chamber of 

Commerce and Industry 
10. Cyclists Touring Club 
11. Occupiers of affected 

properties (60) 

 
 
 
 

1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 

 
 

1 
 
 

1 
 

1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 

1 
55 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

2 
 
 

TOTAL 5 
 

71 
 

2 
 

3 

305



306

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E 

 
Summary of comments received with officer response 

 

1. Issue raised 

I do not understand the reason or logic for the proposals as, quite simply, the number 
of cyclists using this road is less than a handful per week, let alone per day. 

Officer response 

By encouraging more people to walk or cycle we can help the local economy and the 
environment. The more journeys that are made on foot or by bike, the more road 
space is freed up for those essential journeys that have to be made by car. A 
particular target group for this scheme is pupils attending the nearby Castle Rock 
High School and King Edward VII Community College, many of which use these 
roads. 

2. Issue raised 

It was suggested that pupils would not use Abbotts Oak Drive, but would head up 
Greenhill Road and cut through the East Midlands Housing estate via Oakham Drive 
or Stamford Drive, as it is shorter and quicker. 

Officer response 

The suggested route includes a narrow section of footpath between two properties 
that cannot be widened. It is therefore unsuitable for cycling and for promoting as a 
cycle route. 

3. Issue raised 

There is a footpath which runs alongside the brook between the houses on 
Blackwood and Abbotts Oak Drive, which is used by cyclists primarily for recreational 
purposes and allows one to ride off road and in safety right through to Whitwick and 
Thringstone. This is surely much safer than a suburban road in a housing estate. 

Officer response 

The suggested route is a Public Footpath and therefore cycling is not permitted. The 
route is also narrow in places with a steep embankment down to the stream; it would 
therefore not be suitable to convert for use by cyclists. 

4. Issue raised 

Concerns have been raised regarding the safety for cyclists passing properties due to 
poor visibility when exiting driveways in a vehicle or on foot.  

307



 

 

Officer response 

Many footways have been converted to shared use across Leicestershire and 
England, with the envisaged problems not being borne out. All road users have a 
responsibility to show due care and attention to each other. 

5. Issue raised 

Concern from a resident that the proposed cycle slip on/ slip off to be constructed in 
the verge adjacent to their drive would be used as an area for parking, it being stated 
that cars frequently use this area rather than parking on the busy Greenhill Road 

Officer response 

Parking surveys have been conducted at various times of the day and no on-street 
parking was observed in this location. If introduced, the scheme would be monitored 
and, should inappropriate parking be identified, this would be raised with the relevant 
organisation for enforcement. 

6. Issue raised 

The local beat Police officer raised concerns relating to the inappropriate use of off-
road motorcycles causing anti social behaviour issues in and around the Greenhill 
housing estate, and onto the pathway's that run alongside Bardon Quarry.  

Officer response 

This matter has been referred to the Public Rights of Way team to investigate and 
respond to as it does not directly relate to the proposals. 

7. Issue raised 

There is a narrow vehicular access to a serve the rear of some properties off 
Cropston Drive. It was asked if anything would be done as part of the scheme to raise 
awareness of the access for users of the path. One resident reporting to have 
witnessed a couple of “near misses” between vehicles and pedestrians. 

Officer response 

There are two accesses to the area rear of property No’s 55 to 89 Cropston Drive. 
Given the nature of the accesses it is now proposed to extend the footways through 
them and give priority to pedestrians and cyclists; the onus then being on motorists to 
give way. 

8. Issue raised 

308



Requests from the local member, North West Leicestershire District Council and the 
local beat Police officer for bollards to be provided on both sides of Cropston Drive 
between No’s 55 and 89 and No’s 70 and 96 to prevent parking on the wide verge, an 
existing problem. 

Officer response 

This matter has been referred to the Highways Management Group from a verge 
maintenance point of view and to the Traffic Management Team as a general parking 
issue. Neither supports the provision of bollards on the basis that this will, or could, 
set precedence for other locations, the parked vehicles may be displaced to other 
areas and the future maintenance liability would be significant.  

9. Issue raised 

An objection received based on the opinion that the money could be better spent on 
fixing potholes. 

Officer response 

The proposals are being funded by Central Government capital allocation which is set 
aside for transport improvements such as encouraging walking and cycling. The 
accounting rules that the County Council has to work to means that this funding 
cannot be used for general day-to-day running costs such as fixing potholes. 

 

 

 

309



310

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equalities Impact Assessment 

 
 
 

Second Local Transport Plan  
Schemes Below £500,000  

 
 
 
 

Department of Highways, Transportation  
& Waste Management 

 

 
 

March 2009 

311



 

Equality Impact Assessment: Services 
 

 
 

Defining the service 

 
1. What are the aims, objectives or purpose of the service?   Are these reflected in the 

relevant service plan? 
 

 
LTP2 Improvement Schemes are identified and undertaken in pursuit of the objectives as 
described in the Leicestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP2) 2006-2011. These objectives also 
form the Department’s Business Plan Priorities for Highways and Transportation which are: 
 

1. Reducing road casualties 

2. Tackling congestion and improving air quality 

3. Reducing the Impact of Traffic 

4. Improving the condition of our roads, pavements, bridges and street lights 

5. Improving access to facilities (work, health, shopping and education) 

6. Develop and deliver our long term transport plan 

 

 
2. What outcomes does the service want to achieve and for whom?  How have these 

been determined?  Please also list any relevant performance indicators. 
 

 
The outcomes of this service are set out in the objectives above and the corresponding targets 
within LTP2. This service is provided for all sections of the community and so is not 
discriminatory in this respect; however, race, disability, gender and age are considered as the 
areas of potential impact. This assessment relies on the Equality Impact Statement published at 
Appendix D of LTP2 amplified to relate to the specific service under assessment. 
 

 
Title of service being assessed: 
 

LTP2 Improvement Schemes less than £0.5m 

Department and Section: 
Highways, Transportation and Waste 
Management – Transport Schemes  
Development 

Names and roles of office completing 
this assessment. 

Group Manager 
Team Manager 
Team Manager 

Contact Telephone Numbers: 
0116 305 7220 
0116 305 7215 
0116 305 6186 

Date assessment completed: March 2009 

312



 
3. Who is responsible for delivering the service?  Are any other organisations involved?  

If other organisations are involved are they fully compliant with the Council’s Equality 
Policy? 

 

 
Acting as the local highway authority, the Highways, Transportation and Waste Management 
Department of Leicestershire County Council is responsible for delivering this service. 

 

 
4.  Consider the answers given in questions 1, 2 and 3 and assess whether your 

service results, or could result in adverse impact on or discrimination against 
different groups of people. If you consider that there is adverse impact or 
discrimination, or the potential for either, please outline below and state whether is 
it justifiable or legitimate and give your reasons for this.   
 

 
Potential improvement schemes are identified from a range of sources, including but not 
restricted to, road casualty records, surveyed traffic patterns and network performance, travel 
plans, and direct requests. Following assessment against prescribed programme development 
criteria, schemes are put forward for inclusion into future investment programmes. 
Each scheme is designed to national standards and safety audits are undertaken on the final 
design. Consultation is carried out in accordance with our Quality Assurance procedures on all 
schemes in the capital programme. Those included are the emergency services, county 
councillors, district councils, parish councils, local residents and businesses, cycle and disabled 
groups; including any known groups within the area. 
 
The requirements of people with disabilities are taken into account within design standards. A 
broad range of agencies have been consulted on schemes and feedback does not indicate any 
significant failings or omissions. The intended preparation of a Consultation Protocol will provide 
a consistent and explicit statement of our procedures and the opportunity for further challenge 
and refinement. 
 
Publicity material is offered in alternative formats and languages. Responses received from 
consultation are reported to the Director and Lead Member for Highways and Transportation 
and considered before a decision is taken on how to proceed with the scheme. 
 
Leicestershire County Council subscribes to the Highway Design and Highway Works 
Benchmarking Clubs. User surveys are currently undertaken to a format established by the 
clubs for comparative purposes to measure satisfaction with scheme design and construction. 
This does not however adduce data about respondent classifications to monitor response levels 
of different social groups. 
 
We are developing a Consultation Protocol to define the scope, procedures and application of 
our consultation process. During this process, we will review our monitoring arrangements for 
the collection and analysis of data on respondents’ profiles to identify and address under- 
representation of user groups in the equality areas under assessment. 
 

 
5. (a)  If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal you are 

required to take action to remedy this immediately.   
 

313



    (b)   If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or 
legitimate, you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its 
effect on those groups of people.   

 

 
LTP2 Improvement schemes potentially impact on several groups; race, disability, gender and 
age. Their needs are considered as part of the consultation process and where appropriate 
embedded within the standards used to assess and design schemes. Consequently this service 
should actually assist these groups. 
 
The preparation of a Consultation Protocol will provide a consistent and explicit statement of our 
consultations procedure and the opportunity for further challenge and refinement of this part of 
the service. 
 

Identifying and Removing Barriers to Equal Access 

 
6. (a) Identify the ways people can find out about and use the services you provide.  

Consider any processes they need to go through or criteria that we apply to 
determine eligibility for receiving the service.  List your answers in box (a) 
below. 

 
(b) Review those processes and criteria and consider whether any of them are 

essential (i.e. are they a legal requirement?) and mark accordingly in box (b).   
You are aiming to maintain only those processes or criteria that are critical to 
delivering the service. 

 
(c) Review those processes and criterion that you have decided are critical against 

the access needs that various equality groups of people have.   Are there any 
groups of people who would not be able to find out about or use the service?  
What are the barriers that are preventing them?  List your answers in box (c) 

 

(a) 
List Process and Criteria 
 
 
No unmet needs have been indentified, so 
no specific actions are necessary at this 
time. 
 

(b) 
Essential? 
Yes/No 

 
N/A 

(c) 
Barriers identified and groups 
affected 
 
N/A 

 
6. (d)Based on your answers for (a),(b) and (c) consider what barriers you can remove, 

what reasonable adjustment  may be necessary to ensure the service is 
accessible (this could include providing the service elsewhere).  Consider what 
actions you will need to take to address any unmet needs that you have identified. 
For disabled people, as defined under the Disability Discrimination Act, this could 
mean treating them more favourably to ensure that there is equality of outcome. 

 

 
N/A. 
 

314



Ensuring Continuous Equality Improvement 

 
7.  The Council is committed to mainstreaming equality, ensuring that it is integrated 

into our performance management frameworks and subject to continuous 
improvement through performance monitoring.  Essentially, if you are not 
monitoring, you do not know what impact your service is having or whether you are 
meeting people’s needs.  The table below shows examples of several types and 
sources of performance information that we collect as a council, some is collected 
corporately and some will be collected within individual services.  Review what data 
you have and consider the following questions: 
 
(a) What does analysis of the data tell you about how well your service is meeting 

the needs of the various equality groups? Are there any unmet needs or 
concerns that need to be addressed? How up to date is the information?   

 
(b) Which groups of people are you hearing from?  Are there groups of people that 

you are not hearing from?  What can you do to ensure that people are able to 
provide feedback on the service?   Is there information on service user needs 
held by other services that would be appropriate for your services? Note your 
answers to these questions in the 3rd and 4th column below.   

 
 

Data Type Source(s) 
Analysis of the data 
and/or gaps in 
information 

 
When last gathered 
 

Compliments, 
complaints and 
comments 

Complaints System 
Correspondence 
Members’ Enquiries 

Monitored 
Departmentally 

N/A 

Satisfaction Rates 
(Corporate exercise) 

BVPI survey/New 
Place Survey/ 
Residents Survey 

Monitored Corporately N/A 

Demographic Data 

Census, population, 
deprivation and other 
social statistics – 
Research Team 

Monitored Corporately N/A 

Benchmarking 
With other 
Counties/other 
authorities/partners 

Monitored 
Departmentally 

Ongoing 

Results of any local 
Consultation and/or 
satisfaction surveys 
 

Locally held 

Feedback does not 
indicate any 
significant failings or 
omissions 

Ongoing 

Team discussions 
around service 
provision 
 

Locally held 

Feedback does not 
indicate any 
significant failings or 
omissions 

Ongoing 

315



OPPORTUNITIES FOR SOCIAL COHESION OR PROMOTING GOOD RELATIONS 
BETWEEN DIFFERENT GROUPS OF PEOPLE 

 
8.  Social cohesion is a priority for Councils.  Progress made towards building more 

cohesive, empowered and active communities is now being measured through 
national Performance Indicators.  Essentially social cohesion is about promoting a 
sense of connection, trust and belonging both within and across communities and 
groups. Review all the actions and targets that you have identified as a result of this 
equality impact assessment to what social cohesion issues could arise, for 
example: these should include: 

 
(a) Are there ways in which your service could bring different groups of people 

together, for example to develop future provision? 
(b) Are there ways in which existing groups could interact with the service, for 

example, as part of ongoing monitoring of service provision? 
(c) Could the way you provide the service bring different groups of people 

together to use the service? 
(d) Does the way in which your service is provided have the potential to lead to 

resentment between different groups of people?  How can you compensate for 
perceptions of preferential or differential treatment? 

(e) If the improvement plan identifies addressing a gap in the service for a 
particular group of people, has this also addressed the potential for 
perceptions of preferential treatment for the group?  (For example, if you give 
priority treatment to disabled people, how will you manage the negative 
attitudes that non-disabled people may develop as a result.) 

(f) How can your service explicitly demonstrate the council’s commitment to 
promote equality across race, gender, disability, age, religion/belief and the 
LGBT communities? 

  

 
No unmet needs have been indentified, so no specific actions are necessary at this time. 
 
The service promotes social cohesion by undertaking the following: 
 

• Publicity and information is offered and available in alternative formats and languages, 
statements to this effect are included on any literature or correspondence. Ensure that 
requests are recorded so that this can be monitored. Additionally, publicity and 
information to be clear, concise and in simple language. 

• Employees receive LCC training in Equality and Diversity. 

• Venues for exhibitions are located with appropriate accessibility considerations. 

• Staff are trained to use Language Line. 
 

316



9. EQUALITY IMPROVEMENT PLAN  
 

Equality Objective Action Target Officer responsible By when 

To take into account all user 
groups comments/feedback to 
ensure customer satisfaction 
when delivering and designing 
LTP2 improvement schemes. 

Produce a Consultation Protocol. Protocol to review arrangements for 
monitoring customer satisfaction and 
response rates from the various groups on 
this service; both consultation procedures 
and delivered schemes. 

Martin O’Connor October 2009 

Use the Quality Assurance 
system to ensure Highway 
Design Standards are followed 
each year on schemes designed 
by TSD. 

Undertake design reviews in accordance 
with system to ensure Highway Design 
Standards are being applied. Record to be 
kept on scheme project files confirming that 
the design has been reviewed in 
accordance with current standards; any 
departures to be recorded. 

All TSD schemes to have design reviews 
before approval of final design. 

Ian Vears Compliance to 
be checked in 
March of each 
year.  

Promote social inclusion. Publicity and information is offered and 
available in alternative formats and 
languages. Copies to be retained on 
scheme project files. Requests to be 
recorded and monitored via quarterly 
reporting. Information to be provided to 
meet needs as requested. 

Statements to this effect are included on 
all consultation literature. 
 
Any request for information in alternative 
formats to be reported to Group Manager 
on a quarterly basis. 

Mike Hay Compliance to 
be checked in 
March of each 
year. 
 

All employees to receive LCC training in 
Equality and Diversity. 

All employees to receive training. Mike Hay March 2010 

All venues for exhibitions to be reviewed 
before use and temporarily adapted where 
necessary to meet DDA requirements. 
 

All exhibition venues to be DDA compliant. 
 
Any issues in relation to access difficulties 
to exhibition venues to be reported to 
Group Manager on a quarterly basis. 

Mike Hay Compliance to 
be checked in 
March of each 
year. 

Raise staff awareness in relation to access 
to Language Line. 

Use/access to Language Line to be 
discussed at a team meeting. 

Mike Hay June 2009 

 

1st Authorised signature (EIA Lead)    Group Mgr   Date:   27th March 2009 

 
 

2nd Authorised signature (Member of DMT)   Asst Director  Date:   31st March 2009 

3
1
7



318

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

CABINET– 15th JULY 2014 
 

ZOUCH BRIDGE REPLACEMENT - COMPULSORY PURCHASE 
ORDER FOR LAND REQUIRED FOR REPLACEMENT BRIDGE 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

 

PART A 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval for pursuing a Compulsory 

Purchase Order (CPO) for land required for the scheme in parallel with the 
current land negotiations to enable the replacement of Zouch Bridge over the 
River Soar between Hathern Parish and Normanton upon Soar Parish.  The 
CPO would only be completed in the event of failure of the land negotiations. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that 

 
(a) A Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) be made for the land required for 

the replacement Zouch bridge and that the Order should be made 
principally pursuant to Sections 239 and 241 of the Highways Act 1980; 
 

(b) In the event of negotiations with the landowners proving unsuccessful, 
approval be given to proceeding with a CPO to acquire the land needed 
for the construction of the replacement bridge; 

 
(c) The Director of Corporate Resources, in consultation with the County 

Solicitor, be authorised to determine the detailed terms of the CPO and 
agree any necessary compensation and/or accommodation works that are 
in his opinion necessary to implement the scheme; 

 
(d) Authority is delegated to the County Solicitor, in consultation with the 

Cabinet Lead Member for Highways and Transportation, to take any other 
action in his opinion necessary to progress the Order. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
3. The existing bridge continues to deteriorate and, in the medium term, is likely to 

require a weight restriction and, ultimately, closure. This could have an impact 
on the effectiveness of the County Council’s road network, increase journey 
times / costs and affect the delivery of its strategic transport objectives in this 
area. The CPO, if required, will help enable the scheme to progress as planned. 

Agenda Item 14319



 

 
4. The preferred location for the replacement bridge is a location slightly to the 

south of the existing bridge, as this removes the need for the substantial traffic 
diversions, which would be necessary if the replacement bridge were to be 
constructed on the same line as the current structure.  

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. An early decision is required to allow sufficient time for the Order to be 

developed and published in accordance with the scheme programme.  
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. The County Council at its meeting in February 2014 approved the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS), which included  capital funding for the 
reconstruction of the Zouch Bridge. 

 
7. The Director of Corporate Resources has been in negotiations with the 

landowners to acquire any necessary interests in land needed to construct, or 
for purposes ancillary or incidental to the provision of the replacement bridge. 
 

8. The Director of Corporate Resources has delegated powers to to take all 
necessary steps to complete the purchase of land following the making of a 
CPO. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
9. The estimated total cost of the scheme is £3.0M including land at out-turn 

prices. The scheme development and construction costs are funded as part of 
the Capital Programme. 

 
10. Negotiations to purchase the required land are currently taking place with the 

landowners.  Further resources will be necessary to progress the CPO process. 

11. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the contents of this 
report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
Mrs M. E. Newton CC 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Karen Notman     Tel: (0116) 305 2304    Email: karen.notman@leics.gov.uk 
Environment and Transport Department 
 
Chris Waterfield   Tel: (0116) 305 7167    Email: chris.waterfield@leics.gov.uk 
Environment and Transport Department 
 

320



 

PART B 
 
Background 
 
12. At its meeting on 19th February 2014, the County Council approved the Medium 

Term Financial Strategy 2014/5 to 2017/18 (MTFS), which included provision 
for the replacement of Zouch Bridge, which carries the A6006 over the River 
Soar between Hathern Parish and Normanton upon Soar Parish.  

 
13. The new bridge will require additional land to be purchased to facilitate its 

construction.  The Director of Corporate Resources has previously been 
authorised to enter into negotiations with the land owner to acquire any 
necessary interests in land needed to construct, or for purposes ancillary or 
incidental to the provision of the replacement bridge. 
 

14. The Local Transport Plan (LTP3), which was approved by the County Council in 
March 2011, sets out its approach to managing the network, including providing 
improved journey time reliability for the movement of materials, goods and 
people and promoting and supporting the efficient and safe movement of 
freight. 

 
Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
15. The scheme will ensure accessibility for vulnerable users and those with 

disabilities. 
 
Environmental Impact 
 
16. The completed scheme will eliminate the need for the substantial diversion 

route which would be necessary in the event of any future weight 
restriction/closure of the bridge and will therefore contribute to the continued 
management of the network and will maintain journey times which would 
otherwise be impacted by the traffic diversion.  
 

Background Papers 
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2014/15 to 2017/18  
http://cexmodgov1/Published/C00000134/M00003961/AI00037151/$5aBudgetReportoftheCabinet.docx.pdf 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

321



322

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 18323
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



328

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 June 2014
	4 Report of the Scrutiny Review Panel on the Referral Pathway for Older People with Anxiety or Depression.
	4 appx Scrutiny Review Panel Anxiety Depression Older People Final Report
	4 annex Scrutiny Review Panel Final Report appx

	5 Mainstream Home to School Transport Policy.
	5 Appendix A - EHRIA Home to School Transport April 2014
	5 Appendix B - Consultation Results Home to School Transport
	5 Appendix C - Responses and concerns received by letter or email
	5 Appendix D - Summary of concerns submitted online, via email or letter
	5 Appendix E - Consultation Proposals Home to School Transport

	6 Better Care Together - Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Five Year Health and Social Care Strategic Plan 2014 - 2019.
	7 LLR 5 Yr H&SC Economy Strategy Appx

	7 Development of a Section 75 Pooled Budget Agreement with NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland and NHS West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups for the Better Care Fund.
	8 Developing Extra Care Housing in Leicestershire.
	9 Developing Extra Care in Leics appx

	9 Broadband - Superfast Extension Programme.
	10 Provision and Refocusing of Grants to Community Groups - Shire Participatory Community Grants Scheme.
	11 SHIRE Participatory Community Grants appx a
	11 SHIRE Particpatory Community Grants appx b

	11 The Carbon Reduction Strategy for Leicestershire 2014 - 2020 and Implementation Plan 2014 - 2017.
	12 Carbon Reduction - Appendix 1 - Leicestershire County Council Carbon Reduction Strategy 2013 - 2020
	12 Carbon Reduction - Appendix 2 - Leicestershire County Council Carbon Reduction Strategy Implementation Plan
	12 Carbon Reduction - Appendix 3 - Minutes from E&T

	12 Property Energy Strategy.
	13 Appendix - Property Energy Strategy - Master Report

	13 Coalville, Cropston Drive and Abbotts Oak Drive Proposed Walking and Cycling Improvement Scheme.
	14 Appendix - Key to plan
	14 Appendix A - Network Plan
	14 Appendix B - Key to maps
	14 Appendix B1 - 4209.000.Z1.1.1
	14 Appendix B2 - 4210.000.Z1.1.1
	14 Appendix B3 - 4210.000.Z1.1.2
	14 Appendix B4 - 4210.000.Z1.1.3
	14 Appendix B5 - 4210.000.Z1.1.4
	14 Appendix B6 - 4211.000-Z1-1-1
	14 Appendix C - Whole route plan
	14 Appendix D
	14 Appendix E
	14 Appendix F

	14 Zouch Bridge Replacement - Compulsory Purchase Order for Land Required for Replacement Bridge.
	18 King Edward VII Sports and Leisure Centre, Melton Mowbray.

